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The members of the Delhi Charter Township Committee of the Whole met on Tuesday, May 7, 
2013, in the Multipurpose Room at the Community Services Center, 2074 Aurelius Road, Holt, 
MI.  Supervisor Davis called the meeting to order at 6:31 p.m.  
 
Members Present:  Supervisor C.J. Davis, Clerk Evan Hope, Treasurer Roy Sweet, Trustees 

Jon Harmon, John Hayhoe, Megan Ketchum, DiAnne Warfield 
 

Members Absent: None 
 

Others Present: John Elsinga, Township Manager 
Sandra Diorka, Director of Public Services 
Tracy Miller, Director of Community Development 
Wendy Thielen, Assistant Township Manager of Human Resources 
Tricia Vander Ploeg, Administrative Assistant/Deputy Supervisor 
Amy Finch, Assistant Township Clerk/Deputy Clerk 

   
 

 
BUSINESS 

REVIEW AND DISCUSSION ON PLANNING COMMISSION’S RECOMMENDATION 
REGARDING URBAN CHICKENS 
 
The Board reviewed a memorandum from Tracy Miller, Director of Community Development, to 
the members of the Planning Commission dated March 19, 2013 (ATTACHMENT I). 
 
Tracy Miller, Director of Community Development, gave an overview on the recommendations 
of the Planning Commission regarding urban chickens.  
 
During her presentation, Ms. Miller commented on subdivision association regulations. Trustee 
Harmon requested further explanation on this topic. Ms. Miller stated that the Township does 
not enforce subdivision regulations and unfavorable situations can be created when the 
Township issues a permit for an unpermitted item listed in a subdivision’s regulations.  
 
Supervisor Davis asked what other municipalities have passed ordinances restricting urban 
chickens. Ms. Miller listed municipalities that did and did not restrict urban chickens. Ms. Miller 
stated that it varies across the State, which is not dissimilar from many land use regulations. 
 
The construction of chicken coops was discussed. Ms. Miller stated that the draft ordinance 
amendment, which was never acted upon, included some provisions regarding materials to be 
used in the building of the coops. The materials would need to be residential construction 
materials and the coop was to be aesthetically compatible with the neighborhood.  
 
Trustee Harmon asked how many chickens were being considered per residence. Ms. Miller 
stated that the draft ordinance included the keeping of four hens, but no roosters. 
 
Clerk Hope stated that he has a hard time saying the Township cannot find a way to make 
urban chickens work when it has worked in many municipalities, even cities. Hope further stated 
that there seems to be inconsistencies when we allow four dogs and four cats, and have no 
rules at all about cats roaming free, and then say no to a few chickens. 
 
Trustee Ketchum stated that a concern of hers is with the maintenance and upkeep needed with 
the keeping of poultry.  
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Supervisor Davis stated that one of the issues he has with this topic is the consideration of 
additional manpower and costs encountered for enforcement of an urban chicken ordinance.  
 
Cindy Carter, 2697 College Road, Holt, spoke in favor of allowing urban chickens. 
 
Michael Huberts, 2112 Aspenwood Drive, Holt, spoke in favor of allowing urban chickens. Mr. 
Huberts suggested that because the current Township ordinance does not expressly state that 
chickens are prohibited in residential areas, in his view the Township cannot prohibit chickens. 
Ms. Miller stated that she would refer this point to the Township Attorney. 
 
Stuart Goodrich, 2096 N. Cedar Street, Holt, spoke in opposition of allowing urban chickens. 
 
 
DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SERVICES –APRIL ACTIVITY REPORT 
 
The Board reviewed the Department of Public Services April Activity Report (ATTACHMENT II).  
 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT
 

 – State Representative Tom Cochran, introduced himself to the Board. 

 

 
ADJOURNMENT 

Meeting adjourned at 7:29 p.m. 
 
 
Date:        __________________________ 
  Evan Hope, Township Clerk 
 
 
Date:       __________________________ 
  C.J. Davis, Supervisor 
/af 



Delhi Charter Township  
Department of Community Development 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 
TO:  Planning Commission Members 
 
FROM:  Tracy L.C. Miller, Director of Community Development 
 
DATE:  March 19, 2013 
 
RE: Urban Chickens – Consensus & Planning Commission Recommendation 
 
At your last meeting on March 11, 2013, the Planning Commission (PC) discussed the Board’s 
request regarding Urban Chickens.  Specifically, the Board desires a recommendation regarding 
whether or not backyard chickens are a desirable and reasonable land use within the higher 
density residential areas of the Township.  As you are aware, residents are currently permitted 
to keep chickens and other agricultural animals within the A-1: Agricultural and R1-A: Rural 
Residential zoning districts.  In the A-1 zoning district, chickens and other small animals (rabbits, 
goats) may be kept regardless of lot size and livestock (cattle, hogs, horses & similar) on parcels 
that are 10 acres or larger.  Generally, within the R1-A district, chickens and other customary 
farm animals may be kept for non-commercial purposes on properties that are not less than 
40,000 sq.ft. (just less than 1 acre).  Urban chickens and other livestock may not be kept in any 
other zoning district. 
 
Over the past couple of years, the PC has spent a considerable amount of time researching the 
issue of Urban Chickens and even developed a draft ordinance amendment.  However, no 
action has been previously taken on this issue because of a general sense that there was not 
support based on feedback received from the public, the Board and PC members.  The purpose 
of the discussion at the March 11th meeting was to determine how the PC would like to move 
forward in terms of the requested recommendation to the Board.  The PC reached consensus 
and suggested that I attempt to memorialize it via the preparation of this memo and provide a 
draft motion that could be used to communicate this consensus to the Board pursuant to their 
original request.  Below is a summarization of what I understood the PC’s position to be relative 
to Urban Chickens, and urban agricultural in general, within the residentially zoned areas of the 
Township: 
 

• The existing Zoning Ordinance (ZO) addresses how and where chickens, and other farm 
animals, may be kept within the Township.  Generally, there is opportunity to keep 
chickens and some other farm animals within the A-1: Agricultural and R1-A: Rural 
Residential districts. 
   

• The PC feels that the number of people who actually want to keep Urban Chickens is 
fairly low, especially in comparison with the number of people who would not be 
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supportive.  Many written and verbal comments in opposition of urban chickens have 
been received.  Further, code enforcement records for the past five years uncovered 
only 8 cases related to keeping chickens in residential areas, representing an average of 
about 1.6 cases per year. There have also been two cases involving a horse and snakes 
during that time period. Typically, code enforcement cases (like Zoning Board of Appeals 
cases) are a good indicator of whether consideration should be given towards 
addressing an issue via ZO amendment.   
 

• Permitting Urban Chickens is a “slippery slope” that would likely lead to other farm 
animals.  Already, written support was received from a constituent in support of 
permitting goats to be kept in residential areas.  There are concerns about where lines 
can be appropriately drawn to accommodate and protect the interests of all citizens.  
Currently, those wanting to keep farm animals can choose to live in the A-1 or R1-A 
zoning district, while those choosing to live in the residentially zoned areas have made a 
choice not to engage in agriculture. 
 

• Most newer subdivisions have association regulations which prohibit keeping farm 
animals.  The Township is not responsible for enforcing any subdivision rules or 
restrictions. However, disruptions and altercations could occur if the Township were to 
permit keeping chickens in a neighborhood whose restrictions prohibit it.  It is in the 
Township’s best interest to prevent the deterioration of subdivisions restrictions since in 
general they further the goals of the Township’s land use plans and ZO. 
 

• There are many potential problems associated with permitting chickens in residential 
areas, which makes it undesirable to pursue a ZO amendment to permit Urban Chickens.  
Examples may include: 
 

 Odors 
 Noise 
 Potential for disease or the spread of other pathogens. 
 Potential for attracting rats, mice and other vermin. 
 Potentially bothersome to domestic animals lawfully kept nearby. 
 Chicken coops and enclosures may detract from aesthetics of community 

or neighborhood. 
 
I would encourage the PC to discuss this memorandum at the upcoming meeting to ensure that 
the true consensus of the group is accurately communicated.  As requested, below is a motion 
that could be used to provide the PC’s recommendation to the Township Board.  Please modify 
the motion, as appropriate, to capture the PC’s intent.   
 

Move to recommend to the Township Board that no action be taken at this 
time to enact Zoning Ordinance amendments which would permit the keeping 
of chickens or other agricultural animals within the residential zoning districts 
where it is currently prohibited.  The Planning Commission believes that the 
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Zoning Ordinance, as currently written, provides appropriate regulation of 
chickens and farm animals.  Permitting chickens or other farm animals within 
the other residential zoning districts would be potentially detrimental to those 
neighborhoods.  Permitting “urban chickens” or other farm animals in 
residential areas may represent a health risk, detract from the aesthetics, 
cause incompatible land use, result in offensive odors or noises and the 
increased presence of rats or other vermin.  
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DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SERVICES 

Monthly Report 
April 2013 

 
 
 
Effluent Flow Data – (Average MGD) 
 

 
 
Laboratory Testing and Quality Control – Quality Assurance Program 
 

Tests Run For   % Passing 

Permit Compliance 234   
Process Control 1883   

Quality Control 101 96% 

Check Samples 4 100% 
DMRQA-Study 30 

Proficiency 6 100% 

Miscellaneous Sampling 64   

Totals 2292 99% 

 
 
 
  

Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec 
2009 2.47 2.92 3.24 3.83 3.14 2.88 2.26 2.17 2.02 2.10 2.10 2.30 
2010 2.28 2.10 2.53 2.59 2.68 2.46 1.88 1.81 1.77 1.79 1.86 2.02 
2011 1.93 2.01 2.69 3.02 3.13 2.16 2.29 2.19 1.89 2.12 2.06 2.71 
2012 2.56 2.50 2.76 2.36 2.31 1.89 1.72 1.75 1.77 1.86 1.87 1.91 
2013 2.12 2.17 2.31 3.31                 
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Maintenance 

 
WORK ORDERS 

 

 
Note:   Work order totals do not include monthly, weekly and daily preventive maintenance 

   tasks.  
 

• Assisted with an emergency repair on the Eifert Road force main 
• Exercised isolation and by-pass valves at all lift stations 
• Maintenance and repair was performed on all DPS trailers 
• Repaired and replaced all non-functional lighting at CSC 
• Hung new spring banners in the DDA district 
• Picked up and disposed of trash along Cedar Street and Holloway Drive   
• Cleaned streets in the DDA district and township property parking lots with the sweeper 

truck 
• Cleaned and repaired the nitrification tower distribution arm 
• Weed whipped, to drop seeds for new growth, the southeast corner of Holt/Waverly 

Roads and cut all wild flowers down at the POTW 
• Annual fire inspection was performed by Boynton Fire & Safety for the Senior Center 

kitchen 
• Re-attached northwest secondary clarifier fiberglass baffle 
• Removed heat tape and insulation from grit pump back-flush piping  
• Hauled chips from drying bed to pond area and to the parks department 
• Repaired lights in library over DVD section and in CSC lobby area 
• Replaced broken air bleeder valve on heater in the old chlorine room at the POTW 
• Repaired leak on Thermo 1 Penn Valley sludge pump at the digester building 
• Rebuilt raw sludge pump #2 in at the POTW 
• Replaced broken cable on south fume hood door counterweight in the lab building 
• Rebuilt the thermo gas compressor at POTW 
• Installed a new suction liner in pump #1 at Lift Station D 
• Performed site clean-up at all lift stations from winter plowing 

 
  

Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec 
2008 45 34 69 51 29 80 41 42 64 40 55 66 
2009 35 47 63 94 39 74 58 56 55 49 91 41 
2010 48 43 70 67 20 27 20 29 8 34 60 28 
2011 55 30 43 59 24 34 7 65 45 25 22 35 
2012 46 59 45 33 42 14 20 17 39 12 21 23 
2013 15 17 53 83                 
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Training 
 

Date 

# of 
Employees 
Attended Training Course Description 

4/18/2013 2 DHill Exam Preparation Class B & A 

4/24/2013 2 GLACC Compressed Natural Gas Workshop 
 
 
Miss Digs Performed 
 

 
Unscheduled Service Calls 

 
COMPLAINTS/ CALL OUTS  

 

 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec 
2008 40 33 66 108 199 169 174 149 212 230 130 90 
2009 36 25 109 170 175 175 144 136 165 101 78 49 
2010 20 29 83 161 173 195 133 266 230 239 103 52 
2011 25 37 51 89 200 156 139 194 122 112 96 56 
2012 43 30 117 145 215 42 147 131 228 137 97 119 
2013 97 82 169 207                 

0 
25 
50 
75 

100 
125 
150 
175 
200 
225 
250 
275 
300 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec 
2008 21 14 14 18 12 25 31 39 39 10 14 12 
2009 2 1 4 4 6 6 3 11 4 3 4 3 
2010 3 11 8 6 15 19 10 7 6 22 5 13 
2011 10 10 16 25 19 8 9 17 9 13 10 16 
2012 7 7 11 13 15 3 14 16 8 12 12 18 
2013 14 9 5 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
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Sanitary Sewer Permits Issued 
 
 
 

 
 
Sanitary/Storm Sewer Inspections Performed 
 

Sanitary Sewer Inspections 

 
 
 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec 
2008 3 0 8 1 10 5 7 2 9 9 5 1 
2009 1 3 4 1 11 4 2 11 28 5 8 5 
2010 4 1 10 5 6 4 6 11 2 7 4 3 
2011 4 1 3 7 4 6 4 10 5 6 4 1 
2012 5 6 1 0 3 0 4 7 10 4 4 9 
2013 4 4 7 5                 
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Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec 
2008 3 2 8 0 10 4 4 2 11 5 6 1 
2009 1 3 5 1 10 3 1 8 29 7 8 2 
2010 4 1 10 5 6 4 6 11 2 7 4 3 
2011 4 1 3 7 4 6 4 10 5 6 4 1 
2012 5 12 1 2 3 0 4 4 8 4 4 10 
2013 5 4 6 4                 
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Feet of Sanitary Sewer Cleaned (Vactor Truck Work) 

 
 
  

Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec 
2008 0 0 0 1 7 2 1 2 3 1 1 1 
2009 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 5 3 0 2 1 
2010 1 0 4 4 2 0 3 0 0 1 1 5 
2011 2 0 1 6 3 2 0 3 0 0 0 0 
2012 0 2 0 1 3 0 2 1 1 2 0 0 
2013 0 0 2 2                 
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8 Storm Sewer Inspections  

Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec 
2008 7,912 946 0 0 0 42,008 32,285 26,824 45,625 36,429 3,958 4,727 
2009 2,244 5,540 0 10,796 11,562 70,169 40,077 36,584 8,382 22,346 0 0 
2010 0 2,436 3,637 3,652 7,858 48,657 3,005 35,161 30,515 0 2,000 1,541 
2011 2,090 0 396 49,130 35,097 24,378 9,447 12,777 10,351 2,782 7,682 0 
2012 0 2,853 9,153 13,066 48,645 26,112 3,353 8,514 2,663 0 0 0 
2013 0 145 0 10,972                 
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Feet of Sanitary Sewer Televised (Camera Truck Work) 
 

 
Cemetery 

BURIALS  
 

 
 

• Eleven foundations were installed at Maple Ridge cemetery. 
• Cemeteries have been cleaned and the lawns have been rolled 

   

Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec 
2008 9,969 2,777 11,179 9,260 9,258 23,455 25,608 18,884 19,996 15,909 2,736 7,221 
2009 19,026 14,727 18,510 21,666 11,707 31,320 26,089 19,007 6,260 19,432 14,061 8,886 
2010 18,173 7,894 17,965 3,521 9,409 12,661 11,476 12,015 6,227 12,989 19,390 1,323 
2011 15,062 11,334 36,641 15,095 20,122 10,999 15,626 4,191 10,234 7,314 2,659 6,191 
2012 12,713 20,702 18,034 6,672 17,921 17,365 10,921 19,888 2,819 13,040 2,245 17,553 
2013 5,144 4,702 19,189 10,247                 
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Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec 
2008 10 2 3 3 3 2 2 5 8 1 5 1 
2009 0 4 1 8 4 5 9 3 4 10 2 7 
2010 3 3 4 2 5 7 3 1 3 2 6 1 
2011 4 3 6 6 6 2 3 8 7 2 7 5 
2012 3 4 3 3 2 1 3 4 10 5 3 6 
2013 6 1 4 1                 
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Stormwater  
  

Staff met with Carla Clos from the Ingham County Drain Commissioner’s Office on April 
1, regarding the Green Drain #4 and the storm water flooding on Fay Ave.  Possible remedies to 
storm water issues were discussed. 
  
Community Outreach  
  
 Consumers Energy/Wrights Tree Removal contacted the POTW to request a location to 
dispose of wood chips from the tree removal they are conducting along the power lines.  Wood 
chips from this project were made available, free of charge, at the Delhi Recycle Center on a 
first come first serve basis.      
 On April 13, staff participated in the Ingham County Health Department’s Recycle Rama.  
 The community gardens have been tilled; and water totes set up for this year’s 
gardening season at both locations.   
 The spring brush drop off took place on April 18, 19 and 20.  DPS took in 116 loads of 
brush and 142 bags of yard waste. 

On April 23, the 5th Annual Gardening seminar was hosted at Holt Jr. High.  The seminar 
is conducted by Gary Heilig, Horticulture Educator for the MSU-Ingham County Extension office.  
The annual seminar is one component of the Delhi Storm Water Public Education Program. 
  Lansing Community College Environmental class toured the POTW on April 22. 
 MWEA hosted their Process Committee Meeting at the POTW on April 24, and a tour 
was conducted after the meeting. 
 On April 24, Sandra Diorka was nominated for the 2013 Tri-County Environmental 
Leadership Award.  Delhi received second place for their environmental efforts. 
 On April 26, a home school group, of approximately 30 adults and children, toured the 
POTW.   
 An Earth Month presentation was given on April 29 to the Holt Cub Scouts at Elliot 
Elementary School.  Township environmental efforts were highlighted. 

On April 17, Gill was at the Holt High School for the fine arts festival; on April 26, Gill 
was taken to Burchard Park in Old Town for the March of Dimes event; and on April 29, Gill was 
taken to Elliott Elementary School in honor of Earth Day.   
 
 
Industrial Pretreatment Program 
 

April IPP Activities Date   
Site Plan Review     
  4/17/13 3400 Belle Chase Way, Two Men and a Truck 
Review/Approval 

building plan approval 3/26/2013 3490 Belle Chase Way, Keller Williams 
building plan review 4/5/2013 3818 Holt Road, Highway Permits Co 

building plan approval 
4/8 & 

12/2013 3937 Patient Care Drive, Suite 4 
building plan approval 4/22/2013 4039 Legacy Parkway, Cady Financial 
building plan approval 4/24/2013 4039 Legacy Parkway, Capital Strategies LLC 
building plan approval 4/24/2013 4170 Charlar Drive, Weymouth Associates 
building plan approval 4/25/2013 6121 Aurelius Road, Modern Builders Supply 



Inspections - Grease Traps 
Compliant 04/26/13 7-11 1997 Aurelius                                          
Compliant 04/26/13 Biggby Coffee - 2006 Cedar                      

Non Compliant 04/26/13 Buddies Grill - 2040 Aurelius                                              
Compliant 04/26/13 Big Ten Holt - 2005 Eifert                                 
Compliant 04/26/13 Burger King - 2464 Cedar                                
Compliant 04/26/13 Burger King - 2520 E. Jolly                               
Compliant 04/26/13 Champions - 2440 N. Cedar                            
Compliant 04/26/13 Chisholm Hills - 2395 Washington                 
Compliant 04/26/13 Coach's - 6201 Bishop                                   
Compliant 04/26/13 Coffee Barrel - 2237 Aurelius                          
Compliant 04/26/13 Cottage Inn Pizza - 1995 Cedar                       
Compliant 04/26/13 Delhi Café - 4625 Willoughby                         
Compliant 04/26/13 Fat Boys Pizza - 2040 Aurelius                       

Non Compliant 04/26/13 Eagles - 1111 N. Cedar                                    
Compliant 04/26/13 Hometown Nutrition - 2380 N. Cedar Ste. 3 
Compliant 04/26/13 Incu-Bake 1967 Aurelius 
Compliant 04/26/13 IngCredible - 2454 S. Cedar                           
Compliant 04/26/13 Jade Garden - 1979 Aurelius                      
Compliant 04/26/13 Kroger - 2495 N. Cedar                                 
Compliant 04/26/13 Little Caesar's - 2221 N. Cedar                       
Compliant 04/26/13 McDonald's 2775 Eaton Rapids Rd.               
Compliant 04/26/13 McDonald's 2530 E. Jolly                                
Compliant 04/26/13 McDonald's 2400 N. Cedar                              
Compliant 04/26/13 Sam Corey Senior Center- 2108 N. Cedar        
Compliant 04/26/13 Subway - 2765 Eaton Rapids Rd.                   
Compliant 04/26/13 Tacos E Mas - 1850 Cedar                              
Compliant 04/26/13 Tim Horton's - 2450 E. Jolly                               
Compliant 04/26/13 Tim Horton's - 2350 Cedar                                 
Compliant 04/26/13 Wendy's - 2727 Eaton Rapids Rd.                       
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The Delhi Charter Township Board of Trustees met in a regular meeting on Tuesday, May 7, 
2013 in the Multipurpose Room at the Community Services Center, 2074 Aurelius Road, Holt, 
Michigan.  Supervisor Davis called the meeting to order at 7:35 p.m. 
 
 

 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
ROLL CALL 

Members Present: Supervisor C.J. Davis, Clerk Evan Hope, Treasurer Roy Sweet, Trustees 
Jon Harmon, John Hayhoe, Megan Ketchum, DiAnne Warfield 

 
Members Absent: None 
 
Others Present: John Elsinga, Township Manager 

Sandra Diorka, Director of Public Services 
Tracy Miller, Director of Community Development 
Wendy Thielen, Assistant Township Manager of Human Resources 
Tricia Vander Ploeg, Administrative Assistant/Deputy Supervisor 
Amy Finch, Assistant Township Clerk/Deputy Clerk 
 

 
COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC
   

 - None 

 

 
CONSENT AGENDA  

A. Approval of Minutes – Regular Meeting of April 16, 2013 
 
B. Approval of Minutes – Joint Township Board/School Board Meeting of April 16, 2013 

 
C. Approval of Claims – April 16, 2013 (ATTACHMENT I) 

 
D. Approval of Claims – April 30, 2013 (ATTACHMENT II) 

 
E. Approval of Payroll – April 25, 2013 (ATTACHMENT III) 

 
Sweet moved to approve the Consent Agenda as presented. 
 

A Roll Call Vote was recorded as follows: 
Ayes:  Sweet, Warfield, Davis, Harmon, Hayhoe, Hope, Ketchum 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
 

 
ZONING AND DEVELOPMENT 

SPECIAL USE PERMIT NO. 13-231A – TWO MEN AND A TRUCK – 3400 BELLE CHASE 
WAY – TAX PARCEL #33-25-05-02-200-043 AND 033 – CONSTRUCTION OF BUILDING IN 
EXCESS OF 50,000 SQUARE FEET 
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The Board reviewed a memorandum dated April 23, 2013 from Tracy Miller, Director of 
Community Development (ATTACHMENT IV). 
 

Hope moved to adopt Special Use Permit No. 13-231A for Two Men and A Truck, 
3400 Belle Chase Way, Tax Parcel #33-25-05-02-200-043 & 033, to permit the 
construction of buildings in excess of 50,000 sq. ft. pursuant to Section 5.10.4(6) of 
the Zoning Ordinance, as recommended by the Planning Commission at their April 
22, 2013 meeting. 

 
A Roll Call Vote was recorded as follows: 
Ayes:  Warfield, Davis, Harmon, Hayhoe, Hope, Ketchum, Sweet 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
 

 
NEW BUSINESS 

PROPOSED DELHI TOWNSHIP ORDINANCE NO. 124 – CONSUMER FIREWORKS, 
SECOND CONSIDERATION 
 
The Board reviewed a memorandum dated April 25, 2013 from Twp. Mgr. Elsinga 
(ATTACHMENT V). 
 

Sweet moved upon second consideration, to adopt Delhi Township Ordinance No. 
124 with regards to the regulation of consumer fireworks. 

 
Trustee Harmon spoke in regards to the difficulty in enforcing a fireworks ordinance. Discussion 
was held on how to educate the public on this ordinance. 
 
Sharon Rubingh, 2344 Gilbert Road, Lansing, spoke in opposition to this proposed ordinance. 
 
Mike Hamilton, 4541 Sycamore Street, Holt, spoke in favor of this proposed ordinance. 
 
This item will continue after the 7:45 p.m. public hearing. 
 
 

 
PUBLIC HEARING –7:45 P.M. 

RESOLUTION NO. 2013-009 – APPLICATION FOR INDUSTRIAL FACILITIES EXEMPTION 
CERTIFICATE – SCITEX, LLC 
 

Hope moved to open the public hearing on Resolution No. 2013-009 – Application 
for Industrial Facilities Exemption Certificate – Scitex, LLC. 
 

A Voice Poll was recorded as follows:  All Ayes 
MOTION CARRED 
 
Tracy Miller, Director of Community Development, reported on the application for Industrial 
Facilities Exemption Certificate for Scitex, LLC. 
 
There were no comments from the public. 
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Hope moved to close the public hearing. 
 
A Voice Poll was recorded as follows:  All Ayes 
MOTION CARRED 
 
Public Hearing Closed at 7:49 p.m. 
 
 

 
NEW BUSINESS cont’d 

PROPOSED DELHI TOWNSHIP ORDINANCE NO. 124 – CONSUMER FIREWORKS, 
SECOND CONSIDERATION cont’d 
 
A Roll Call Vote was recorded as follows: 
Ayes:  Hayhoe, Hope, Ketchum, Sweet, Warfield, Davis 
Nays:  Harmon 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
 
RESOLUTION NO. 2013-009 – APPLICATION FOR INDUSTRIAL FACILITIES TAX 
EXEMPTION CERTIFICATE – SCITEX, LLC 
 
The Board reviewed memorandums dated May 1, 2013 from Twp. Mgr. Elsinga and Tracy Miller, 
Director of Community Development (ATTACHMENT VI). 
 

Hope moved to adopt Resolution No. 2013-009 which approves the Application for 
Industrial Facilities Tax (IFT) Abatement Certificate for Scitex, LLC. 

 
A Roll Call Vote was recorded as follows: 
Ayes:  Davis, Harmon, Hayhoe, Hope, Ketchum, Sweet, Warfield 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
 
AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2012 
 
The Board reviewed a memorandum dated April 30, 2013 from Twp. Mgr. Elsinga 
(ATTACHMENT VII). 
 

Hope moved to accept Delhi Charter Township’s Audited Financial Statements for 
Fiscal Year ending December 31, 2012. 

 
Jeff Stevens of Maner Costerisan, gave an overview of the Audited Financial Statements for 
Fiscal Year ending December 31, 2012. 

 
A Roll Call Vote was recorded as follows: 
Ayes:  Ketchum, Sweet, Warfield, Davis, Harmon, Hayhoe, Hope 
MOTION CARRIED 
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PUBLICY OWNED TREATMENT WORKS (POTW) LABORATORY SUPPLY AND 
EQUIPMENT ORDER 
 
The Board reviewed memorandums dated May 1, 2013 from Twp. Mgr. Elsinga and Sandra 
Diorka, Director of Public Works (ATTACHMENT VIII). 
 

Hayhoe moved to approve the Publicly Owned Treatment Works (POTW) 
expenditure for laboratory supplies from Fisher Scientific Company in the amount 
of $27,087.80. 

 
A Roll Call Vote was recorded as follows: 
Ayes:  Hayhoe, Hope, Ketchum, Sweet, Warfield, Davis, Harmon 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
 

 
REPORTS 

 
SUPERVISOR 

Supervisor Davis stated that the last round of the HaMies, a fundraiser talent show to benefit the 
H.O.L.T. Scholarship program, will be held on May 14, 2013 at the Holt High School at 7:00 p.m. 
 

 
TREASURER 

Treasurer Sweet stated the Treasurer’s Office received $297,124 in Revenue Sharing for the 
January/February 2013 period. In addition, the Economic Vitality Incentive Program (EVIP) check 
in the amount of $6,940 was received.  
 

 
TRUSTEE 

 
Trustee Harmon 

Trustee Harmon stated that he will begin hosting a Community Forum once a month on 
Saturdays from 8:00-9:00 a.m. at Biggby Coffee in Holt. 
 
 
LIMITED PUBLIC COMMENTS

 

 – Mike Hamilton, 4541 Sycamore Street, Holt, questioned ability 
to restrict the sale of firework in the Township. 

 

 
ADJOURNMENT 

Meeting adjourned at 8:10 p.m. 
 
Date:                
        Evan Hope, Township Clerk 
 
 
Date:                
        C.J. Davis, Supervisor 
/af 



U:Accounting Private\Payables\Accounts Payable Approval Form (2)
CC: Central File

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE APPROVAL
April 16, 2013

Dated:  April 16, 2013
                                   Lora Behnke, Accounting Clerk

II.  Certification of Fund Totals:

General Fund 85,230.52$            
Fire Fund 16,308.98              
Fire Equip. & Apparatus Fund 2,235.56                
Downtown Development Fund 8,073.43                
Sewer Fund 83,390.08              
Trust & Agency Fund 4,106.96                

Grand Total 199,345.53$          

Includes the following to be reimbursed from separate bank accounts:

Employee Flexible Spending Acct. 362.01$                 

Combined Sewer Savings 112.50$                 

Dated:  April 16, 2013           
John B. Elsinga, Township Manager

 
Dated:  April 16, 2013

John B. Elsinga, Township Manager

Evan Hope, Township Clerk

Roy W. Sweet, Treasurer

IV Board Audit and Approval:  At a regular meeting of the Township Board held on May 7, 2013 a motion was
made by _______________________and passed by ____yes votes and ____no votes (______absent) that the
list of claims dated April 16, 2013, was reviewed, audited and approved
                         

Evan Hope, Township Clerk

I.  Certification of Authorized Signatures:  The attached Check Register and Invoice Distribution Report encompass 
checks dated April 16, 2013 numbered 83416 thru 83488 & ACH 2466 thru 2486.   Every invoice has a payment 
authorizing signature(s).

The attached Invoice Distribution Report and Check Register for checks dated April 16, 2013 show payments made from the 
following funds:

III.  Approval for Distribution: I have reviewed the above checks and invoices and all of them should be distributed.  All  invoices 
over $10,000.00 have been approved by general policy or previous motions of the board.  (none)

Amy
Text Box
ATTACHMENT I




INVOICE GL DISTRIBUTION REPORT FOR DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP
POST DATES 04/16/2013 - 04/16/2013

Vendor Invoice Line Desc Amount

Fund 101 GENERAL FUND
Dept 000.00 
DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP TREASURER CASH DRAWER INCREASE 200.00
SBAM HEALTH INSURANCE RETIREES MAY 227.22
DONNA JONES REFUND TRIP TO FRED MEIJER GARDEN 54.00

Total For Dept 000.00 481.22

Dept 171.00 MANAGER
SBAM HEALTH INSURANCE MAY 2,291.33
DBI BUSINESS INTERIORS OFFICE SUPPLIES 55.99
ADP SCREENING & SELECTION SUBSCRIPTION/BACKGROUND CHECKS 27.57
BANK OF AMERICA PARKING/ELSINGA 10.00
BANK OF AMERICA PARKING/ELSINGA 9.00
BANK OF AMERICA ICLE PROGRAM REGISTRATION/THIELEN 270.00

Total For Dept 171.00 MANAGER 2,663.89

Dept 191.00 ACCOUNTING
SBAM HEALTH INSURANCE MAY 424.32
DBI BUSINESS INTERIORS OFFICE SUPPLIES 88.71
ABRAHAM & GAFFNEY, P.C. ACCOUNTING SERVICES/MARCH 2,723.50

Total For Dept 191.00 ACCOUNTING 3,236.53

Dept 215.00 CLERK
SBAM HEALTH INSURANCE MAY 2,715.65
GANNETT MICHIGAN NEWSPAPER PUBLISHING LEGALS MARCH 509.84

Total For Dept 215.00 CLERK 3,225.49

Dept 228.00 INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
SBAM HEALTH INSURANCE MAY 1,018.37
DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP-I.T. VGA VISIONTEK  VIDEO CARD 54.15
DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP-I.T. PRT HP LASERJET 400 242.97
DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP-I.T. VNC LICENSE/ALBERT 12.50
APPLICATION SPECIALIST KOMP 4/20-5/19/13 ANTI SPAM & VIRUS 270.00
ACD.NET, INC. APRIL INTERNET & DSL 199.95
AD-INK & TONER SUPPLY MF PRINTER/VANDER PLOEG 185.99

Total For Dept 228.00 INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 1,983.93

Dept 253.00 TREASURERS
SBAM HEALTH INSURANCE MAY 1,272.96
DBI BUSINESS INTERIORS OFFICE SUPPLIES 279.99
LUMBERTOWN  OF HOLT DRYWALL/TREASURER OFFICE 2.00

Total For Dept 253.00 TREASURERS 1,554.95



Dept 257.00 ASSESSING
SBAM HEALTH INSURANCE MAY 1,272.96
THRUN LAW FIRM, P.C. LEGAL FEES MARCH 5,997.39
COSTAR REALTY INFORMATION COSTAR SUBSCRIPTION 473.34
BANK OF AMERICA REFRESHMENTS/BOARD OF REVIEW 15.56
MICHIGAN ASSESSORS ASSN MMA SPRING COURSES/MUNSON 200.00
STATE OF MICHIGAN MUNSON EXAM FEE 50.00

Total For Dept 257.00 ASSESSING 8,009.25

Dept 262.00 ELECTIONS
DBI BUSINESS INTERIORS OFFICE SUPPLIES 161.43

Total For Dept 262.00 ELECTIONS 161.43

Dept 265.00 BUILDING & GROUNDS
SBAM HEALTH INSURANCE MAY 570.63
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE BUILDING & GROUNDS 38.54
KSS ENTERPRISES TOILET PAPER 397.60
MICHIGAN COMPANY CENTER PULL PAPER TOWEL 413.00
QUALITY FIRST MAID SERVICE CLEANING SERVICES/CSC 975.00
SAFETY SYSTEMS, INC QTR FIRE ALARM & MON 75.00
SAFETY SYSTEMS, INC QTR MON & WATCHMAN REPORTS 120.00
SIEMENS INDUSTRY, INC. OVERHEAD HEATER REPAIR/FIRE #1 472.00
METRONET LONG DISTANCE LONG DISTANCE MARCH 39.12
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT WATER 2074 AURELIUS 527.46
BANK OF AMERICA TOILET REPAIR PARTS/CSC 386.90
KSS ENTERPRISES ROLL PAPER TOWEL 390.80

Total For Dept 265.00 BUILDING & GROUNDS 4,406.05

Dept 276.00 CEMETERY
SBAM HEALTH INSURANCE MAY 528.87
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE CEMETERY 35.72
BARNHART & SON, INC. 5 GRAVE OPENINGS & CLOSINGS 2,594.03
GRANGER CONTAINER SERVICE MONTHLY DUMPSTER SERVICE 65.00

Total For Dept 276.00 CEMETERY 3,223.62

Dept 281.00 STORMWATER
SBAM HEALTH INSURANCE MAY 556.71
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE STORMWATER 37.60

Total For Dept 281.00 STORMWATER 594.31

Dept 446.00 INFRASTRUCTURE
CONSUMERS ENERGY STREETLIGHTS ACCT#6730 20,700.11
CONSUMERS ENERGY STREETLIGHTS ACCT#7043 103.87
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER MISC. DOCUMENT 14.00
C2AE N CONNECTOR TRAIL 525.00
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER RECORDING EASEMENTS/TRAIL 29.00
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER RECORDING EASEMENTS/TRAIL 20.00
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER RECORD WOODLAND LAKE EASEMENT 41.00
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER RECORDING EASEMENTS/TRAIL 26.00
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC RAM TRAIL PRELIMINARY STUDY 1,495.02

Total For Dept 446.00 INFRASTRUCTURE 22,954.00



Dept 721.00 PLANNING/COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT
SBAM HEALTH INSURANCE MAY 5,261.57
BANK OF AMERICA WORK PANTS/SIMONS & MASTIN 294.00
RED WING SHOES SAFETY BOOTS/SIMONS 148.74
DBI BUSINESS INTERIORS OFFICE SUPPLIES 38.99
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 139.40
THRUN LAW FIRM, P.C. LEGAL FEES MARCH 1,317.76
ASSOCIATED GOVERNMENT AGS PAYROLL 2/16-3/15/2013 1,348.00
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS RAM TRAIL FEASIBILITY STUDY 730.00
METRONET LONG DISTANCE LONG DISTANCE MARCH 7.78
FRANKIE D'S AUTO & TRUCK LOF/WIPER BLADES/TIE ROD/BULB/#57 377.00
CANON SOLUTIONS AMERICA, INC. OCE COPIER METER CHARGES MARCH 63.60
BANK OF AMERICA PARKING/MILLER 10.00
SCHAFER'S INC. TREE CUT DOWN/4868 SUGARBUSH 1,000.00
MI ASSOCIATION OF PLANNING 2013 MAP SPRING INSTITUTE/MILLER 100.00

Total For Dept 721.00 PLANNING/COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 10,836.84

Dept 752.00 PARKS ADMINISTRATION
SBAM HEALTH INSURANCE MAY 848.64
DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP-I.T. HDMI CABLE INSTEN & SHIPPING 35.49
DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP-I.T. WATCHGUARD FIREWALL 567.63
METRONET LONG DISTANCE LONG DISTANCE MARCH 0.66
TDS METROCOM TELEPHONES/SENIOR CENTER 285.10

Total For Dept 752.00 PARKS ADMINISTRATION 1,737.52

Dept 771.00 PARKS
D & M SILKSCREENING PARK STAFF SHIRTS 954.70
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE PARKS 58.03
MENARDS LANSING SOUTH BATTERY 45.99
MENARDS LANSING SOUTH CREDIT (9.00)
ACE HARDWARE 4 PLASTIC HEADS 9.96
ACE HARDWARE 1 MARKING PAINT 7.49
AMERICAN RENTAL PORTABLE TOILET 70.00
AMERICAN RENTAL PORTABLE TOILET 70.00
AMERICAN RENTAL PORTABLE TOILET 70.00
GRANGER CONTAINER SERVICE MONTHLY DUMPSTER SERVICE 150.00
SAFETY SYSTEMS, INC QTR MON REPORTS/VAHALLA 138.00
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT WATER 2287 PINE TREE 34.39
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT WATER 1750 MAPLE 13.20
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT WATER 4030 KELLER 7.00
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT WATER 4050 KELLER 7.00
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC 1771 MAPLE 94.08
BANK OF AMERICA DNR SIGN 209.80
BANK OF AMERICA SENIOR CENTER MOVIE LICENSING 333.55
BANK OF AMERICA 4 FLAGS & SHIPPING 144.75
BANK OF AMERICA 2 FLAGS & SHIPPING 107.00
GRAINGER 1/4" X 500' ROPE 42.10
BOYNTON FIRE SAFETY SERVICE KITCHEN FIRE SUP INSPECTION 88.00
MARK'S LOCK SHOP, INC 8 PADLOCKS/12 KEYS 130.00
O'LEARY PAINT CO. 4 GAL. PAINT/FOUNTAIN 315.48
WESCO DISTRIBUTION, INC 12 LIGHTS FOR VETERANS MEMORIAL 269.28
SCHAFER'S INC. 15 YDS MULCH/5 YDS CUSHION WOOD 364.50



BANK OF AMERICA FILTER & SHIPPING/KROMER PART 71.10
BANK OF AMERICA GOLF CART BATTERY & ADJUST VALVES 129.99
DEER CREEK SALES, INC FLYWHEEL KEY//LABOR/MOWER 123.21
ADP SCREENING & SELECTION SUBSCRIPTION/BACKGROUND CHECKS 72.76

Total For Dept 771.00 PARKS 4,122.36

Dept 774.00 RECREATION
SBAM HEALTH INSURANCE MAY 1,018.37
JOHNNY MAC'S BASES 400.96
JOHNNY MAC'S 2 TENNIS NETS 339.90
M.A.S.A. SOFTBALLS 680.00
BANK OF AMERICA BUS DEPOSIT/SENIOR CITIZENS TRIP 100.00
BANK OF AMERICA TIGER GAME TICKETS DEPOSIT 340.00
CHARLES GRINNELL HOMETOWN FESTIVAL/GRINNELL 132.00
PAULA K. HARNEY SENIOR CENTER FITNESS CLASSES 100.00

Total For Dept 774.00 RECREATION 3,111.23

Dept 850.00 OTHER FUNCTIONS
SBAM HEALTH INSURANCE RETIREES MAY 5,728.35
DBI BUSINESS INTERIORS OFFICE SUPPLIES 726.64
THRUN LAW FIRM, P.C. LEGAL FEES MARCH 3,143.80
MEDICAL MANAGEMENT SYSTEM AMBULANCE BILLING MARCH 3,145.51
BANK OF AMERICA WUFOO 3/26-4/26/13 9.00
BANK OF AMERICA WEB HOSTING-GIS 3/10-4/9/13 1.00
BANK OF AMERICA WEB HOSTING BUSINESS 3/10-6/9/13 65.85
BANK OF AMERICA REFRESHMENTS/QTRLY MEETING 34.35
BANK OF AMERICA REFRESHMENTS/QTRLY MEETING 11.78
BANK OF AMERICA REFRESHMENTS/QTRLY MEETING 30.24
INGHAM CO. DEPT. OF TRANS NEIGHBORHOOD WATCH SIGN REPLACE 31.38

Total For Dept 850.00 OTHER FUNCTIONS 12,927.90

Total For Fund 101 GENERAL FUND 85,230.52

Fund 206 FIRE FUND
Dept 336.00 FIRE DEPARTMENT
SBAM HEALTH INSURANCE MAY 9,844.23
SBAM HEALTH INSURANCE MAY 1,782.14
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER PRESS UNIFORM PANTS/BUTCHER 4.50
BANK OF AMERICA 4 FOAM BOARDS 29.16
BANK OF AMERICA GASOLINE/#656 62.35
BANK OF AMERICA GASOLINE/#656 70.90
BANK OF AMERICA DIESEL FUEL/#383 100.00
BANK OF AMERICA GASOLINE/#656 50.68
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE FIRE 1,231.60
BANK OF AMERICA 6 SERVICE PINS 28.99
BANK OF AMERICA UNIFORM SUPPLIES 30.00
NYE UNIFORM COMPANY CARGO PANTS & FREIGHT/SCHROEDER 123.22
BOUND TREE MEDICAL, LLC MEDICAL SUPPLIES 10.40
BOUND TREE MEDICAL, LLC MEDICAL SUPPLIES 132.30
BIO-CARE, INC. 33 MASK FIT TESTS 825.00
SPARROW OCC HEALTH SERVICE PHYSICALS 348.12
METRONET LONG DISTANCE LONG DISTANCE MARCH 3.54



BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT WATER 6139 BISHOP 37.47
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC 6139 BISHOP 78.05
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS 6139 BISHOP 350.26
ADP SCREENING & SELECTION SUBSCRIPTION/BACKGROUND CHECKS 60.02
BANK OF AMERICA LUNCH/BALL 23.31
BANK OF AMERICA BREAKFAST/BALL 8.47
ACE HARDWARE 1 MISC. MDSE. 10.80
ACE HARDWARE 10 MISC. MDSE./2 VELCRO TAPES 52.88
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER VELCRO & SALES TAX 10.59
JEFFREY BUTCHER 2013 WINTER TERM/BUTCHER 1,000.00

Total For Dept 336.00 FIRE DEPARTMENT 16,308.98

Total For Fund 206 FIRE FUND 16,308.98

Fund 211 FIRE EQUIP. & APPARATUS FUND
Dept 339.00 EQUIPMENT & APPARATUS
BANK OF AMERICA UPS SHIPPING 10.57
BANK OF AMERICA AA & AAA BATTERIES & FREIGHT 446.99
BANK OF AMERICA UPS SHIPPING 6.96
BANK OF AMERICA RPR ALUMINUM FACE PLATE BRACKET 28.00
ACE HARDWARE 2 HOOKS/9 MISC. MDSE./#383 11.29
CARQUEST THE PARTS PLACE SILICONE SPRAY/POLISH/APPLICATOR 14.73
FRANKIE D'S AUTO & TRUCK TEST ELECTRICAL/#21 115.00
BANK OF AMERICA LUNCH/BALL/BRITTEN/DROLETT 37.01
BANK OF AMERICA LUNCH/BALL/BRITTEN/DROLETT 27.23
BANK OF AMERICA LODGING/BALL/BRITTEN/DROLETT 179.20
BANK OF AMERICA LUNCH/ROYSTON,BALL,2 MASON 50.43
BANK OF AMERICA VIDEO CAMERA & SHIPPING 703.83
BANK OF AMERICA LUNCH/ROYSTON 12.08
LANSING AREA SAFETY COUNCIL SPR CLASS 40 STUDENT WORKBOOKS 500.00
LUMBERTOWN  OF HOLT NAILS & 6 PLYWOOD/TRAINING SUPPLIES 92.24

Total For Dept 339.00 EQUIPMENT & APPARATUS 2,235.56

Total For Fund 211 FIRE EQUIP. & APPARATUS FUND 2,235.56

Fund 248 DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
Dept 728.00 DDA ADMINISTRATION
BANK OF AMERICA AT&T LED SIGN 3/16-4/15/13 48.84
C. HOWARD HAAS MARCH CELL PHONE REIMBURSE/HAAS 75.00
METRONET LONG DISTANCE LONG DISTANCE MARCH 0.85
SIEMENS INDUSTRY, INC. INSTALL COOLING FAN IN SERVER 2,450.00
BANK OF AMERICA REGISTRATION PARTNERSHIP FORUM 100.00

Total For Dept 728.00 DDA ADMINISTRATION 2,674.69

Dept 729.00 DDA MARKETING & PROMOTION
CHARLES GRINNELL 31 HOURS @ $22/GRINNELL 682.00

Total For Dept 729.00 DDA MARKETING & PROMOTION 682.00

Dept 731.00 DDA INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS
B & D ELECTRIC, INC. STREET/ICSD ELECTRIC 251.90
PURE GREEN LAWN & TREE STREETSCAPE REPR & MAINTENANCE 45.00
PURE GREEN LAWN & TREE LAWN & TREE FERTILIZATION/DDA 25.00



PURE GREEN LAWN & TREE LAWN & TREE FERTILIZATION/DDA 25.00
PURE GREEN LAWN & TREE LAWN & TREE FERTILIZATION/DDA 25.00
LOWE'S CREDIT SERVICES 8" ZIP TIE'S (BAG)/DDA BANNERS 81.48
C2AE I-96 UNDERPASS & CONNECTOR TRAIL 1,782.50

Total For Dept 731.00 DDA INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS 2,235.88

Dept 850.00 OTHER FUNCTIONS
SBAM HEALTH INSURANCE MAY 556.71
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE DDA 37.60
GRANGER CONTAINER SERVICE MONTHLY DUMPSTER SERVICE 130.00
QUALITY FIRST MAID SERVICE CLEANING SERVICES/SHERIFF & DDA 340.00
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT WATER 2045 CEDAR 102.79
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT WATER 2150 CEDAR 18.49
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT WATER 2004 AURELIUS 7.00
B & D ELECTRIC, INC. STREET/ICSD ELECTRIC 247.50
KSS ENTERPRISES ROLL PAPER TOWEL 79.52
MICHIGAN COMPANY CENTER PULL PAPER TOWEL 516.25
SAFETY SYSTEMS, INC QTR LEASE & MONITORING 105.00

Total For Dept 850.00 OTHER FUNCTIONS 2,140.86

Dept 903.00 CAPITAL OUTLAY-DDA
STATE OF MICHIGAN POST FILING FEE - TRAIL BOND 340.00

Total For Dept 903.00 CAPITAL OUTLAY-DDA 340.00

Total For Fund 248 DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 8,073.43

Fund 590 SEWAGE DISPOSAL SYSTEM
Dept 000.00 
BANK OF AMERICA PERSONAL CHG TO WRONG CARD/DIOR 56.50
SBAM HEALTH INSURANCE RETIREES MAY 204.50

Total For Dept 000.00 261.00

Dept 548.00 ADMINISTRATION & OVERHEAD
SBAM HEALTH INSURANCE RETIREES MAY 2,510.41
THRUN LAW FIRM, P.C. LEGAL FEES MARCH 679.80
HOLT POSTMASTER FUNDING POSTAGE DUE ACCOUNT 100.00
ICS MARKETING SERVICES APRIL-JUNE POSTAGE/SEWER BILLS 7,279.08
ICS MARKETING SERVICES MARCH SEWER BILLS 537.26

Total For Dept 548.00 ADMINISTRATION & OVERHEAD 11,106.55

Dept 558.00 DEPT OF PUBLIC SERVICE
SBAM HEALTH INSURANCE MAY 11,704.78
DBI BUSINESS INTERIORS OFFICE SUPPLIES 198.96
AD-INK & TONER SUPPLY CE252A YELLOW TONER CARTRIDGE 172.99
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE DPS 790.59
BANK OF AMERICA 5 JACKETS & 4 BIBS 800.71
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE STAFF UNIFORMS 64.79
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE STAFF UNIFORMS 154.46
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE STAFF UNIFORMS 64.79
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE STAFF UNIFORMS 73.71
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE STAFF UNIFORMS 64.79
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE STAFF UNIFORMS 73.71



BANK OF AMERICA ADOBE FLASH BUILDER 4.7/SOFTWARE 263.94
DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP-I.T. (2) 1GB 240 PIN DIMMS/DPS MAPPING 40.26
BANK OF AMERICA HEAT GUN/STORAGE CONTAINER 11.98
BANK OF AMERICA 10' LEVEL ROD 40.00
USA BLUE BOOK MANHOLE LID LIFTER 134.95
USA BLUE BOOK SHIPPING 15.26
LOWE'S CREDIT SERVICES FLUKE ELECTRIC METER 79.80
ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCE QUARTERLY CHECK SAMPLES 814.41
ALEXANDER CHEMICAL CORP SODIUM BISULFITE 855.00
ALEXANDER CHEMICAL CORP ACETIC ACID 2,400.00
ALEXANDER CHEMICAL CORP CALCIUM NITRATE 10,762.00
ALEXANDER CHEMICAL CORP HYPOCHLORITE SOLUTION 4,158.80
GOODRICH OPTICAL, INC. SAFETY GLASSES/KEELEY 91.70
GOODRICH OPTICAL, INC. SAFETY GLASSES/ADAMS 300.00
RED WING SHOES SAFETY BOOTS/4 DPS FULL TIME 760.71
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC ENGINEERING SERVICES MARCH 2013 550.05
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC ENGINEERING SERVICES-METER DATA 300.42
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC SANITARY SEWER ELEVATIONS 1,240.50
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC 2012 GENERAL ENGINEERING POTW 1,131.26
HUBBELL, ROTH & CLARK, INC 2012 GEN ENG POTW MISC SERVICES 3,582.63
UNITED PARCEL SERVICE SHIPPING CHARGES 107.22
GRANGER CONTAINER SERVICE MONTHLY SCREEN DEBRIS 387.50
GRANGER CONTAINER SERVICE MONTHLY DUMPSTER SERVICE 201.21
METRONET LONG DISTANCE LONG DISTANCE MARCH 15.19
USA MOBILITY WIRELESS, INC. PAGER SERVICE 55.68
COMCAST HIGH SPEED INTERNET/POTW 131.90
COMCAST HIGH SPEED INTERNET/MAINTENANCE 121.90
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT WATER 1492 AURELIUS 196.28
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT WATER 1492 AURELIUS 72.00
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT WATER 3505 HOLT 76.66
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT WATER 1988 WAVERLY 134.80
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT WATER 4280 DELL 18.49
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT WATER 5961 MC CUE 694.37
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT ELECTRIC 2481 DELHI COMMERCE 67.00
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT ELECTRIC 1870 NIGHTINGALE 160.34
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-4000 N MICHIGAN#B 193.16
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-1988 WAVERLY 580.72
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-5961 MC CUE #2723 48.19
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-1988 WAVERLY 82.83
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-5961 MC CUE #2319 5,244.42
BANK OF AMERICA BATTERY FLOAT CHARGER/REACH TOOL 75.72
BANK OF AMERICA DISH DETERGENT/PARTS WASHER 7.40
ACE HARDWARE 2 MISC. MDSE. 3.30
KSS ENTERPRISES ROLL PAPER TOWEL 638.39
KSS ENTERPRISES TOILET PAPER 159.04
JAMES LENON 35 SHEEP SHEARED & MILEAGE 180.00
MICHIGAN COMPANY CENTER PULL PAPER TOWEL 516.25
MORBARK, INC. DRIVE BELT FOR CHIPPER 195.78
MORBARK, INC. ESTIMATED SHIPPING 11.61
BANK OF AMERICA (2) 12 TON JACKS/(2) 7000# JACKS 189.96
BANK OF AMERICA REPAIR TRANSCEIVER/LS RADIO 219.93
BANK OF AMERICA REPAIR TRANSCEIVER/LS RADIO 218.31



DU BOIS-COOPER ASSOCIATES SUCTION COVER & LINER/LSD 1,964.00
DU BOIS-COOPER ASSOCIATES SILENT PUMP REPAIR & SPARE PARTS 2,094.55
LOWE'S CREDIT SERVICES LIGHT HEAD/PINE TREE LS 60.00
LOWE'S CREDIT SERVICES 12/2 WIRE/PINE TREE LS LIGHT 11.65
BANK OF AMERICA 5-BATTERY FLOAT CHARGERS 99.95
BANK OF AMERICA HAND HELD SPOT LIGHT/#11A 5.35
BANK OF AMERICA 20 FT SKIRT BOARDING 40.40
BANK OF AMERICA 2 V-BELTS/CHICAGO BLOWERS 21.30
BANK OF AMERICA SHAFT SEAL/NASH COMPRESSORS 354.50
BANK OF AMERICA 4 V-BELTS/2 FHP BELTS/BLOWERS 60.88
BANK OF AMERICA AB MODULE 120VAC TRANS 68.76
BANK OF AMERICA 4 CATTLE PANELS/SHEEP 83.96
ACE HARDWARE ALL PURPOSE CEMENT/2 PVC PRIMER 21.47
ACE HARDWARE 5 PIPE INSULATIONS 12.45
CARQUEST THE PARTS PLACE CREDIT (3.40)
FASTENAL COMPANY A 2X2 MINI SS SHIM 203.00
M TECH COMPANY CABLE ASSEMBLY PARTS/CAMERA VAN 878.28
PURE GREEN LAWN & TREE LAWN & TREE FERTILIZATION/WAVERLY 79.00
PURE GREEN LAWN & TREE TREE FERTALIZATION/POTW 240.00
BARNHART & SON, INC. SHOULDER STABILIZED AT RECYCLE 963.62
QUALITY FIRST MAID SERVICE CLEANING SERVICES/POTW 260.00
QUALITY FIRST MAID SERVICE CLEANING SERVICES/MAINTENANCE 260.00
SAFETY SYSTEMS, INC QTR MON & WATCHMAN REPORTS 120.00
RS TECHNICAL SERVICES, INC. PARTS / SERVICE 1,313.00
DR LAB SERVICES LLC ANNUAL PM AGREEMENT/POTW LAB 1,645.00
H & H WELDING & REPAIR LLC PUMP REPAIR 1,405.00
BANK OF AMERICA TIRE REPAIR/#10 10.00
ADP SCREENING & SELECTION SUBSCRIPTION/BACKGROUND CHECKS 362.77
SPARROW OCC HEALTH SERVICE PHYSICALS 103.50
TODD HATHAWAY CDL LICENSE RENEWAL 47.00
LOWE'S CREDIT SERVICES PLANER KIT/BULLSEYE 5 GAL BASE 124.43
R. A. DINKEL & ASSOCIATES SM-7339RBL BACK PACK W/GILL LOGO 388.50
R. A. DINKEL & ASSOCIATES SET UP CHARGE 50.00
R. A. DINKEL & ASSOCIATES ESTIMATED SHIPPING CHARGE 52.68
BANK OF AMERICA WEF LODGING/RANES 162.63
BANK OF AMERICA CREDIT SALES TAX (23.63)
BANK OF AMERICA ENERGY SYMP/DIORKA & POWERS 170.00
BANK OF AMERICA LODGING & PARKING/DIORKA 169.00
BANK OF AMERICA EDUCATION & TRAINING 5.00
BANK OF AMERICA LUNCH/DIORKA 20.72
BANK OF AMERICA LUNCH/DIORKA 9.19
BANK OF AMERICA LODGING/DIORKA 81.75
BANK OF AMERICA LODGING/NEEB 81.75
BANK OF AMERICA PARKING/DIORKA 5.00

Total For Dept 558.00 DEPT OF PUBLIC SERVICE 66,786.51

Dept 578.01 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS
C2AE LSD/FORCE MAIN/POTW SCREENING 5,123.52

Total For Dept 578.01 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS 5,123.52



Dept 588.01 G.O. BOND INDEBTEDNESS
US BANK 2003 CAPITAL IMPV 4571_5 112.50

Total For Dept 588.01 G.O. BOND INDEBTEDNESS 112.50

Total For Fund 590 SEWAGE DISPOSAL SYSTEM 83,390.08

Fund 701 TRUST & AGENCY FUND
Dept 000.00 
AFLAC WITH DEDUCT-AFLAC DISABILITY 660.64
AFLAC WITH DEDUCT-AFLAC LIFE INSURANCE 7.38
AFLAC WITH DEDUCT-AFLAC ACCIDENT 528.96
AFLAC WITH DEDUCT-AFLAC SICKNESS 344.12
AFLAC WITH DEDUCT-AFLAC CANCER 507.72
WENDY L THIELEN AFLAC_URM (FSA) 88.01
C. J. DAVIS AFLAC_URM (FSA) 274.00
DELHI, INC. MEADOW RIDGE ESCROW REFUNDED 1,355.00
DTN ENTERPRISES, INC. REFUND ESCROW /ASPEN CENTER 341.13

Total For Dept 000.00 4,106.96

Total For Fund 701 TRUST & AGENCY FUND 4,106.96

Total For All Funds: 199,345.53



U:Accounting Private\Payables\Accounts Payable Approval Form (2)
CC: Central File

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE APPROVAL
April 30, 2013

Dated:  April 30, 2013
                                   Lora Behnke, Accounting Clerk

II.  Certification of Fund Totals:

General Fund 45,876.99$            
Fire Fund 7,589.87                
Police Fund 196,825.83            
Fire Equip. & Apparatus Fund 32,500.56              
Brownfield Redevelopment Fund 122.42                   
Downtown Development Fund 42,901.41              
Sewer Fund 47,437.79              
Trust & Agency Fund 3,381.85                

Grand Total 376,636.72$          

Includes the following to be reimbursed from separate bank accounts:

Employee Flexible Spending Acct. 1,256.85$              

Dated:  April 30, 2013           
John B. Elsinga, Township Manager

 
Dated:  April 30, 2013

John B. Elsinga, Township Manager

Evan Hope, Township Clerk

Roy W. Sweet, Treasurer

IV Board Audit and Approval:  At a regular meeting of the Township Board held on May 7, 2013 a motion was
made by _______________________and passed by ____yes votes and ____no votes (______absent) that the
list of claims dated April 30, 2013, was reviewed, audited and approved
                         

Evan Hope, Township Clerk

I.  Certification of Authorized Signatures:  The attached Check Register and Invoice Distribution Report encompass 
checks dated April 30, 2013 numbered 83489 thru 83557 & ACH 2487 thru 2508.   Every invoice has a payment 
authorizing signature(s).

The attached Invoice Distribution Report and Check Register for checks dated April 30, 2013 show payments made from the 
following funds:

III.  Approval for Distribution: I have reviewed the above checks and invoices and all of them should be distributed.  All  invoices 
over $10,000.00 have been approved by general policy or previous motions of the board.  ($29,004.00 Gorno Ford for 2013 Ford 
Explorer/Fire Dept., 2/16/13, $11,900.00 H.J. Umbaugh & Associates for Trail Bond Legal Fees, 4/2/13)

Amy
Text Box
ATTACHMENT II




INVOICE GL DISTRIBUTION REPORT FOR DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP
POST DATES 04/30/2013 - 04/30/2013

Vendor Invoice Line Desc Amount

Fund 101 GENERAL FUND
Dept 000.00 
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF COBRA MAY CREDIT (43.16)
DOUGLAS SIGN COMPANY Install Sign 50.00
DOUGLAS SIGN COMPANY Display Area 32.00
DOUGLAS SIGN COMPANY Install Sign 50.00
DOUGLAS SIGN COMPANY Display Area 56.00
FIELD ASSET SERVICES REFUND RENTAL ORIGINATION FEE 500.00
CATHY BAKER REFUND AMBULANCE FEE-10/12/12 132.80
BUD PIPER BURIAL PLOT BUY BACK 1,875.00
ADDIE MUTCH REFUND TRIP TO CORNWELL'S 50.00

Total For Dept 000.00 2,702.64

Dept 101.00 LEGISLATIVE
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO TRUSTEES LIFE INSURANCE MAY 25.50

Total For Dept 101.00 LEGISLATIVE 25.50

Dept 171.00 MANAGER
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE MAY 296.05
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO LIFE INSURANCE MAY 93.50
UNUM LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY DISABILITY INSURANCE MAY 138.90
VERIZON WIRELESS CELLULAR APRIL 49.57

Total For Dept 171.00 MANAGER 578.02

Dept 191.00 ACCOUNTING
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE MAY 43.16
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO LIFE INSURANCE MAY 19.97
UNUM LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY DISABILITY INSURANCE MAY 29.63

Total For Dept 191.00 ACCOUNTING 92.76

Dept 215.00 CLERK
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE MAY 258.32
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO LIFE INSURANCE MAY 64.16
UNUM LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY DISABILITY INSURANCE MAY 95.55
VERIZON WIRELESS CELLULAR 49.57

Total For Dept 215.00 CLERK 467.60

Dept 228.00 INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE MAY 80.89
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO LIFE INSURANCE MAY 49.30
UNUM LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY DISABILITY INSURANCE MAY 73.24
VERIZON WIRELESS CELLULAR 49.57
BS&A SOFTWARE TIME SHEETS/YEARLY SUPPORT 1,055.00



BS&A SOFTWARE SPEC. ASSMT./YEARLY SUPPORT 1,000.00
BS&A SOFTWARE MISC. RECEIVABLES/YEARLY SUPPORT 1,220.00
BS&A SOFTWARE HUMAN RESOURCES/YEARLY SUPPORT 1,540.00
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT MEMBERSHIP FEE/FELTON 35.00
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT SERVICE FEE/FELTON 15.91

Total For Dept 228.00 INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 5,118.91

Dept 253.00 TREASURERS
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE MAY 215.16
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO LIFE INSURANCE MAY 42.50
UNUM LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY DISABILITY INSURANCE MAY 63.29
HOLT BUILDERS, LLC TREASURER REMODEL 4,220.00

Total For Dept 253.00 TREASURERS 4,540.95

Dept 257.00 ASSESSING
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE MAY 349.43
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO LIFE INSURANCE MAY 69.27
UNUM LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY DISABILITY INSURANCE MAY 102.87

Total For Dept 257.00 ASSESSING 521.57

Dept 262.00 ELECTIONS
ELECTION SYSTEMS & SOFTWARE 8 AUTO MARK MAINTENANCE 244.24

Total For Dept 262.00 ELECTIONS 244.24

Dept 265.00 BUILDING & GROUNDS
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE MAY 72.79
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO LIFE INSURANCE MAY 16.22
UNUM LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY DISABILITY INSURANCE MAY 24.15
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE BUILDING & GROUNDS 67.42
QUALITY FIRST MAID SERVICE CLEANING SERVICES/CSC 975.00
VERIZON WIRELESS CELLULAR APRIL 12.53
TDS METROCOM LOCAL SERVICE MARCH 1,222.50
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 2074 AURELIUS 293.00
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-2074 AURELIUS 5,326.99
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-2074 AURELIUS 1,876.82
ACE HARDWARE 25 SCREWS/CSC 6.50
WESCO DISTRIBUTION, INC LIGHT BULBS / CSC 1,668.00

Total For Dept 265.00 BUILDING & GROUNDS 11,561.92

Dept 276.00 CEMETERY
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE MAY 67.46
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO LIFE INSURANCE MAY 15.03
UNUM LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY DISABILITY INSURANCE MAY 22.39
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE CEMETERY 62.49
RUMSEY & SONS CONSTRUCTION 10 CEMETERY FOUNDATIONS 186.00
PURE GREEN LAWN & TREE LAWN & TREE FERTILIZE/MAPLE RIDGE 188.00
VERIZON WIRELESS CELLULAR APRIL 12.53
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-4149 WILLOUGHBY 41.68
WESCO DISTRIBUTION, INC C70S62 70W LAMP / MAPLE RIDGE 32.00

Total For Dept 276.00 CEMETERY 627.58



Dept 281.00 STORMWATER
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE MAY 71.01
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO LIFE INSURANCE MAY 15.82
UNUM LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY DISABILITY INSURANCE MAY 23.56
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE STORMWATER 65.78

Total For Dept 281.00 STORMWATER 176.17

Dept 446.00 INFRASTRUCTURE
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT STREETLIGHTS 4/1-5/1/2013 6,639.02

Total For Dept 446.00 INFRASTRUCTURE 6,639.02

Dept 721.00 PLANNING/COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE MAY 554.36
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO LIFE INSURANCE MAY 136.00
UNUM LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY DISABILITY INSURANCE MAY 203.08
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 91.98
VERIZON WIRELESS CELLULAR APRIL 212.21
TDS METROCOM LOCAL SERVICE MARCH 95.98
FRANKIE D'S AUTO & TRUCK LOF/#58 31.00

Total For Dept 721.00 PLANNING/COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 1,324.61

Dept 752.00 PARKS ADMINISTRATION
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE MAY 86.31
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO LIFE INSURANCE MAY 45.90
UNUM LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY DISABILITY INSURANCE MAY 68.57
HOLT PUBLIC SCHOOLS T-BALL/SOFT & BASEBALL INFO SHEETS 69.75
VERIZON WIRELESS CELLULAR APRIL 84.10
TDS METROCOM LOCAL SERVICE MARCH 147.35
DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP FOOD LICENSE/2108 CEDAR 5.00
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT MEMBERSHIP FEE/JENKS 15.00
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT SERVICE FEE/JENKS 6.82

Total For Dept 752.00 PARKS ADMINISTRATION 528.80

Dept 771.00 PARKS
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE PARKS 203.58
ACE HARDWARE 4 KEYS/1 DRILL BIT/2 MISC. MDSE. 12.03
DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP BATTERIES & SALES TAX 14.80
AMERICAN RENTAL PORTABLE TOILETS 140.00
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE UNIFORM PANTS 82.88
BOARD OF WATER & LIGHT WATER 2108 CEDAR 237.54
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 2108 CEDAR 104.00
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 2287 PINE TREE 32.50
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 4030 KELLER 32.50
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 1750 MAPLE 13.00
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC 2074 AURELIUS #PARK 795.10
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC 2287 PINE TREE 2939 40.34
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC 2287 PINE TREE 3200 240.33
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC 1750 MAPLE 36.06
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC 2108 CEDAR 979.52
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC 2177 WEST BLVD 22.24



CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS 2287 PINE TREE 2939 168.45
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS 2108 CEDAR 49.53
DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP OR TOILET REPAIR KIT 6.95
ELLIS CLEANING COMPANY CLEANED FLOORS/SENIOR CENTER 550.00
LOWE'S CREDIT SERVICES PURCHASES NOT REC 5% DISCOUNT (21.88)
MENARDS LANSING SOUTH TAPE/PVC/BRUSHES 11.85
SHERWIN WILLIAMS PAINT 208.95
WESCO DISTRIBUTION, INC 10 BULBS/VET MEM GARDENS 60.00
WESCO DISTRIBUTION, INC LIGHT BULBS / SENIOR CENTER 251.40
MENARDS LANSING SOUTH 300'X1/2" SCREEN FABRIC 22.39
CARQUEST THE PARTS PLACE 2 QTS 80W90 OIL 10.46
DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP OR CHOKE CABLE/GOLF CART 18.00

Total For Dept 771.00 PARKS 4,322.52

Dept 774.00 RECREATION
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE MAY 80.89
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO LIFE INSURANCE MAY 22.10
UNUM LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY DISABILITY INSURANCE MAY 32.81
D & M SILKSCREENING 27 VOLLEYBALL T-SHIRTS 164.00
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT 2 EASTER BASKETS 39.96
JOHNNY MAC'S 12 VOLLEY LITE BALLS 323.40
PIONEER ATHLETICS PAINT-VET MEM GARDENS & ATHLETIC 3,624.25
DEAN TRAILWAYS OF MICHIGAN BUS TO TIGER GAME/SENIOR CITIZENS 692.00
DEAN TRAILWAYS OF MICHIGAN BLUEGATE BUS TRIP/SENIOR CITIZEN 890.00
PAULA K. HARNEY SENIOR CENTER FITNESS CLASSES 100.00

Total For Dept 774.00 RECREATION 5,969.41

Dept 850.00 OTHER FUNCTIONS
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO RETIREES LIFE INSURANCE MAY 36.45
DBI BUSINESS INTERIORS 20 REAMS OF PAPER 159.80
DBI BUSINESS INTERIORS PHONE CORDS & PENS 49.52
PITNEY BOWES GLOBAL FINANCIAL FOLDING MACHINE LEASE 189.00

Total For Dept 850.00 OTHER FUNCTIONS 434.77

Total For Fund 101 GENERAL FUND 45,876.99

Fund 206 FIRE FUND
Dept 000.00 
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF COBRA DENTAL INSURANCE MAY 80.89

Total For Dept 000.00 80.89

Dept 336.00 FIRE DEPARTMENT
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE MAY 1,527.18
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE MAY 80.89
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO LIFE INSURANCE MAY 249.22
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO LIFE INSURANCE MAY 20.83
UNUM LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY DISABILITY INSURANCE MAY 507.29
UNUM LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY DISABILITY INSURANCE MAY 31.24
BARYAMES CLEANERS UNIFORM CLEANING 201.35
PAPER IMAGE PRINTING 50 PADS AMBULANCE FORMS 48.35
PAPER IMAGE PRINTING 1,000 HIPPA FORMS 120.35
TRI-COUNTY EMERGENCY TCEMCA REFUSAL FORMS 12.00



LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE FIRE 1,104.72
NYE UNIFORM COMPANY 1 PANT & FREIGHT/ROYSTON 77.72
BOUND TREE MEDICAL, LLC MEDICAL SUPPLIES 49.84
BOUND TREE MEDICAL, LLC CREDIT (84.42)
BOUND TREE MEDICAL, LLC MEDICAL SUPPLIES 5.20
BOUND TREE MEDICAL, LLC MEDICAL SUPPLIES 278.50
LIFEGAS LLC OXYGEN 224.30
MOORE MEDICAL, LLC MEDICAL SUPPLIES 800.54
MOORE MEDICAL, LLC MEDICAL SUPPLIES 240.26
BIO-CARE, INC. MASK FIT TEST/LANDFAIR 25.00
BIO-CARE, INC. 4 MASK FIT TESTS 100.00
COUNTY OF INGHAM 911 RADIO FEE 1,370.83
VERIZON WIRELESS CELLULAR APRIL 240.53
TDS METROCOM LOCAL SERVICE MARCH 55.39
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 6139 BISHOP 36.75
ZEP SALES & SERVICE TRUCKER VEHICLE WASH BRUSH 119.60
ZEP SALES & SERVICE TRUCKER BRUSH HANDLE 58.24
ZEP SALES & SERVICE SHIPPING 7.28

Total For Dept 336.00 FIRE DEPARTMENT 7,508.98

Total For Fund 206 FIRE FUND 7,589.87

Fund 207 POLICE FUND
Dept 301.00 POLICE
ROBERT J. ROBINSON, ATTNY MOTOR VEH ORD - MARCH 2,215.00
INGHAM COUNTY TREASURER POLICE CONTRACT APRIL 194,610.83

Total For Dept 301.00 POLICE 196,825.83

Total For Fund 207 POLICE FUND 196,825.83

Fund 211 FIRE EQUIP. & APPARATUS FUND
Dept 339.00 EQUIPMENT & APPARATUS
FIRE SERVICE MANAGEMENT LLC TURNOUT GEAR CLEANING 247.50
FIRE SERVICE MANAGEMENT LLC TURNOUT GEAR CLEANING 52.11
FIRST DUE FIRE SUPPLY CO. HOSE ADAPTER & SHIPPING 235.71
SUPERIOR SAW 2 CHAINS/SAW 28.86
ACE HARDWARE BATTERIES/EMS EQUIPMENT 4.99
WEST SHORE FIRE INC SCBA REPAIR 27.00
WEST SHORE FIRE INC SCBA REPAIR 42.90
CARQUEST THE PARTS PLACE 2 LUBE/#212 22.06
CARQUEST THE PARTS PLACE AIR BRAKE TUBING/#21 6.43
ACROSS THE STREET PRODUCT 6 BLUE CARD TRAINING 2,079.00
JEFFREY YOUNG NAT. FIRE ACADEMY/YOUNG 260.00
TARGETSOLUTIONS TARGET SAFETY ONLINE 490.00
GORNO FORD FORD EXPLORER MIDEAL #3905-0016 26,324.00
GORNO FORD OPTIONS TO ADD:  CARGO WIRING UPFIT 1,340.00
GORNO FORD GRILL LAMP PREWIRE 50.00
GORNO FORD BLUETOOTH COMMUNICATIONS 295.00
GORNO FORD BLIND SPOT MONITORING 490.00
GORNO FORD KEYLESS ENTRY 260.00
GORNO FORD 2013 FORD EXPLORER 245.00

Total For Dept 339.00 EQUIPMENT & APPARATUS 32,500.56

Total For Fund 211 FIRE EQUIP. & APPARATUS FUND 32,500.56



Fund 243 BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTH
Dept 733.00 BROWNFIELD ADMINISTRATION
FOSTER, SWIFT, COLLINS MEDAWAR LEGAL FEES MARCH 122.42

Total For Dept 733.00 BROWNFIELD ADMINISTRATION 122.42

Total For Fund 243 BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTH 122.42

Fund 248 DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
Dept 728.00 DDA ADMINISTRATION
FOSTER, SWIFT, COLLINS HOLT/COLLEGE LEGAL FEES MARCH 1,304.92
TDS METROCOM LOCAL SERVICE MARCH 192.90
WESCO DISTRIBUTION, INC LIGHT BULBS / DDA 643.60

Total For Dept 728.00 DDA ADMINISTRATION 2,141.42

Dept 729.00 DDA MARKETING & PROMOTION
BLOHM CREATIVE PARTNERS APRIL 2013 OUR TOWN 14,474.23
BLOHM CREATIVE PARTNERS APRIL OUR TOWN ONLINE/EMAIL VERS 650.00
BLOHM CREATIVE PARTNERS APRIL OUR TOWN FRAMED ARTICLES 300.00
CHARLES GRINNELL 44 HOURS @ $22/GRINNELL 968.00
ACE HARDWARE BULBS/BROOM/PAINT/MOPHEAD 118.78
ACE HARDWARE PAINT & GREAT STUFF 58.57
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT MEMBERSHIP FEE/GRINNELL 15.00
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT SERVICE FEE/GRINNELL 6.82
BLOHM CREATIVE PARTNERS MARCH WEB MAINTENANCE & HOSTING 1,051.00

Total For Dept 729.00 DDA MARKETING & PROMOTION 17,642.40

Dept 731.00 DDA INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS
PURE GREEN LAWN & TREE LAWN & TREE FERTILIZATION/DDA 265.00
PURE GREEN LAWN & TREE LAWN & TREE FERTILIZATION/DDA 40.00
PURE GREEN LAWN & TREE LAWN & TREE FERTILIZATION/DDA 40.00
PURE GREEN LAWN & TREE LAWN & TREE FERTILIZATION/DDA 40.00
PURE GREEN LAWN & TREE LAWN & TREE FERTILIZATION/DDA 128.00
PURE GREEN LAWN & TREE LAWN & TREE FERTILIZATION/DDA 35.00
PURE GREEN LAWN & TREE LAWN & TREE FERTILIZATION/DDA 47.00
PURE GREEN LAWN & TREE LAWN & TREE FERTILIZATION/DDA 60.00

Total For Dept 731.00 DDA INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS 655.00

Dept 850.00 OTHER FUNCTIONS
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE MAY 71.01
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO LIFE INSURANCE MAY 15.82
UNUM LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY DISABILITY INSURANCE MAY 23.56
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE DDA 65.78
QUALITY FIRST MAID SERVICE CLEANING SERVICES/SHERIFF & DDA 420.00
VERIZON WIRELESS CELLULAR APRIL 12.53
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 2045 CEDAR 30.00
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 2150 CEDAR 19.88
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 1465 CEDAR 13.00
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-2004 AURELIUS 60.77
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-2045 CEDAR #A 1,092.56
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-2045 CEDAR #B 136.97
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-2116 CEDAR 331.54
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-2150 CEDAR 102.98
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-2228 AURELIUS 160.35
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-3970 HOLT 59.64
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-4115 HOLT 262.19
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-2150 CEDAR 262.40
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-2045 CEDAR 291.61

Total For Dept 850.00 OTHER FUNCTIONS 3,432.59



Dept 905.00 DEBT SERVICE
THRUN LAW FIRM, P.C. TRAIL BOND LEGAL FEES/APRIL 7,130.00
H.J. UMBAUGH & ASSOCIATES TRAIL BOND LEGAL FEES 11,900.00

Total For Dept 905.00 DEBT SERVICE 19,030.00

Total For Fund 248 DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 42,901.41

Fund 590 SEWAGE DISPOSAL SYSTEM
Dept 000.00 
BARKHAM, ROBERT Sewer Usage 206.00
BURNEY, BERNICE Basic Service Charge 30.00
BURNS, KAREN Basic Service Charge 38.25
COOK, BYRON Basic Service Charge 65.35
HAGFORS, ROSS Basic Service Charge 34.50
HARROD, STEVE Sewer Usage 30.00
HOLLEY II, JOSEPH Basic Service Charge 8.50
NOBLE, ANGELA Basic Service Charge 21.50
PARKER, MATT Basic Service Charge 81.00

Total For Dept 000.00 515.10

Dept 548.00 ADMINISTRATION & OVERHEAD
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO RETIREES LIFE INSURANCE MAY 20.25
ICS MARKETING SERVICES APRIL SEWER BILLS 547.23

Total For Dept 548.00 ADMINISTRATION & OVERHEAD 567.48

Dept 558.00 DEPT OF PUBLIC SERVICE
DELTA DENTAL PLAN OF DENTAL INSURANCE MAY 1,493.00
HARTFORD LIFE INSURANCE CO LIFE INSURANCE MAY 332.74
UNUM LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY DISABILITY INSURANCE MAY 495.43
LANSING ICE & FUEL CO GASOLINE DPS 1,382.93
BARYAMES CLEANERS UNIFORM DRYCLEANING 52.20
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE STAFF UNIFORMS 128.62
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE STAFF UNIFORMS 73.71
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE STAFF UNIFORMS 70.87
MODEL COVERALL SERVICE STAFF UNIFORMS 148.54
AIRGAS USA, LLC CYLINDER RENTAL 131.39
ACE HARDWARE PIPE INSULATION 2.79
ACE HARDWARE 2 BATTERIES 13.98
ALEXANDER CHEMICAL CORP ACETIC ACID 2,400.00
ALS LABORATORY GROUP COMPOST ANALYSIS 675.00
KAR LABORATORIES, INC. ANALYSIS OF INFLUENT SAMPLES 225.00
KAR LABORATORIES, INC. ANALYSIS OF EFFLUENT SAMPLES 225.00
UNITED PARCEL SERVICE SHIPPING CHARGES 21.04
UNITED PARCEL SERVICE SHIPPING CHARGES 114.45
VERIZON WIRELESS CELLULAR APRIL 300.33
TDS METROCOM LOCAL SERVICE MARCH 456.25
DELHI TOWNSHIP TREASURER SEWER 1490 AURELIUS 189.00
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC 1490 AURELIUS 2,375.90
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-2870 PINE TREE 631.67
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-3505 HOLT 123.06
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-4828 HOLT 159.15
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-4280 DELL 539.61
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC 1390 WAVERLY 376.72
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-1494 AURELIUS 293.35
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-2358 EIFERT 433.37
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-5961 MC CUE #2509 20,720.83
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-5999 HOLT 106.55
CONSUMERS ENERGY ELECTRIC-6055 MC CUE 376.72
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-4280 DELL 131.34



CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-3505 HOLT 39.68
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-1492 AURELIUS 447.99
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-1492 AURELIUS #A 48.01
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-2481 DELHI COMM 21.50
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS 5961 MC CUE #4 1,244.95
CONSUMERS ENERGY GAS-1490 AURELIUS 524.51
ACE HARDWARE (2) WD-40 8.58
LOWE'S CREDIT SERVICES PURCHASES NOT REC 5% DISCOUNT (21.89)
WESCO DISTRIBUTION, INC LIGHT BULBS/DPS 986.20
ZEP SALES & SERVICE 4 CS FOAMING HAND SOAP 228.80
ZEP SALES & SERVICE ESTIMATED SHIPPING 0.33
USA BLUE BOOK ABS EF40W-2/ SECONDARY PUMP 294.95
USA BLUE BOOK SHIPPING 23.70
ACE HARDWARE CONDUIT/BOX OUTLET & COVER 20.97
ACE HARDWARE 1 BRASS BOILER DRAIN 7.49
ACE HARDWARE 16 BOLTS 22.00
GARDNER DENVER NASH, LLC (3) EC50L REPAIR KIT 1,942.41
GARDNER DENVER NASH, LLC ESTIMATED SHIPPING 10.00
TECHMATIC INC. ACTUATOR ASSEMBLY 2,175.00
TECHMATIC INC. ESTIMATED SHIPPING 33.52
WESCO DISTRIBUTION, INC 3 POLE FUSE BLOCK 22.70
WESCO DISTRIBUTION, INC FNQ-6 FUSES 166.80
PURE GREEN LAWN & TREE LAWN & TREE FERTILIZATION/MTC 128.00
PURE GREEN LAWN & TREE TREE FERTALIZATION/POTW 240.00
PURE GREEN LAWN & TREE LAWN & TREE FERTILIZATION/WAVERLY 89.00
QUALITY FIRST MAID SERVICE CLEANING SERVICES/POTW 260.00
QUALITY FIRST MAID SERVICE CLEANING SERVICES/MAINTENANCE 260.00
D & G EQUIPMENT INC PARTS & LABOR/VACTOR TRUCK 876.94
IDEXX DISTRIBUTION, INC. EXTENDED MAINT AGREEMENT 400.00
FRANKIE D'S AUTO & TRUCK LOF/PLUGGED TIRE/2 WIPER BLADES 70.00
FRANKIE D'S AUTO & TRUCK LOF/#4 35.00
CCI SOUTH, LLC FIX PHONE PROBLEM 97.00
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT MEMBER FEE/EVA-POWERS-RANES 45.00
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT SERV. FEE/EVA-POWERS-RANES 20.45
ACE HARDWARE 2 JIG BLADES 6.98
LOWE'S CREDIT SERVICES 2 PLYWOOD/OPEN HOUSE 47.40
LOWE'S CREDIT SERVICES PLYWOOD/OPEN HOUSE 23.70
D HILL ENVIRONMENTAL WW PREP FOR EXAM/TRIGO & BRYANT 250.00
MICHIGAN RURAL WATER ASSOC MRWA DUES/DIORKA 57.00

Total For Dept 558.00 DEPT OF PUBLIC SERVICE 46,355.21

Total For Fund 590 SEWAGE DISPOSAL SYSTEM 47,437.79

Fund 701 TRUST & AGENCY FUND
Dept 000.00 
INGHAM COUNTY TREASURER TRAILER PARK FEES MARCH 2,125.00
C. J. DAVIS AFLAC_URM (FSA) 280.00
C. J. DAVIS AFLAC_URM (FSA) 412.00
WENDY L THIELEN AFLAC_URM (FSA) 564.85

Total For Dept 000.00 3,381.85

Total For Fund 701 TRUST & AGENCY FUND 3,381.85

Total For All Funds: 376,636.72
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DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP
FUND TRANSFERS AND PAYROLL APPROVAL

                                                             For Payroll Dated April 25, 2013

I.   Certification of Preparation and Distribution

The Treasurer's & Clerk's signatures were printed on the payroll checks using an electronic image signature

___________________________________
Lora Behnke, Accounting Clerk

Dated: April 25, 2013 Director of Accounting

II.  Payroll Report
The April 25, 2013 payroll encompasses the following funds and  expenditures:

Gross Payroll Net
Payroll Deductions Pay

General Fund $64,795.65 $18,959.18 $45,836.47
Fire Dept. Fund 44,961.97 13,275.85 $31,686.12
DDA 5,036.02 1,506.08 $3,529.94
Sewer Fund/Receiving 35,758.70 10,871.89 $24,886.81
Total Payroll $150,552.34 $44,613.00 $105,939.34

Township Township RHS & Total Deductions
FICA Pension Plan & H.S.A. & TWP Liabilities

General Fund $4,602.57 $5,535.65 $29,097.40
Fire Dept. Fund 3,356.42 3,577.40 20,209.67
DDA 164.88 255.74 1,926.70
Sewer Fund/Receiving 2,579.44 3,107.53 16,558.86
     Total Payroll $10,703.31 $12,476.32 $67,792.63

Director of Accounting

III.  FUND TRANSFERS
Transfers covering the foregoing payroll were made on April 25, 2013 and identified as follows: 

Roy W. Sweet, Treasurer

IV.  Board Audit and Approval:

Attachment to Payroll Register

cc: Sweet(1)Vander Ploeg(1) Evan Hope, Clerk

At a regular meeting of the Township Board held on May 7, 2013, a motion was made by _________________and passed 
by_________________yes votes and ________no votes(__________absent) that the payroll dated April 25, 2013 was reviewed, 
audited, and approved.

The attached check and payroll registers encompass check numbers: 104943 through 104971 & direct deposits numbers: 
DD15528 through DD15607.  The payroll was prepared in accordance with established payroll rates and procedures.

04/25 Net Pay Disbursement in Common Savings ($105,939.34)                                  

The attached Check and Payroll Registers were reviewed.  The payroll checks were distributed in accordance with established 
procedures.
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Delhi Charter Township  
Department of Community Development 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 

TO:  John B. Elsinga, Township Manager 
 
FROM:  Tracy L.C. Miller, Director of Community Development 
 
DATE:  April 23, 2012 
 
RE:  SUP #13-231A, 3400 Belle Chase Way – Two Men & A Truck 
 
At their meeting on April 22nd, the Planning Commission (PC) voted unanimously to recommend 
approval of an amendment to the existing Special Use Permit (SUP) for the Two Men & A Truck 
(TMT) facility.  The request would accommodate the construction of several additions and a 
new building on the TMT property, eventually totaling approximately 117,000 square feet. 
 
The first phase of construction will include a 27,000 sq.ft. addition to the existing building.  A 
rendering of this part of the project is included in the attached staff report.  It is anticipated 
that the next phase of the construction would include the 40,000 sq.ft. “franchise building”.  
This would likely occur within the 2 – 5 year time horizon and would bring all of the franchise 
operations to this headquarters location.  Lastly, smaller additions comprising approximately 
15,500 sq.ft. could be added to the existing building in the future as well.  A draft site plan is 
also included in the staff report that shows these long range plans. 
 
The company has opted to propose all of this work now, rather than to piece-mail their 
approvals over the course of the next several years.  While this ultimately results in a little more 
work in terms of planning and engineering now, it will save time in the future.  Additionally, the 
Township is able to understand now the entire concept for development of the site and plan 
accordingly.  This results in a better outcome for the company and the Township.  Site plan 
review is also currently underway and approval by the PC will be required prior to any 
construction taking place.   
 
The PC held a public hearing at the April 22nd meeting.  There were no members of the general 
public present to speak, but Mr. Jeff Wesley from TMT was there to respond to any PC 
questions. A copy of the draft meeting minutes is attached for your consideration.  After the 
hearing, the following motion was approved: 
 

O'Hara moved and seconded by Leaf to recommend to the Township Board approval of SUP #13-231A 
for the construction of buildings in excess of 50,000 sq. ft. pursuant to Section 5.10.4(6) of the Zoning 
Ordinance for property located at 3400 Belle Chase Way (33-25-05-02-200-043 & 033). The following 
conditions to apply: 

1. Site plan approval pursuant to Section 3.3 of the Delhi Township Zoning Ordinance is obtained 
for the proposed construction. 
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Page 2 of 2 
 

The Planning Commission has received the “Basis for Determination for Granting a Special Use Permit” 
and has found that the general and specific standards outlined in Section 8.1.3 have been satisfied and 
that those findings are accurately reflected in the “Basis for Determination for SUP 13-231A” dated April 
18, 2013 and is fully incorporated into this motion and the official meeting minutes. 
 
A Roll Call Vote was recorded as follows: 
Ayes:    Weaver, Olson, O'Hara, Leaf, Goodall, Craig 
Nays:  None 
Absent:   Hayhoe 
Abstain: Zietlow 
MOTION CARRIED 

 
Please forward this information, along with your concurrence, to the Township Board for their 
consideration and action at the upcoming May 7th meeting.  As always, if you have any 
questions or require additional information please do not hesitate to ask.  Please remember 
that I will not be at the March 5th meeting. Thank you. 
 
Recommended Motion to APPROVE: 
 
To adopt Special Use Permit No. 13-231A for Two Men and A Truck, 3400 
Belle Chase Way, Tax Parcel #33-25-05-02-200-043 & 033, to permit the 
construction of buildings in excess of 50,000 sq. ft. pursuant to Section 
5.10.4(6) of the Zoning Ordinance, as recommended by the Planning 
Commission at their April 22, 2013 meeting. 
 

-OR- 
 
Recommended Motion to DENY: 
 
To deny Special Use Permit No. 13-231A for Two Men and A Truck, 3400 
Belle Chase Way, Tax Parcel #33-25-05-02-200-043 & 033. 
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DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
INGHAM COUNTY, MICHIGAN 

 
SPECIAL USE PERMIT NO. 13-231A 

 
 

APPLICANT:   
 

TWO MEN AND A TRUCK 

SPECIAL USE PERMIT ADDRESS:   3400 BELLE CHASE WAY 
33-25-05-02-200-043 & 033 
 

DATE ADOPTED:   
 

MAY 7, 2013 

PURPOSE: CONSTRUCTION OF BUILDINGS IN EXCESS OF 50,000 SQ.FT. 
PURSUANT TO SECTION 5.10.4(6) OF THE ZONING ORDINANCE 
 

CONDITIONS:  
      

1. Site plan approval pursuant to Section 3.3 of the Delhi Township Zoning Ordinance is 
obtained for the proposed construction. 

 
BASIS OF DETERMINATION:  Pursuant to the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act, Act 110 of 2006, as 
amended, Section 125.3504 (4), conditions imposed by this Special Use Permit are: 
 
(1) Reasonable conditions may be required with the approval of a special land use, planned unit 
development, or other land uses or activities permitted by discretionary decision. The conditions 
may include conditions necessary to insure that public services and facilities affected by a proposed 
land use or activity will be capable of accommodating increased service and facility loads caused by 
the land use or activity, to protect the natural environment and conserve natural resources and 
energy, to insure compatibility with adjacent uses of land, and to promote the use of land in a 
socially and economically desirable manner. Conditions imposed meet all of the following 
requirements: 
 

(a) Are designed to protect natural resources, the health, safety, and welfare, as well as the 
social and economic well-being, of those who will use the land use or activity under 
consideration, residents and landowners immediately adjacent to the proposed land use or 
activity, and the community as a whole, and 
 
(b) Are related to the valid exercise of the police power and purposes which are affected by 
the proposed use or activity, and 
 
(c) Are necessary to meet the intent and purpose of the zoning requirements, are related 
to the standards established in the Zoning Ordinance for the land use or activity under 
consideration, and are necessary to insure compliance with those standards, and 
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(2) The conditions imposed with respect to the approval of a land use or activity is recorded in the 
record of the approval action and remain unchanged except upon the mutual consent of the 
approving authority and the landowner. 
 
The foregoing Special Use Permit declared adopted on date written above. 
 
 

__________________________ 
  Evan Hope, Township Clerk 
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STATE OF MICHIGAN) 
       )ss 
COUNTY OF INGHAM) 
 
 
 I, the undersigned, the duly qualified Clerk of the Charter Township of Delhi, Ingham County, 
Michigan, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and complete copy of the proceedings 
taken by the Township Board at a regular meeting held on the 1ST day of May, 2012. 
 
  

IN WITNESS THEREOF, I have hereunto affixed my official signature this _____ day of 
May, 2012.        

 
 

     __________________________ 
 Evan Hope, Township Clerk 
 
 
In most cases, Special Use Permits shall be assignable from one party to another, provided, 
however, that the site, location, and any other restrictions placed on the original Special Use Permit 
do not change.  Assignability of said permit shall be subject to the following requirements and 
conditions: 
 

1. Prior to reassignment of the Special Use Permit to any owner, lessee occupant, or operator, 
the current permit holder shall notify the Delhi Township Zoning Administrator of his/her 
intention to assign the permit to a third party. 
 

2. The assignee of the permit shall complete the appropriate application for continued use of 
the permitted operation. 

3. The assignee of the permit shall meet with the Zoning Administrator in an effort to become 
familiar with all existing requirements of the Special Use Permit.  Unless provided elsewhere 
in Zoning Ordinance No. 39, the new assignee must comply with all Special Use Permit 
requirements of the current permit holder. 

 
Approved uses, except seasonal uses, which cease for a period of 180 days are hereby considered 
abandoned and any such abandonment shall render the Special Use Permit null and void.  Seasonal 
uses which cease for a period of one (1) year must meet the requirements of Zoning Ordinance No. 
39 and will require a new Special Use Permit as required in Section 8.1 of the Ordinance.  Seasonal 
uses shall be defined as uses that require or are affected or caused by certain weather availability.
    



PLANNING COMMISSION STAFF REPORT 
SPECIAL USE PERMIT, #13-231A, 3400 BELLE CHASE WAY 
TWO MEN & A TRUCK 
April 18, 2013 

Tracy LC Miller, Director of Community Development 
 
 

PROPOSED USE: 
The applicant has requested a Special Use Permit (SUP) pursuant to Section 5.10.4(6) to allow 
the construction of several additions and a new building on the Two Men & A Truck (TMT) 
property. These additions, and the future building, would result in square footage exceeding 
the  50,000 sq.ft. threshold requiring an SUP as contained in the Zoning Ordinance (ZO).  
 
DESCRIPTION: 
TMT’s existing building encompasses 33,772 sq.ft. of space.  An expansion to this building is 
planned for this summer (July/Aug 2013). This addition will add approximately 27,000 sq.ft. to 
the existing 33,772 gross square footage.  
 
Furthermore, the company also intends to construct a “franchise building” that will be 
approximately 40,000 sq.ft. in size.  This is currently  planned to occur within the next couple of 
years.  Additional expansions to the existing building are also planned for the future.  These 
smaller subsequent additions could add up to an additional 15,500 sq.ft. to the main building.   
 
Overall, the company’s expansion plans for both the near and long term could add an additional 
82,500 sq.ft. of space.  Taken collectively with the existing space currently on site, this could 
bring the total up to approximately 116,500 sq.ft. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Below is an evaluation of the basic ordinance compliance issues and other possible 
considerations: 
 

1. Prior to Zoning Ordinance (ZO) amendments completed within the past several years, 
buildings in excess of 30,000 sq.ft. were required to obtain a SUP.  Therefore, TMT has 
an existing SUP (SUP#2004-231) that permitted the construction of the first 11,586 sq.ft. 
addition to the original building.  However, it was worded in a way that limited its’ 
applicability to the specified square footage.  An amendment to that SUP is necessary, if 
TMT is going to be able to continue with their expansion plans within Delhi Township. 
   

2. Staff suggested that TMT apply now for an approval that would take into consideration 
their entire short term and long range development plan.  If this approach is taken, any 
approvals obtained now would permit future planned development to occur without 
the need to amend the SUP.  Of course, this would only apply provided the future 
development was consistent with the current approvals.   
 
TMT has done this work and submitted both this SUP request and a site plan which 
depicts the layout and design for future planned construction (see below).  The site plan 
has not been approved yet and is in draft form. However, it is being actively worked on 
and will be finalized within the next several weeks.  The site plan will require approval 
by the PC. 
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3. The current SUP amendment requests that TMT be authorized to construct buildings 
larger than the 50,000 sq.ft. threshold, provided there is an approved site plan for that 
development on file.   
 

4. TMT has purchased the property immediately to the north of their existing site. This 
property will be used to accommodate the proposed expansion. 
 

5. It appears, based on the site plan that has been submitted, that it is very likely that the 
company can comply with all requirements and construct the proposed additions and 
future buildings.  Assuming this is the case, the project would very likely contribute 
positively to the Township and to the immediately surrounding area.  There are no 
adverse impacts anticipated as a result of this size development in this location.  
Specifically: 
 

a. Pine Tree Road is an all-season roadway, meaning that large traffic volumes and 
truck traffic (which is limited for this use) can be accommodated efficiently.   
 

b. There are several buildings in close proximity to this site that are of 
approximately similar size, including: Lansing Christian School, Trinity Church, 
Greater Lansing Association of Realtors and the Dart Building where MPT Lansing 
is located.   
 

c. The use of the property as the TMT Headquarters is consistent with the 
“business park” feel of the development within Sections 1&2.  The use is 
primarily office, but will also include the existing “Stick Man University” company 
training center and the future “franchise building.” The franchise building will be 
the main headquarters for domestic and international franchise locations.   

 
d. The rendering that has been submitted with the application materials 

demonstrates that the proposed construction will continue to be of the same 
high quality materials and aesthetics that currently exist.  Landscaping and site 
improvements will help to ensure that the development is attractive and 
constitutes a benefit to the area. 
 

e. All utilities and essential services are available at the site.   
 
RECOMMENDED MOTION TO APPROVE  
Move to recommend to the Township Board approval of SUP #13-231A for the construction 
of buildings in excess of 50,000 sq.ft. pursuant to Section 5.10.4(6) of the Zoning Ordinance 
for property located at 3400 Belle Chase Way (33-25-05-02-200-043 & 033). The following 
conditions to apply: 

1. Site plan approval pursuant to Section 3.3 of the Delhi Township Zoning Ordinance is 
obtained for the proposed construction. 

The Planning Commission has received the “Basis for Determination for Granting a Special 
Use Permit” and has found that the general and specific standards outlined in Section 8.1.3 
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have been satisfied and that those findings are accurately reflected in the “Basis for 
Determination for SUP 13-231A” dated April 18, 2013 and is fully incorporated into this 
motion and the official meeting minutes.  

 
MOTION TO DENY 
Move to recommend to the Township Board denial of SUP #13-231A for the construction of 
buildings in excess of 50,000 sq.ft. pursuant to Section 5.10.4(6) of the Zoning Ordinance 
because the proposal does not comply with the require Basis for Determination Subsection ___ 
(fill in with specific citation). 
 
DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE 
The site currently consists of two parcels of land.  One parcel contains the existing TMT facility.  
The other parcel is currently vacant.  It is anticipated that the two parcels will be combined into 
one parcel in the near future.  The property includes both wetlands and 100 yr. floodplain.  
Both of these areas will have to be avoided and protected during development. 
 
Otherwise, the property is relatively level but does slope downward at the west end.  There is 
some limited scrub growth on the vacant parts of the site outside of the wetland area.  The two 
parcels are oddly shaped, and together have frontage on both Belle Chase Way and Pine Tree 
Road. The northern boundary is the Banta Drain. 
  
GENERAL INFORMAITON 
APPLICANT: 
 

Two Men & A Truck 

OWNER OF RECORD: 
 

Same (TMT Delhi LLC) 

LOCATION: 
 

3400 Belle Chase Way (NW corner of Belle Chase & Pine Tree Rd) 

PARCEL I.D. NO.: 
 

33-25-05-02-200-043 & 033 

ZONING: 
 

C-2: General Business 

REQUESTED ACTIVITY: 
 

Buildings in excess of 50,000 sq.ft. 

PROPERTY SIZE: 
 

11.30 acres (+/-) 

EXISTING LAND USE:  
 

Part of the property is currently developed with the existing TMT 
facility.  The northern parcel is currently vacant. 
 

ADJACENT LAND USE:  North: Greater Lansing Association of Realtors 
 South: Lansing Christian School 
 East:    Existing Office/Medical Development 
 
 

West:  Existing Office/Commercial Development 

ADJACENT ZONING: North:  C-2: General Business 
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 South:  A-1: Agricultural/C-2: General Business 
 East:     C-2: General Business 
 West:   C-2: General Business 

 
MASTER PLAN OF DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
The 2002 – 2020 Master Plan of Delhi Charter Township, as amended in 2007, (MP) shows the 
subject property as planned for the continued development of Commercial land uses.  Also 
consistent with the Master Plan, this development is located within the Primary Development 
Area indicated in the future land use growth area. 
 
CONFORMANCE WITH SECTION 8.1.3 
Prior to action on any SUP application, the PC shall establish that the general and specific 
standards and requirement contained in Section 8.1.3 have been satisfied.  The Planning 
Commission must review “Section 8.1.3 Basis for Determination for SUP 13-231A” dated April 
18, 2013 (attached) and make a determination regarding compliance with each finding.   
 
PROPOSED BUILDING RENDERING & DRAFT SITE PLAN 
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Section 8.1.3 Basis for Determination 
SUP #13-231A 

3400 Belle Chase Way 
 

Section 8.1.3 1 a) Be harmonious and in accordance with the general principals and proposals of the Master Plan. 
 
The proposed use is consistent with the surrounding land uses and is consistent with the principals of the Master 
Plan. There are existing buildings and facilities of similar size in the immediate vicinity.  There are no identified 
factors associated with the proposed Two Men & A Truck (TMT) expansion plans which are expected to be 
contrary to the Master Plan. 
 
Section 8.1.3 1 b) Be designed, constructed, operated and maintained so as to be harmonious in appearance with 
the existing or intended character of the general vicinity and that such a use will not change the essential character 
of the area in which it is proposed. 
 
The condition placed on the SUP will help to ensure that the site is operated in a manner that is harmonious with 
the surrounding area via the site plan approval process. The proposed expansion of the TMT facility is expected 
to be consistent with the overall character of the area.  The draft building renderings and site plan demonstrate 
that the development can be constructed in a manner that is harmonious with the area.  Further, TMT’s track 
record with regards to the professional manner in which they operate their existing site and manage their 
operations serves as evidence that the expanded facility will likely also be an asset to the Township. 
 
Section 8.1.3 1 c) Not be hazardous or disturbing to existing or future uses in the same general vicinity and will be a 
substantial improvement to the property in the immediate vicinity and to the community as a whole. 
 
The conditions recommended for the SUP should help to ensure that the use is not disruptive. Nothing proposed 
with regards to the facility expansion is expected to result in hazardous or disturbing conditions. 
 
Section 8.1.3 1 d) Be served adequately by essential public services, such as highways, streets, police, fire 
protection, drainage structures, refuse disposal, water and sewage facilities, or schools. 
 
The development receives fire and police protection from Delhi Charter Township.  All infrastructure is available.  
 
Section 8.1.3 1 e) Not involve uses, activities, processes, materials and equipment or conditions of operation that 
will be detrimental to any person, property or general welfare by reason of excess production of traffic, noise, 
smoke, fumes, glare or odors. 
 
No use proposed is expected to result in any detrimental impacts. 
 
Section 8.1.3 1 f) be consistent with the intent and purposes of the zoning district in which it is proposed to locate 
such use. 
 
The C-2: General Business zoning district is intended to provide a location for those retail, business and 
institutional activities used by the general population.  The TMT headquarters clearly meet this goal by providing 
moving services, business opportunities for franchise owners, training and employment. 
 
Section 8.1.3 1 g) Be designed to protect natural resources, the health, safety, welfare, and social and economic 
well-being of those who will use the land use or activity, and the community as a whole. 
 
See 8.1.3 1 b) above. 
 
Section 8.1.3 1 h) Be related to the valid exercise of the police power and purposes which are affected by imposed 
use of activity. 
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The Michigan Zoning Enabling Act provides the Township with the ability to require Special Use Permits for those 
uses that have the possibility of creating unacceptable or difficult circumstances for the community.  As such the 
requirement that the proposed facility obtain an approved SUP is a valid exercise of police power. 
 
Section 8.1.3 1 i) Be necessary to meet the intent and purpose of the zoning ordinance, be related to the standards 
established in the ordinance for the land use or activity under consideration, and be necessary to insure 
compliance with those standards. 
 
See 8.1.3 1 f) & g) above. 
 
Section 8.1.3 2) Conditions and Safeguards: The Planning Commission may impose such additional conditions and 
safeguards deemed necessary for the general welfare, for the protection of individual property rights and for 
insuring that the intent and objectives of this Ordinance will be observed.  The breach of any condition, safeguard, 
or requirement shall automatically invalidate the permit granted. 
 
The SUP is anticipated to be sufficient to ensure protection as outline above.  
 
Section 8.1.3 3) Specific Requirements: The general standards and requirements of the Section are basic to all uses 
authorized by Special Use Permit.  The specific and detailed requirements set forth in the following Sections relate 
to particular uses and are requirements which must be met by those uses in addition to the foregoing general 
standards and requirements where applicable. 
 
See 8.1.3 2) above. 

 
 
Date:  April 18, 2013 
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DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

 
 
TO:  Delhi Township Board Members 
 
FROM: John B. Elsinga, Township Manager 
 
DATE: April 25, 2013 
 
RE: Proposed Delhi Township Ordinance No. 124 – Consumer 

Fireworks, Second Consideration 
 
 
Enclosed for your review and second consideration is proposed Delhi Township 
Ordinance No. 124 which regulates the use of consumer fireworks in Delhi 
Township. 
 
On January 1, 2012 the Michigan Fireworks Safety Act went into effect which 
regulated the sale and use of consumer fireworks in the state of Michigan 
including the stipulation that consumer fireworks could be discharged on the day 
before, the day of and the day after a national holiday.   
 
Last summer staff and Board members began receiving complaints from 
residents regarding firework use on any random day.  To that end, the Board 
discussed the need to develop an ordinance that regulated the use of fireworks in 
Delhi Township.  Ordinance No. 124 was drafted mirroring the Michigan 
Fireworks Safety Act with regards to consumer fireworks.  Essentially, consumer 
fireworks can only be discharged in Delhi Township on the day before, day of 
and day after a national holiday.  Any discharge of a consumer firework in 
addition to those days is considered a misdemeanor and subject to a $500 fine.  
This ordinance also stipulates that it is illegal to use fireworks on public property, 
school or church property or private property without prior permission of the 
property owner and is illegal to use consumer fireworks while under the influence 
of alcohol or a controlled substance. 
 
 
Recommended Motion: 
 
Upon second consideration, to adopt Delhi Township Ordinance 
No. 124 with regards to the regulation of consumer fireworks. 
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DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
INGHAM COUNTY, MICHIGAN 

 
FIREWORKS ORDINANCE 

ORDINANCE NO. 124 
 

PREAMBLE 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 6, FIRE PREVENTION AND PROTECTION, TO 
ADD ARTICLE VII, CONSUMER FIREWORKS, SECTIONS 6-101 THROUGH 6-107 TO THE 
CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI; AND TO ESTABLISH 
AN EFFECTIVE DATE HEREOF. 

 
 THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI, INGHAM COUNTY, MICHIGAN, ORDAINS: 
 
SECTION 1.  TITLE. 
 
 This ordinance shall be known as the “Delhi Charter Township Consumer Fireworks 
Ordinance.” 

 
SECTION 2.   
 
 Article VII, Consumer Fireworks, Sections 6-101 through 6-107, is added to Chapter 6 of the 
Code of Ordinances of the Charter Township of Delhi to read as follows:  
 
Sec. 6-101. Definitions.  
 
 The Act means the Michigan Fireworks Safety Act, MCL 28.451, et seq., and any 
amendments to the Act, which may from time to time be adopted.   
 
 Consumer fireworks means fireworks devices that are designed to produce visible effects by 
combustion, that are required to comply with the construction, chemical composition, and labeling 
regulations identified under the Act, and that are listed as provided under the Act.  Consumer 
fireworks do not include low-impact fireworks or novelties.   
 
 Firework or fireworks means any combustion or device, except for a starting pistol, a flare gun 
or a flare, designed for the purpose of producing a visible or audible effect by combustion, 
deflagration, or detonation.  Fireworks consist of consumer fireworks, low-impact fireworks, articles 
pyrotechnic, display fireworks, and special effects.  Articles pyrotechnic, display fireworks, and special 
effects are governed by Article VI, Fireworks and Pyrotechnic Programs, of Chapter 6 of the Code of 
Ordinances of the Charter Township of Delhi.  
 
 Low-impact fireworks means ground and handheld sparkling devices as provided under the 
Act.   
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 National holidays as used in this Article VII shall mean:  
  New Year's Day, January 1. 
  Birthday of Martin Luther King, Jr., the third Monday in January. 
  Washington's Birthday, the third Monday in February.  
  Memorial Day, the last Monday in May.  
  Independence Day, July 4. 
  Labor Day, the first Monday in September.  
  Columbus Day, the second Monday in October.  
  Veterans Day, November 11.  
  Thanksgiving Day, the fourth Thursday in November.  
  Christmas Day, December 25.  
 
 Novelties means that term as defined under the Act and all of the following:  
 

(i) Toy plastic or paper caps for toy pistols in sheets, strips, rolls, or individual 
caps containing not more than .25 of a grain of explosive content per cap, 
in packages labeled to indicate the maximum explosive content per cap.  
  

(ii) Toy pistols, toy cannons, toy canes, toy trick noisemakers, and toy guns in 
which toy caps as described in subparagraph (i) are used, that are 
constructed so that the hand cannot come in contact with the cap when 
in place for the explosion, and that are not designed to break apart or be 
separated so as to form a missile by the explosion.  
  

(iii) Flitter sparklers in paper tubes not exceeding 1/8 inch in diameter.  
  

(iv) Toy snakes not containing mercury, if packed in cardboard boxes with not 
more than 12 pieces per box for retail sale and if the manufacturer's 
name and the quantity contained in each box are printed on the box; and 
toy smoke devices.   

 
 Person means an individual, agent, association, charitable organization, company, limited 
liability company, corporation, labor organization, legal representative, partnership, 
unincorporated organization, or any other legal or commercial entity.  
 
 Except as otherwise provided, other terms in this Article shall have the meaning ascribed 
to them in the Act.  
 
 Sec. 6-102. Ignition, Discharge and Use of Consumer Fireworks. 
 
 No person shall ignite, discharge or use consumer fireworks within the Township, except 
on the day preceding, the day of, or the day after a national holiday.  
 
 
 Sec. 6-103. Firework Safety.  
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 No person shall recklessly endanger the life, health, safety, or well-being of any person 
by the ignition, discharge, or use of fireworks or novelties.  
 
 Sec. 6-104. Prohibited Conduct.  
 
 A person who violates any of the following is subject to the penalties provided under the 
Act:  
 
 (i) A person shall not ignite, discharge, or use consumer fireworks on public 
property, school property, church property, or the property of another person without that 
organization's or person's express permission to use those fireworks on those premises.  
 
 (ii) A person shall not sell consumer fireworks to an individual who is under the age 
of 18.  
 
 (iii) An individual shall not use consumer fireworks or low-impact fireworks while 
under the influence of alcoholic liquor and/or a controlled substance, as those terms are defined 
in the Act.    
  
 Sec. 6-105. Seizure and Cost Recovery.  
 
 Any fireworks or novelties used, discharged, ignited or possessed in violation of the Act 
or this Article shall be subject to seizure.  A person found guilty of violating the Act or this Article 
shall be responsible to reimburse the Township for the costs of storing seized fireworks as 
provided under the Act.  
 
 Sec. 6-106. Applicability of General Ordinances.  
 
 Nothing in this Article or in the Act shall be construed or interpreted to limit the 
authority of the Township to enforce ordinances or laws of general applicability at any time or 
on any day, if the conduct is incidental to the sale, distribution, display, storage, transportation, 
ignition, discharge or use of fireworks and novelties.  
 
 Sec. 6-107. Violations, Fines and Penalties.  
 
 Any person who violates Sec. 6-102 or Sec. 6-103 shall be guilty of a misdemeanor, 
punishable by up to ninety (90) days in jail and/or a fine up to $500.00.   
    
SECTION 3.  PENALTIES. 

 
All proceedings pending and all rights and liabilities existing or incurred at the time this 

Ordinance takes effect are saved and may be consummated according to the law in effect when 
they are commenced.  This Ordinance shall not be construed to affect any prosecution pending 
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or initiated before the effective date of this Ordinance, or initiated after the effective date of 
this Ordinance for an offense committed before that effective date. 
 
SECTION 4.  SEVERABILITY. 

 
If any section, paragraph, clause, phrase or part of this Ordinance is held invalid by any 

court of competent jurisdiction, or by any agency, department, or commission empowered by 
statute for such purpose, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining provisions 
of this Ordinance, and the application of those provisions to any person or circumstances shall 
not be affected thereby. 

 
SECTION 5.  EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
This Ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days after its passage and publication 

and recording as required by law. 
 
       _________________________ 
       C. J. Davis, Supervisor 
 
       _________________________ 
       Evan Hope, Clerk 
 
 I, Evan Hope, Clerk of the Charter Township of Delhi, do hereby certify that the above is a 
true action taken by the Delhi Charter Township Board of Trustees as follows: 
 
  First Reading:    _________________________ 
  First Publication (Posting)  _________________________ 
  Second Reading:   _________________________ 
  Second Publication (Posting)  _________________________ 
  Effective Date:    _________________________ 
 
       _________________________ 
       Evan Hope, Clerk 



From: Kirk C. Herald
To: Tricia VanderPloeg
Subject: Consumer Fireworks Ordinance
Date: Thursday, April 11, 2013 11:58:05 AM
Attachments: consumer fireworks ordinance 041113 (00858718).DOC

Tricia,
 
Attached please find a draft of a proposed Consumer Fireworks Ordinance.  The ordinance should
be self-explanatory, but I’d like to make several other comments and observations:
 
(1)  The preceding “pyrotechnics” ordinance did not have reserved sections.  I began this Article
with the immediately following section number. 
 
(2)  The ordinance deals with “consumer fireworks,” although I have added references to “display
fireworks,” etc., in Sec. 6-101 and, particularly, referred to Article VI as the applicable ordinance for
regulation of those types of fireworks.  I did not review that ordinance.  I also included references
to all fireworks and novelties for purposes of general safety (Sec. 6-103), seizure/cost recovery
(Sec. 6-105), and the continuing applicability of general ordinances (Sec. 6-106).
 
(3)  The ordinance relies in large measure on the Michigan Fireworks Safety Act, including with
respect to various definitions, prohibited conduct and penalties.  A few thoughts on the
interrelationship between the ordinance and the Act:
 

(a)               I restated some, but not all, of the Act’s definitions.  I used only those that I thought
were the most applicable to the permissible regulation of consumer fireworks.  I
also utilized the definitions of low-impact fireworks and novelties, however, for
purposes of continuing enforcement of generally-applicable and “incidental”
ordinances (see below).  Low-impact fireworks may not be regulated under the Act. 
Novelties are not even governed by the Act, but the Act further says that it does not
authorize a municipality to enact ordinances regulating novelties.  While this may
have been an intent to keep novelties free from local regulation, I’m not certain the
language actually accomplishes this.  (More particularly, we don’t rely on the
Michigan Fireworks Safety Act as an enabling statute, thus a statement that the Act
doesn’t enable novelties regulation may be of no impact.)  Nevertheless, I’ve
drafted the ordinance to regulate novelties only with respect to those generally-
applicable instances mentioned in (2), above, and not to impose any additional
novelties-based restrictions.  
 

(b)              I also included a definition of “national holidays,” based on 5 USC 6103.  While this
is accurate, you may want to consider removing the definition of “national
holidays,” simply because it identifies holidays that are not ordinarily associated
with fireworks activity – e.g., Columbus Day.  The activities would still be permitted
under law, but this may do more to promote the activity, rather than restrict it. 
(For what it’s worth, legislation is currently pending that would further restrict

applicable “fireworks” days to only those days around New Year’s Day and July 4th. 

mailto:KHerald@thrunlaw.com
mailto:Tricia.VanderPloeg@delhitownship.com
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DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP


INGHAM COUNTY, MICHIGAN


FIREWORKS ORDINANCE


ORDINANCE NO. _____


PREAMBLE


AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 6, FIRE PREVENTION AND PROTECTION, TO ADD ARTICLE VII, CONSUMER FIREWORKS, SECTIONS 6-101 THROUGH 6-107 TO THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI; AND TO ESTABLISH AN EFFECTIVE DATE HEREOF.



THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI, INGHAM COUNTY, MICHIGAN, ORDAINS:


SECTION 1.  TITLE.



This ordinance shall be known as the “Delhi Charter Township Consumer Fireworks Ordinance.”


SECTION 2.  


Article VII, Consumer Fireworks, Sections 6-101 through 6-107, is added to Chapter 6 of the Code of Ordinances of the Charter Township of Delhi to read as follows: 

Sec. 6-101.
Definitions. 



The Act means the Michigan Fireworks Safety Act, MCL 28.451, et seq., and any amendments to the Act, which may from time to time be adopted.  


Consumer fireworks means fireworks devices that are designed to produce visible effects by combustion, that are required to comply with the construction, chemical composition, and labeling regulations identified under the Act, and that are listed as provided under the Act.  Consumer fireworks do not include low-impact fireworks or novelties.  


Firework or fireworks means any combustion or device, except for a starting pistol, a flare gun or a flare, designed for the purpose of producing a visible or audible effect by combustion, deflagration, or detonation.  Fireworks consist of consumer fireworks, low-impact fireworks, articles pyrotechnic, display fireworks, and special effects.  Articles pyrotechnic, display fireworks, and special effects are governed by Article VI, Fireworks and Pyrotechnic Programs, of Chapter 6 of the Code of Ordinances of the Charter Township of Delhi. 



Low-impact fireworks means ground and handheld sparkling devices as provided under the Act.  


National holidays as used in this Article VII shall mean: 




New Year's Day, January 1.




Birthday of Martin Luther King, Jr., the third Monday in January.




Washington's Birthday, the third Monday in February. 



Memorial Day, the last Monday in May. 




Independence Day, July 4.




Labor Day, the first Monday in September. 




Columbus Day, the second Monday in October. 




Veterans Day, November 11. 




Thanksgiving Day, the fourth Thursday in November. 




Christmas Day, December 25. 



Novelties means that term as defined under the Act and all of the following: 


(i) Toy plastic or paper caps for toy pistols in sheets, strips, rolls, or individual caps containing not more than .25 of a grain of explosive content per cap, in packages labeled to indicate the maximum explosive content per cap. 


(ii) Toy pistols, toy cannons, toy canes, toy trick noisemakers, and toy guns in which toy caps as described in subparagraph (i) are used, that are constructed to that the hand cannot come in contact with the cap when in place for the explosion, and that are not designed to break apart or be separated so as to form a missile by the explosion. 


(iii) Flitter sparklers in paper tubes not exceeding 1/8 inch in diameter. 


(iv) Toy snakes not containing mercury, if packed in cardboard boxes with not more than 12 pieces per box for retail sale and if the manufacturer's name and the quantity contained in each box are printed on the box; and toy smoke devices.  



Person means an individual, agent, association, charitable organization, company, limited liability company, corporation, labor organization, legal representative, partnership, unincorporated organization, or any other legal or commercial entity. 



Except as otherwise provided, other terms in this Article shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the Act. 


Sec. 6-102.
Ignition, Discharge and Use of Consumer Fireworks.



No person shall ignite, discharge or use consumer fireworks within the Township, except on the day preceding, the day of, or the day after a national holiday. 


Sec. 6-103.
Firework Safety. 



No person shall recklessly endanger the life, health, safety, or well-being of any person by the ignition, discharge, or use of fireworks or novelties. 



Sec. 6-104.
Prohibited Conduct. 



A person who violates any of the following is subject to the penalties provided under the Act: 


(i)
A person shall not ignite, discharge, or use consumer fireworks on public property, school property, church property, or the property of another person without that organization's or person's express permission to use those fireworks on those premises. 



(ii)
A person shall not sell consumer fireworks to an individual who is under the age of 18. 



(iii)
An individual shall not use consumer fireworks or low-impact fireworks while under the influence of alcoholic liquor and/or a controlled substance, as those terms are defined in the Act.   



Sec. 6-105.
Seizure and Cost Recovery. 


Any fireworks or novelties used, discharged, ignited or possessed in violation of the Act or this Article shall be subject to seizure.  A person found guilty of violating the Act or this Article shall be responsible to reimburse the Township for the costs of storing seized fireworks as provided under the Act. 


Sec. 6-106.
Applicability of General Ordinances. 


Nothing in this Article or in the Act shall be construed or interpreted to limit the authority of the Township to enforce ordinances or laws of general applicability at any time or on any day, if the conduct is incidental to the sale, distribution, display, storage, transportation, ignition, discharge or use of fireworks and novelties. 


Sec. 6-107.
Violations, Fines and Penalties. 



Any person who violates Sec. 6-102 or Sec. 6-103 shall be guilty of a misdemeanor, punishable by up to ninety (90) days in jail and/or a fine up to $500.00.  

SECTION 3.  PENALTIES.

All proceedings pending and all rights and liabilities existing or incurred at the time this Ordinance takes effect are saved and may be consummated according to the law in effect when they are commenced.  This Ordinance shall not be construed to affect any prosecution pending or initiated before the effective date of this Ordinance, or initiated after the effective date of this Ordinance for an offense committed before that effective date.


SECTION 4.  SEVERABILITY.

If any section, paragraph, clause, phrase or part of this Ordinance is held invalid by any court of competent jurisdiction, or by any agency, department, or commission empowered by statute for such purpose, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining provisions of this Ordinance, and the application of those provisions to any person or circumstances shall not be affected thereby.


SECTION 5.  EFFECTIVE DATE.

This Ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days after its passage and publication and recording as required by law.









_________________________









C. J. Davis, Supervisor









_________________________









Evan Hope, Clerk



I, Evan Hope, Clerk of the Charter Township of Delhi, do hereby certify that the above is a true action taken by the Delhi Charter Township Board of Trustees as follows:




First Reading:



_________________________




First Publication (Posting)

_________________________




Second Reading:


_________________________




Second Publication (Posting)

_________________________




Effective Date:



_________________________









_________________________









Evan Hope, Clerk
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If passed, you would want to revisit this issue to make appropriate amendments.)
 

(c)              The Act identifies various prohibited conduct that constitutes either a state civil
infraction or crime.  I added that language to further describe the applicable
prohibitions, but also made it clear that violations were subject to the Act and not
the penalties under the ordinance.  If we attempted to also make those
prohibitions a violation of the ordinance, I fear we may run afoul of the prohibition
against regulating use.  (In other words, while the conduct is clearly prohibited by
the Act and subject to state penalties, the Act also suggests that the same conduct
may not be regulated by municipalities.)

(d)              Again, the Act generally allows municipal regulation on the “three days”
surrounding a national holiday.  The Act also makes it a state-level violation to use
fireworks on public property and other identified property without first obtaining
permission from the property owner.  It is probable, but not entirely clear, that the
township can prohibit fireworks-related activity on public property even on the
“three days.”  With that, the township could state in the ordinance that consumer
fireworks are never permissible on township-owned property, but I did not include
such language at this time because: (i) I don’t know if that’s your preference, and
(ii) the Act is not entirely clear, and I didn’t want to highlight the potential issue in
the ordinance language itself.
 

(e)              The Attorney General has opined that “incidental” regulation of fireworks activity is
permissible.  (OAG No. 7266, June 12, 2012).  In that instance, a township
ordinance required a permit for temporary vendors.  The Attorney General
determined that the Act “does not preempt a generally applicable local ordinance
regulated all use of temporary vending facilities because the ordinance has only an
incidental effect on the sale, display, and distribution of fireworks.”  While the
scope of this determination is unknown and likely dependent on the facts of any
particular matter, this leaves the door open to various generally applicable
ordinances only incidentally affecting fireworks activity.  Sections 106-3 and 106-6
are attempts to incorporate that concept on a general level.      
 

Please contact me if you have any questions or concerns regarding the attached document or the
issues raised above.  Thanks!
 
Kirk C. Herald, Attorney
Thrun Law Firm, P.C.
Phone 517.374.8819 - Fax 517.484.0081
kherald@thrunlaw.com – www.thrunlaw.com
 
P.O. Box 2575
East Lansing, MI 48826
For deliveries only:
2900 West Road, Suite 400
East Lansing, MI 48823

mailto:kherald@thrunlaw.com
http://www.thrunlaw.com/


DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

 
 
TO:  Delhi Township Board Members 
 
FROM: John B. Elsinga, Township Manager 
 
DATE: May 1, 2013 
 
RE: Resolution No. 2013-009 – Application for Industrial Facilities Tax 

(IFT) Exemption Certificate – Scitex, LLC 
 
 
Enclosed for your review and consideration is Resolution No. 2013-009 which 
would approve the Application for Industrial Facilities Tax (IFT) Exemption for 
Scitex, LLC for their building located at 2046 Depot Street.   This application is 
for $350,000 in new personal property and will result in the creation of two new 
jobs in Delhi Township. 
 
A public hearing has been scheduled for May 7, 2013 at 7:45 p.m. and a Notice 
of Hearing was mailed certified to all legislative bodies of each taxing unit that 
levies ad valorem property taxes within Delhi Township and gives them the 
opportunity for comments on the application during the public hearing. 
 
Therefore, subsequent to the public hearing, I recommend the Board approve the 
IFT application for Scitex, LLC. 
 
 
Recommended Motion: 
 
To adopt Resolution No. 2013-009 which approves the 
Application for Industrial Facilities Tax (IFT) Abatement 
Certificate for Scitex, LLC. 

Amy
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Delhi Charter Township  
Department of Community Development 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 

 

 
TO:  John B. Elsinga, Township Manager 
  Board of Trustees 
 
FROM:  Tracy L.C. Miller, Director of Community Development 
 
DATE:  Wednesday, May 01, 2013 
 
RE:  Scitex, LLC – Application for Tax Abatement (PA 198) 
 
Scitex, LLC is located on Depot Street and operates under the name Trick Titanium.  The 
company manufactures high quality titanium high performance components and racing.  The 
company was formed in 2008 through the combination of Trick Titanium and Stealth 
Engineering & Technologies.  Scitex, LLC is owned by Michael Miller. More about the company 
and its operations can be found on their website at tricktitanium.com.  I would encourage you 
to visit the website and learn more about this interesting and unique company. 
 
Scitex, LLC has requested tax abatement pursuant to Public Act 198 of 1974.  They plan to 
acquire four new pieces of equipment used in their processes.  The total investment for this 
equipment is $350,000. As you are aware, 198 Abatement provides an approximate 50% tax 
abatement on the new personal property for a period of 12 years after construction. The 
Township, other taxing jurisdictions and the DDA, will continue to collect the un-abated portion 
of the newly generated tax revenue.  The abatement for Scitex, LLC is expected to represent an 
incentive of approximately $55,000 to the company over the 12 year time period and will help 
them to make the required investment.  The company also expects to add two new positions as 
a result of this investment. 
 
The required public hearing for this application has been scheduled for the May 7th Board 
meeting.  After the hearing, I would recommend that the Board take action to approve the 
application.  Assuming that occurs, I will finalize the required paperwork, including the required 
Abatement Agreement, and submit it to the State of Michigan for their final approval.  As 
always, if you have any questions or need additional information, please don’t hesitate to ask.  
Thank you! 
 

http://tricktitanium.com/�
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DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2013-009 
 

A Resolution to Approve the Application of Scitex, LCC for 
Industrial Facilities Exemption Certificate. 

 
At a Regular Meeting of the Township Board of Trustees, of the Charter Township of 

Delhi, Ingham County, Michigan, held at the Community Services Center, 2074 Aurelius Road, 
Holt, Michigan on Tuesday, the 7th day of May, 2013, at 7:30 p.m. 

 
PRESENT:  
 
ABSENT:  
 
The following Resolution was offered by______________. 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to 1974 PA 198, as amended, the Township Board created an 

Industrial Development District (the "Industrial Development District”), with boundaries as 
outlined in Exhibit A of Resolution No. 2007-036 which includes the property at 2046 Depot 
Street, Holt, MI 48842; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Township Clerk received an Application (the “Application”) for an 

Industrial Facilities Exemption Certificate from Scitex, LCC (the "Applicant") on April 4, 2013 
with respect to personal property improvements described in the Application (the "Facility") to 
be acquired and installed within the Industrial Development District; and 

 
WHEREAS, before acting on the Application, the Township Board held a hearing on 

May 7, 2013 at the Community Services Center, at 7:45 p.m., for which hearing the Applicant, 
the Township Assessor, the public and a representative of each of the affected taxing units 
were given written notice, and at which hearing were afforded an opportunity to be heard on 
the Application; and 

 
WHEREAS, acquisition and installation of the Facility is anticipated to have the 

reasonable likelihood to retain, create or prevent the loss of employment in Delhi Charter 
Township; and 

 
WHEREAS, the aggregate SEV of real and personal property exempt from ad 

valorem taxes within Delhi Charter Township, after granting this exemption, will exceed 5% 
of an amount equal to the sum of the SEV of Delhi Charter Township, plus the SEV of 
personal and real property thus exempted. 

  
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED; 

 
1.     The Township Board finds and determines that: 
 

a. The granting of the Application under Public Act 198 of 1974, 
as amended, together with the aggregate amount of Industrial 
Facilities Tax Exemption Certificates previously granted and 



 
2 

currently in force under Act No. 198 of the Public Acts of 1974 and 
Act No. 255 of the Public Acts of 1978, shall not have the effect of 
substantially impeding the operation of Delhi Charter Township, or 
impairing the financial soundness of a taxing unit which levies ad 
valorem property taxes in Delhi Charter Township. 

 
2. The Application for Industrial Facilities Tax Exemption for Facilities to be 

acquired and installed on the parcel of real property described in the 
Application and situated within the Industrial Development District is 
hereby approved. 

 
3. The Industrial Facilities Tax Exemption granted pursuant to PA 198 of 

1974, as amended, shall be for a period of twelve (12) years, plus up to 
two (2) years construction/acquisition. 

 
4. Subject to the condition that any written agreements, assurances, and 

representations otherwise made by the Applicant to Delhi Charter 
Township concerning the Facility and the taxation thereof are not thereby 
superseded, the Township Clerk is hereby authorized to execute 
agreements and such other certificates, instruments, and papers 
necessary or convenient to effectuate the Industrial Facilities Tax 
Exemption, including enabling the Applicant to correct inadvertent errors in 
the Application prior to its submission to the State of Michigan. 

 
AYES:  
 
ABSENT:   
 
The foregoing Resolution declared adopted on the date written above. 
 
        

  _______________________________ 
  Evan Hope, Township Clerk   
 
STATE OF MICHIGAN } 
 }ss 
COUNTY OF INGHAM } 
 
 
 
I, the undersigned, the duly qualified Clerk of the Charter Township of Delhi, 

Ingham County, Michigan, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and 
complete copy of the proceedings taken by the Township Board at a regular meeting 
held on the 7th day of May, 2013. 
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IN WITNESS THEREOF, I have hereunto affixed my official signature this ____ 
day of May, 2013. 
   
 
 
 ________________________________ 
 Evan Hope, Township Clerk 







XG Sciences, Inc. -  ESTIMATE OF POTENTIAL IFT BENEFIT 5/1/2013

Est. New Investment: Millage Rate Assumptions:
Real Property $0 Real Property  Personal Property
Personal Property $350,000 IFT Rate: 35.51755  IFT Rate: 20.859

Non-IFT Rate: 65.0351  Non-IFT Rate: 41.0351

Abatement Year 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Est. Real Property Value (SEV) $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Est. Personal Property Value (SEV) $315,000 $296,100 $278,334 $261,634 $245,936 $231,180 $217,309 $204,270 $192,014 $180,493 $169,664 $159,484
Total SEV $315,000 $296,100 $278,334 $261,634 $245,936 $231,180 $217,309 $204,270 $192,014 $180,493 $169,664 $159,484

Est. Tax with no IFT
     Real Property $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
     Personal Property $12,926 $12,150 $11,421 $10,736 $10,092 $9,486 $8,917 $8,382 $7,879 $7,407 $6,962 $6,544
Est. Tax with IFT
     Real Property $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
     Personal Property $6,571 $6,176 $5,806 $5,457 $5,130 $4,822 $4,533 $4,261 $4,005 $3,765 $3,539 $3,327
Est. Tax Incentive Provided 
(difference) $6,355 $5,974 $5,616 $5,279 $4,962 $4,664 $4,384 $4,121 $3,874 $3,642 $3,423 $3,218

Total Est. Value of IFT Incentive*: $55,513

*Assumptions Used in Above Calculations:
1.  Personal property (PP) is depreciated by 6% per year for the duration of the abatement period and comes on the roll at 90%.  
2.  Real property (RP) will increase in value by 1% per year.

4.  All numbers and calculations above are estimates only and should not be used by anyone for financial planning or other similar purposes. The figures contain multiple variables that can and will change the outcome of 
the estimates.
5.  The above information is not an implication or contract that the tax savings represented above will be achieved or provided by the Township or the State of Michigan.

3.  The millage rate is assumed to remain constant over the duration of the abatement, which it will not. Also, beginning in 2010, the new MBT specifies that industrial personal property is exempt from the State Ed. Tax 
and local school operating.

6.  That the full value of the "facility" will be on the tax rolls by Dec. 31, 2012, which may or may not be the case.  2 years is allowed for construction.



DELHI CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

 
 
TO:  Delhi Township Board Members 
 
FROM: John B. Elsinga, Township Manager 
 
DATE: April 30, 2013 
 
RE: Audited Financial Statements for Fiscal Year ending December 31, 

2012 
 
 
Enclosed for your review and consideration are the audited Financial Statements 
for Fiscal Year ending December 31, 2012. 
 
Our Auditors, Maner Costerisan, will make a formal presentation to the Township 
Board at the May 7, 2013 meeting and respond to any questions. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED MOTION: 
 
To accept Delhi Charter Township’s audited Financial 
Statements for Fiscal Year ending December 31, 2012. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
To the Board of Trustees 
Charter Township of Delhi 
State of Michigan 
 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, the discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of the Charter Township of Delhi, State of Michigan as of and for the year 
ended December 31, 2012, which collectively comprise the Township’s basic financial statements as 
listed in the table of contents, and the related notes to the financial statements. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
 Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.  We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.  Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. 
 
 An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 
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 We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinions. 
 
Opinions 
 
 In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the discretely 
presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Charter 
Township of Delhi, as of December 31, 2012, and the respective changes in financial position and, where 
applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Emphasis of Matter - Change in Accounting Principle 
 
 As discussed in Note 15 to the financial statements, the Charter Township of Delhi implemented 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 62, Codification of Accounting and Financial 
Reporting Guidance Contained in Pre-November 30, 1989, FASB and AICPA Pronouncements, and 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 63, Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows 
of Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Position and Statement No. 65, Items Previously 
Reported as Assets and Liabilities.  Our opinion is not modified with respect to that matter. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
management’s discussion and analysis and budgetary comparison information, as identified in the table of 
contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such information, although not a part 
of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who 
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an 
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  We have applied certain limited procedures to 
the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the 
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our 
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic 
financial statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because 
the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any 
assurance. 
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Other Information - Additional Supplementary Information 
 
 Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the Charter Township of Delhi’s financial statements taken as a whole.  The 
additional supplementary information as identified in the table of contents is presented for purposes of 
additional analysis and is not a required part of the financial statements.  The schedule of expenditures of 
federal awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by U.S. Office of Management 
and Budget Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations, and is 
also not a required part of the basic financial statements.  The additional supplementary information and 
the schedule of expenditures of federal awards are the responsibility of management and were derived 
from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial 
statements.  The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 
financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such 
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial 
statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  In our opinion, the information is 
fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the financial statements as a whole. 
 
Other Information - Statistical Section 
 
 The statistical section has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 
basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on it. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
  
 In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated April 
15, 2013, on our consideration of Charter Township of Delhi and Charter Township of Delhi’s internal 
control over financial reporting and on our tests of compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters.  The purpose of that report is to describe 
the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that 
testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That 
report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in 
considering Charter Township of Delhi and Charter Township of Delhi’s internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
April 15, 2013 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
 
As management of Delhi Charter Township, Michigan, we offer readers of the Township’s financial 
statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the Township for the fiscal year 
ended December 31, 2012. 
 
Financial Highlights 
 

 The primary government assets of the Township exceeded its liabilities and deferred 
outflows at the close of the most recent fiscal year by $49,674,289 (net position).  Of this 
amount, $7,063,144 is unrestricted and may be used to meet the government’s ongoing 
obligations to citizens and creditors. 

 
 The Township’s governmental activities net position increased by $1,326,683.   
 
 The Township’s business-type activity net position decreased by $1,049,667. 
 
 As of the close of the current fiscal year, the Township’s governmental funds reported 

combined ending fund balances of $6,082,892, an increase of $1,406,686 in comparison with 
the prior year.  Approximately 86% of this total amount, or $5,204,441, is available for 
spending at the government’s discretion (unassigned fund balance). 

 
 At the end of the current year, unassigned fund balance for the General Fund was $5,236,188 

or 81 percent of total general fund expenditures and other financing uses. 
 
 The primary government total bonded debt increased by a net $4,349,865 during the current 

fiscal year; $5,293,462 in new bonded debt was issued and $943,597 of existing debt was 
retired.  The Township issued new revenue bonds in the Sewer Fund for the Lift Station D 
project of $5,293,462. 

 
Overview of the Financial Statements 
 
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the Township’s basic financial 
statements.  The Township’s basic financial statements comprise three components: 1) government wide 
financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements.  This report also 
contains required supplementary information and additional supplementary information in addition to the 
basic financial statements themselves. 
 
Government wide financial statements.  The government wide financial statements are designed to provide 
readers with a broad overview of the Township’s finances, in a manner similar to a private sector business. 
 
The statement of net position presents information on all of the Township’s assets, liabilities and deferred 
inflows, with the difference reported as net position.  Over time, increases or decreases in net position may 
serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the Township is improving or deteriorating. 
 
The statement of activities presents information showing how the government’s net position changed during 
the most recent year.  All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to 
the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  Thus, revenues and expenses are reported 
in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., earned but 
unused vacation leave). 
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Both of the government wide financial statements distinguish functions of the Township that are principally 
supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are 
intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type 
activities).  The governmental activities of the Township include general government, public safety, public 
works, community and economic development, and recreation and culture.  The business-type activities of 
the Township include sewer operations. 
 
The government wide financial statements include not only the Township itself (known as the primary 
government), but also two legally separate authorities - the Downtown Development Authority and the 
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority - for which the Township is financially accountable.  Financial 
information for these component units are reported separately from the financial information presented for 
the primary government itself.  
 
The government wide financial statements can be found on pages 26 - 27 of this report. 
 
Fund financial statements.  A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over 
resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives.  The Township, like other state and 
local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal 
requirements.  All of the funds of the Township can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, 
proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds. 
 
Governmental funds.  Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as 
governmental activities in the government wide financial statements.  However, unlike the government wide 
financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near term inflows and outflows of 
spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year.  
Such information may be useful in evaluating a government’s near-term financing requirements. 
 
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government wide financial statements, 
it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented 
for governmental activities in the government wide financial statements.  By doing so, readers may better 
understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing decisions.  Both the governmental 
fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund 
balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and governmental 
activities. 
 
The Township maintains five individual governmental funds.  Information is presented separately in the 
governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and 
changes in fund balances for the General Fund, Fire Fund, and Police Fund, which are the Township’s three 
major governmental funds.  Data from the other two governmental funds are combined into a single, 
aggregated presentation.  Individual fund data for each of these nonmajor governmental funds is provided in 
the form of combining statements elsewhere in this report. 
 
The Township adopts an annual appropriated budget for its general and special revenue funds.  Budgetary 
comparison statements or schedules have been provided herein to demonstrate compliance with those 
budgets. 
 
The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 29 - 32 of this report. 
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Proprietary funds.  There are two types of proprietary funds - enterprise and internal service.  Enterprise 
funds are used to report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government wide 
financial statements.  The Township has an enterprise fund to account for its sanitary sewer operations.  
Internal service funds are an accounting device used to accumulate and allocate costs internally among the 
Township’s various functions.  The primary government of the Township does not use internal service funds 
at this time. 
 
Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government wide financial statements, only in 
more detail.  The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 34 - 38 of this report. 
 
Fiduciary funds.  Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the 
government.  Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government wide financial statements because the 
resources of those funds are not available to support the Township’s own programs.  The accounting used for 
fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds. 
 
The basic fiduciary fund financial statements can be found on pages 40 - 41 of this report. 
 
Notes to the financial statements.  The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full 
understanding of the data provided in the government wide and fund financial statements.  The notes to the 
financial statements can be found on pages 42 - 71 of this report. 
 
Other information.  In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also 
presents certain required and additional supplementary information.  The combining statements referred to 
earlier in connection with nonmajor governmental funds are presented immediately following the required 
supplementary information.  Combining and individual fund statements and schedules can be found on pages 
79 - 100 of this report. 
 
Government wide Financial Analysis 
As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position.  
In the case of Delhi Charter Township, assets exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows of resources by 
$49,674,289 at the close of the most recent year. 
 
By far the largest portion of the Township’s net position (81 percent) reflects its investment in capital assets 
(e.g. infrastructure, land, buildings, equipment, and vehicles net of accumulated depreciation), less any 
related debt used to acquire those assets that are still outstanding.  The Township uses these capital assets to 
provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending.  Although the 
Township’s investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the 
resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves 
cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.  
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Charter Township of Delhi’s Net Position

Business-type Activities Total
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

Current and other assets 11,867,633$  10,650,745$  4,455,411$    4,378,773$    16,323,044$  15,029,518$  
Capital assets, net 12,187,251    12,472,600    52,830,033    50,170,866    65,017,284    62,643,466    

Total assets 24,054,884    23,123,345    57,285,444    54,549,639    81,340,328    77,672,984    

Current liabilities 704,283         824,162         900,742         758,410         1,605,025      1,582,572      
Noncurrent liabilities 3,249,368      3,373,661      21,904,458    18,261,318    25,153,826    21,634,979    

Total liabilities 3,953,651      4,197,823      22,805,200    19,019,728    26,758,851    23,217,551    

Def. Inflows of Resources 4,907,188      5,058,160      -                     -                     4,907,188      5,058,160      

Net postion:
Net investment in capital assets 9,338,276      9,499,227      30,925,575    31,872,403    40,263,851    41,371,630    

Restricted 360,521         321,446         1,986,773      2,131,149      2,347,294      2,452,595      

Unrestricted 5,495,248      4,046,689      1,567,896      1,526,359      7,063,144      5,573,048      

Total Net Position 15,194,045$  13,867,362$  34,480,244$  35,529,911$  49,674,289$  49,397,273$  

Governmental Activities

 
At the end of the current fiscal year, the Township is able to report positive balances in all three categories of 
net position, both for the government as a whole, as well as for its separate governmental and business-type 
activities.  The same situation held true for the prior fiscal year. 
 
Primary government net position increased by $277,016 during the current fiscal year.  This was a 
combination of net position increasing by $1,326,683 in Governmental Activities and decreasing by 
$1,049,667 in the Business-type Activities.   
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Charter Township of Delhi’s Changes in Net Position

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

Revenue:
Program revenues:

Charges for services 2,581,660$    2,578,222$    5,282,019$    5,116,198$    7,863,679$    7,694,420$    
Operating grants and contributions 478,110         422,216         -                     10,069           478,110         432,285         
Capital grants and contributions 217,544         109,207         -                     31,475           217,544         140,682         

General revenues:   
Property taxes 5,131,573      5,393,489      -                     -                     5,131,573      5,393,489      
State shared revenue 1,913,989      1,888,513      -                     -                     1,913,989      1,888,513      
Unrestricted grants and  

contributions 226,239         324,964         55,050           226,239         380,014         
Other 9,694             16,439           15,264           24,339           24,958           40,778           

 
Total revenues 10,558,809    10,733,050    5,297,283      5,237,131      15,856,092    15,970,181    

 
Expenses:   
General government 2,219,150      2,087,161      -                     -                     2,219,150      2,087,161      
Public safety 4,667,246      4,430,295      -                     -                     4,667,246      4,430,295      
Public works 816,169         702,532         -                     -                     816,169         702,532         
Recreation and culture 944,672         935,756         -                     -                     944,672         935,756         
Interest on long-term debt 27,004           44,563           -                     -                     27,004           44,563           
Sewer -                     -                     6,346,950      6,161,026      6,346,950      6,161,026      
Community & economic development 557,885         613,856         -                     -                     557,885         613,856         

 
Total expenses 9,232,126      8,814,163      6,346,950      6,161,026      15,579,076    14,975,189    

-                    -                   
Increase (decrease) in net position 1,326,683      1,918,887      (1,049,667)     (923,895)        277,016         994,992         
Net position -beginning of year 13,867,362    11,948,475    35,529,911    36,453,806    49,397,273    48,402,281    
Net position - end of year 15,194,045$  13,867,362$  34,480,244$  35,529,911$  49,674,289$  49,397,273$  

 
 
Governmental activities.  Governmental activities increased the Township’s net position by $1,326,683 
during 2012.  Key elements of this net increase are: 
 

 An increase in State revenue sharing and the remainder of the State grant for construction of 
the Valhalla Park pavilion. 
 

 A one-time reduction of over $101,000 for a drain assessment payment. 
 

 Capital outlay purchases of fiber optic connection, window treatment improvements, and 
vehicles were delayed until 2013. 
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Expenses and Program Revenues - Governmental Activities for the year ended December 31, 2012 
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Revenues by Source - Governmental Activities for the year ended December 31, 2012 
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Business - type activities.  Business - type activities decreased the Township’s net position by $1,049,667 
during 2012, due to the basic service charge rates not being enough to cover all the operating and 
nonoperating costs, including the cost of depreciation. 
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Expenses and Program Revenues - Business - type Activities for the year ended December 31, 2012 
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Revenues by Source - Business type Activities  
 
Almost 100% of business type activities revenue comes from charges for services related to sewer 
operations. 
 
Financial Analysis of the Government’s Funds 
 
As noted earlier, the Township uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-
related legal requirements. 
 
Governmental funds.  The focus of the Township’s governmental funds is to provide information on near 
term inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources.  Such information is useful in assessing the 
Township’s financing requirements.  In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of 
a government’s net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. 
 
As of the end of the current fiscal year, the Township’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund 
balances of $6,082,892, an increase of $1,406,686 in comparison with the prior year.  Almost 86 percent of 
this total amount constitutes unassigned fund balance, which is available for spending at the government’s 
discretion.  The remainder of fund balance is either nonspendable, restricted, or committed to indicate that it 
is not available for general spending because it has already been established as nonspendable, such as for 
prepaids, or is restricted/committed for specific activities. 
 
The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the Township.  At the end of the current year, unassigned 
fund balance of the general fund was $5,236,188 while total fund balance was $5,383,510.  As a measure of 
the general fund’s liquidity, it may be useful to compare both unassigned fund balance and total fund balance 
to total fund expenditures and other financing uses.  Unassigned fund balance represents 81 percent of total 
general fund expenditures and other financing uses while total fund balance is 84 percent of total general 
fund expenditures and other financing uses. 
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The fund balance in the Township’s General Fund increased by $1,406,342 during the current year.  Overall, 
compared to 2011, expenditures, including transfers out, increased $615,327 and revenues and other 
financing sources decreased by $158,538.  Key factors for this are:  
 

 Decline in property values and Michigan Tax Tribunal decisions resulted in a decrease in tax 
revenue of approximately $145,000. 

 Grants and revenue sharing increased by approximately $111,000. 
 There was no sale of fixed assets, compared to $100,089 in 2011. 
 The general governmental departments spent $36,098 more than originally budgeted.  

Decreases in most departments were offset by increases in the elections and assessing 
departments.  There were more elections in 2012.  The assessing department replaced a part 
time position with a full time position, and had increased legal fees due to Michigan Tax 
Tribunal cases. 

 The other functions department increased by $328,048, due to increased transfers to the 
Police and Fire Funds and refunds of previous years’ tax revenues as the result of Michigan 
Tax Tribunal judgments. 

 Parks and Recreation expenditures increased by $175,269, due to the completion of the 
Valhalla park pavilion. 

 
Proprietary funds.  The Township’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the 
government wide financial statements, but in more detail. 
 
Total net position of the Sewer Fund at the end of the year amounted to $34,480,244; a decrease for the year 
of $1,049,667.  Other factors concerning the finances of this fund have already been addressed in the 
discussion of the Township’s business-type activities. 
 
General Fund Budgetary Highlights 
 
During the year there was a net increase of $340,075 (5%) in appropriations (including operating transfers 
out) between the original and final amended budget.  The completion of a new pavilion at Valhalla Park, a 
street improvement, and tax adjustments to the County resulted in $447,780 of increases.  Decreases in the 
budgets of other departments offset the majority of those increases.  Other increases and decreases worth 
noting were: 
 

 An increase of $22,000 for repairing a house for the Neighborhood Stabilization Program. 
 An increase of $22,500 for Assessing Department legal fees needed to assist in Michigan 

Tax Tribunal cases. 
 Increased transfer out of $33,990 to the Police Fund, as the Township began funding the 

school resource officer at 100% in August of 2012, instead splitting the cost with Holt Public 
Schools. 

 Decrease in capital outlay due to delaying expenditures, as mentioned previously. 
 In community and economic development a house was purchased as part of the 

Neighborhood Stabilization Program, with the expectation that it would be sold in 2012.  
The closing was in 2013, thus the expenditures were capitalized. 
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Additionally, budgeted revenues (including other financing sources) increased by approximately $390,700 as 
follows: 
 

 An increase of $406,800 in intergovernmental revenue due to the increase in revenue sharing 
and grants. 

 An increase of $36,800 in other revenue due to new street and sidewalk special assessments. 
 The increases were offset by approximately $21,000 decrease in current property taxes, due 

not only to current decline of property values, but also from Michigan Tax Tribunal 
judgments which required refunding of taxes collected in the current and previous years. 

 
Fire Fund and Police Fund 
 
These two funds account for a voter approved millage, which partially covers the costs of providing fire and 
police services to the Township.  These funds had total revenues of $1,348,642 and $1,160,187 respectively, 
and $1,825,444 and $2,308,841 in expenditures respectively.  The Fire and Police Funds had restricted 
property tax revenues of $1,069,684 in each fund.  Total revenues in these funds were not sufficient to fully 
fund fire and police operations, so therefore, the General Fund had to transfer $476,802 and $1,148,654 
respectively into the Fire and Police funds to cover the remaining operating expenditures. 
 
Capital Asset and Debt Administration 
 
Capital assets.  The Township’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business type activities 
as of December 31, 2012, amounted to $65,017,284 (net of accumulated depreciation).  This investment in 
capital assets includes land, land improvements, infrastructure, buildings and improvements, park and 
recreation facilities, machinery and equipment and construction in progress.  The total net increase in the 
Township’s investment in capital assets for the current fiscal year was less than 4 percent due to the Lift 
Station D project construction. 
 
Major capital asset acquisitions during the fiscal year included the following: 
 

 2012 costs for the completion of the Valhalla Park pavilion were $246,240. 
 In the Sewer Fund, $5,251,328 was added to Construction in Progress for the Lift Station D 

project. 
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Charter Township of Delhi's Capital Assets

(net of depreciation)

Governmental Activities Business Type Activities Total
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

Land/Monuments 2,010,991$        2,010,991$        806,335$           806,335$           2,817,326$        2,817,326$        
Infrastructure 708,548             813,665             25,555,030        26,606,807        26,263,578        27,420,472        
Flowage rights 2,346,786          2,313,906          -                        -                        2,346,786          2,313,906          
Buildings and improvements 4,804,183          4,591,728          17,687,026        18,558,087        22,491,209        23,149,815        
Land improvements 1,221,759          1,375,242          375,892             408,031             1,597,651          1,783,273          
Machinery and equipment 355,356             396,047             136,857             173,547             492,213             569,594             
Furniture and office equipment 24,198               35,976               10,226               16,349               34,424               52,325               
Computer equipment and programs 17,587               46,326               10,913               22,846               28,500               69,172               
Vehicles 424,377             589,527             182,249             246,464             606,626             835,991             
Construction in progress 273,466             299,192             8,065,505          3,332,400          8,338,971          3,631,592          

Total 12,187,251$      12,472,600$     52,830,033$     50,170,866$     65,017,284$      62,643,466$     

 
 
Additional information on the Township’s capital assets can be found in note 4 on pages 58 - 60 of this 
report. 
 
Long - term debt.  At the end of the current fiscal year, the primary government of the Township had total 
debt outstanding of $25,513,826.   
 

Delhi Charter Township's Outstanding Debt

Governmental Activities Business Type Activities Total
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

General obligation bonds 653,514$         711,789$         5,871,126$        6,316,448$        6,524,640$         7,028,237$        
Revenue bonds -                  -                  16,033,332        11,179,870        16,033,332         11,179,870        
Other long-term debt 2,595,854        2,661,872        -                     765,000             2,595,854           3,426,872          

Total 3,249,368$      3,373,661$      21,904,458$      18,261,318$      25,153,826$       21,634,979$      

 
 
The Township’s total bonded debt increased by a net of $4,349,865 (24 percent), up to $22,557,973 during 
2012.  Payments of $943,597 were made that reduced the bonded debt.  However, $5,293,462 additional 
bonds were added as a result of the Township’s participation in a State Revolving Fund low interest loan 
program. 
 
The Township has an “AA-” rating from Standard & Poor’s.  This is one of the highest ratings and reflects a 
strong capacity to repay the debt. 
 
State statutes limit the amount of general obligation debt a governmental entity may issue to 10 percent of its 
total assessed valuation.  The current debt limitation for the Township is $71,302,823, which is significantly 
in excess of the Township’s and Downtown Development Authority’s outstanding general obligation debt of 
$18,250,045. 
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Additional information on the Township’s long-term debt can be found in note 6 on pages 61 - 65 of this 
report. 
 
Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets and Rates 
 
The following factors were considered in preparing the Township’s budget for the 2013 fiscal year: 
 

 The emphasis on reducing costs while providing quality services to our citizens continued 
to be a major consideration in the 2013 budget development. 

 
 Contain health care costs by continuation of the Township’s high deductible health plan 

with the phasing down of employer contributions to employees’ health savings accounts 
(H.S.A.) while encouraging employee contributions into their HSAs. 

 
 Minimize capital purchases and infrastructure investments based upon need. 
 
 Continue to assess staffing needs whenever a vacancy occurs, while continuing to cross 

train staff for organizational effectiveness & efficiency. 
 
 Throughout its 25 year history the Downtown Development Authority has been able to 

support many improvements.  Their revenue is declining, thus the Township will no 
longer receive its support and will need to absorb some of the operational expenditures.  
This will invariably result in future decreases in fund balance. 
 

During the current fiscal year, unassigned fund balance in the General Fund increased to $5,236,188.  The 
Township has projected revenues to exceed expenditures in 2013 by $312,350 thereby potentially 
increasing unreserved fund balance to $5,548,538.  Our goal is to maintain a fund balance averaging 
between three and six months of operating expenditures. 
 
 
Requests for Information 
 
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Township’s finances for all those 
with an interest in the government’s finances.  Questions concerning any of the information provided in 
this report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to the Township 
Manager’s Office, 2074 Aurelius Road, Holt, MI 48842. 
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Governmental 
activities

Business-type 
activities Total

Downtown 
Development 

Authority

Brownfield 
Redevelopment 

Authority

ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents 4,839,237$          61,575$               4,900,812$          1,453,533$          10,451$               
Investments 866,425              226,801              1,093,226            474                     -                          
Receivables 6,013,626           2,089,708           8,103,334            2,719,477           145,727              
Property held for resale 60,542 -                           60,542                 -                          -                          
Prepaids and other assets 87,803                35,177                122,980               30,851                -                          
Restricted assets:

Cash and cash equivalents -                          1,329,331           1,329,331            -                          -                          
Investments -                          657,442              657,442               -                          -                          

Unamortized bond discount -                          55,377                55,377                 -                          -                          
Capital assets not being depreciated 2,284,457           8,871,840           11,156,297          4,889,564           -                          
Capital assets being depreciated, net 9,902,794 43,958,193         53,860,987          5,502,944 -                          

TOTAL ASSETS 24,054,884         57,285,444         81,340,328          14,596,843         156,178              

LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 703,493              900,742              1,604,235            1,672,427           30                       
Unearned revenue 790                     -                           790                      -                          -                          
Long-term liabilities:

Due within one year 349,071              1,237,496           1,586,567            1,079,969           -                          
Due in more than one year 2,900,297           20,666,962         23,567,259          8,459,464           -                          

TOTAL  LIABILITIES 3,953,651           22,805,200         26,758,851          11,211,860         30                       

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES:
Unavailable revenue - property taxes 4,907,188           -                           4,907,188            1,630,229           145,641              

NET POSITION:
Net investment in capital assets 9,338,276           30,925,575         40,263,851          862,564              -                          
Restricted for fire equipment, training and apparatus 330,172              -                           330,172               -                          -                          
Restricted for neighborhood stabilization plan 30,349                -                           30,349                 -                          -                          
Restricted for debt service -                          1,045,473           1,045,473            -                          -                          
Restricted for replacement -                          941,300              941,300               -                          -                          
Unrestricted 5,495,248           1,567,896           7,063,144            892,190              10,507                

TOTAL NET POSITION 15,194,045$        34,480,244$        49,674,289$        1,754,754$          10,507$               

Primary government Component units
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Functions/programs Expenses
Charges for 

services

Operating 
grants and 

contributions

Capital grants 
and 

contributions
Governmental 

activities
Business-type 

activities Total

Downtown 
Development 

Authority

Brownfield 
Redevelopment 

Authority
Primary government:

Governmental activities:
General government 2,219,150$    929,505$    -$                  -$                  (1,289,645)$     -$                    (1,289,645)$ -$                  -$                        
Public safety 4,667,246      867,842     282,206        -                   (3,517,198)      -                     (3,517,198)  -                   -                         
Public works 816,169         333,912     -                   88,885         (393,372)         -                     (393,372)     -                   -                         
Community development 557,885         322,069     -                   -                   (235,816)         -                     (235,816)     -                   -                         
Recreation and culture 944,672         128,332     195,904        128,659       (491,777)         -                     (491,777)     -                   -                         
Interest on long-term debt 27,004           -                 -                   -                   (27,004)           -                     (27,004)       -                   -                         

Total governmental activities 9,232,126      2,581,660    478,110          217,544         (5,954,812)        -                       (5,954,812)    -                     -                           

  Business-type activities:
    Sewer 6,346,950      5,282,019  -                   -                   -                       (1,064,931)     (1,064,931)  -                   -                         

Total primary government 15,579,076$  7,863,679$ 478,110$       217,544$      -                       (1,064,931)     (7,019,743)  -                   -                         

Component units:
Brownfield redevelopment 202,411$       -$                 -$                   -$                   -                        -                       -                    -                     (202,411)              
Downtown development 1,703,424      27,765       -                   -                   -                       -                     -                  (1,675,659)   -                         

Total component units 1,905,835$    27,765$      -$                  -$                  -                       -                     -                  (1,675,659)   (202,411)            

General revenues:
  Taxes:
    Property taxes, levied for general purposes 2,992,205       -                     2,992,205    2,119,945     177,588             
    Property taxes, levied for fire 1,069,684       -                     1,069,684    -                   -                         
    Property taxes, levied for police 1,069,684       -                     1,069,684    -                   -                         
State sources 1,913,989       -                     1,913,989    -                   -                         
Unrestricted grants and contributions 226,239          -                     226,239       -                   -                         
Interest 9,694               15,264            24,958         4,849            -                         
Other -                       -                     -                  20,931          -                         

          Total general revenues 7,281,495       15,264            7,296,759    2,145,725     177,588             

Change in net position 1,326,683       (1,049,667)     277,016       470,066        (24,823)              

Net position, beginning of year (as restated) 13,867,362     35,529,911     49,397,273  1,284,688     35,330               

Net position end of year 15,194,045$     34,480,244$     49,674,289$  1,754,754$     10,507$               

Component units

Net (expense) revenue and
changes in net position

Program revenues Primary government
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General Fire fund Police fund 
ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents 4,189,364$ 118,598$    30,448$      500,827$        4,839,237$    
Investments 663,104     -            -             203,321          866,425        
Receivables:

Taxes 2,789,318  1,002,128  1,002,128  347,440          5,141,014     
Special assessments 113,288     -                -                 19,416            132,704        
Other 447,728     5,626         2,624         4                     455,982        

Due from component unit 283,926     -                -                 -                     283,926        
Property held for resale 60,542       -                -                 -                     60,542          
Prepaids 46,431       31,747       -                 1,500              79,678          

TOTAL ASSETS 8,593,701$ 1,158,099$ 1,035,200$ 1,072,508$     11,859,508$  

LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable 470,294$    70,239$      5,481$        10,470$          556,484$       
Accrued liabilities 81,794       58,141       -                 -                     139,935        
Unearned revenue 790            -                -                 -                     790               

TOTAL LIABILITIES 552,878     128,380     5,481         10,470            697,209        

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES:
Unavailable revenue - property taxes 2,504,510  1,029,719  1,029,719  343,240          4,907,188     
Unavailable revenue - ambulance fees 39,515       -                -                 -                     39,515          
Unavailable revenue - special assessments 113,288     -                -                 19,416            132,704        

TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS
OF RESOURCES 2,657,313  1,029,719  1,029,719  362,656          5,079,407     

FUND BALANCES:
Nonspendable: 

Property held for resale 60,542       -                -                 -                     60,542          
Prepaids 46,431       31,747       -                 1,500              79,678          

Restricted:
For fire equipment, training and  apparatus -                -                -                 330,172          330,172        
For neighborhood stabilization plan 30,349       -                -                 -                     30,349          

Committed:
For debt service -                -                -                 307,040          307,040        
For water improvement -                -                -                 60,670            60,670          
For disaster contingency fund 10,000       -                -                 -                     10,000          

Unassigned 5,236,188  (31,747)     -                 -                     5,204,441     

TOTAL FUND BALANCES 5,383,510  -                -                 699,382          6,082,892     

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED 
INFLOWS  OF RESOURCES, 
AND FUND BALANCES 8,593,701$ 1,158,099$ 1,035,200$ 1,072,508$     11,859,508$  

Special revenue funds
Total 

nonmajor  
funds

Total 
governmental 

funds



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI 
RECONCILIATION OF FUND BALANCES ON THE BALANCE SHEET FOR 

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
TO NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES ON THE 

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 

 
 

The notes to the financial statements are 
  an integral part of this statement. 30 

Total governmental fund balances 6,082,892$   

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of 
net position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not 
financial resources and, therefore, are not reported in the funds:

Capital assets not being depreciated 2,284,457$ 
Capital assets being depreciated, net 9,902,794

12,187,251   
Because the focus of governmental funds is on short-term
financing, some assets will not be available to pay for  
current-period expenditures.  Those assets (such as certain 
receivables) are offset by unearned revenues in the government 
funds, and thus are not included in fund balance:

Unavailable revenue expected to be collected after March 1, 2013 172,219

Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable,  are not due and
payable in the current period and, therefore, are not reported 
in the funds:

General obligation debt (2,858,784)    
Bond discount, net of accumulated amortization 8,125            
Compensated absences (390,584)       
Accrued interest (7,074)           

Net position of governmental activities 15,194,045$ 
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General Fire fund Police fund
REVENUES:

Taxes 2,638,206$ 1,069,684$ 1,069,684$ 353,999$       5,131,573$    

Special assessments 353,961      -                  -                  14,699           368,660         

Intergovernmental 2,286,342   85,776        -                  500                2,372,618      

Licenses and permits 181,376      -                  -                  -                     181,376         

Charges for services 1,896,094   -                  31,689        14,750           1,942,533      

Interest 8,421          -                  -                  1,273             9,694             

Other 481,970      193,182      58,814        -                     733,966         

Total revenue 7,846,370   1,348,642   1,160,187   385,221         10,740,420    

EXPENDITURES:
Current:

General government 2,022,682   -                  -                  -                     2,022,682      

Public safety -                  1,825,444   2,308,841   304,434         4,438,719      

Public works 682,325      -                  -                  4,295             686,620         

Community and economic development 553,021      -                  -                  -                     553,021         

Recreation and culture 746,417      -                  -                  -                     746,417         

Other 386,527      -                  -                  -                     386,527         

Debt service:

Principal 125,490      -                  -                  58,275           183,765         

Interest 8,725          -                  -                  17,873           26,598           

Capital outlay 289,385      -                  -                  -                     289,385         

Total expenditures 4,814,572   1,825,444   2,308,841   384,877         9,333,734      

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES 3,031,798   (476,802)     (1,148,654)  344                1,406,686      

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Transfers in -                  476,802      1,148,654   -                     1,625,456      

Transfers out (1,625,456)  -                  -                  -                     (1,625,456)     

Total other financing 

sources (uses) (1,625,456)  476,802      1,148,654   -                     -                     

Net change in fund balances 1,406,342   -                  -                  344                1,406,686      

FUND BALANCES:
Beginning of year 3,977,168   -                  -                  699,038         4,676,206      

End of year 5,383,510$ -$                -$                699,382$       6,082,892$    

Special revenue funds
Total 

nonmajor  
funds

Total 
governmental 

funds
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Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different
because:

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds 1,406,686$   

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.  However, in the statement of 
activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported 
as depreciation expense: 

Capital outlay 521,289        
Depreciation expense (794,936)       
Realized loss on disposal of capital assets (11,702)         

  Repayments of principal on long-term debt is an expenditure in the governmental funds,
  but not in the statement of activities (where it is a reduction of liabilities):

    Proceeds from issuance of bonds (101,250)       
    Reductions of principal on long-term debt 218,430        
    Amortization of bond discounts (813)              
    Increase in OPEB payable (4,099)           

  Revenue is recorded on the accrual method in the statement of activities; in the 
  governmental funds it is recorded on the modified accrual method and not considered available:

    Accrued revenue beginning of the year - primarily special assessments due in the future (90,760)         
    Accrued revenue end of the year - primarily special assessments due in the future 172,219        

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current 
financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in the governmental funds:

  Accrued interest on bonds is recorded in the statement of activities
  when incurred; it is not recorded in governmental funds until it is paid:

    Accrued interest payable beginning of the year 7,481            
    Accrued interest payable end of the year (7,074)           

  Compensated absences are reported on the accrual method in the statement of activities,
  and recorded as an expenditure when financial resources are used in the governmental funds:

    Accrued compensated absences beginning of the year 401,796        
    Accrued compensated absences end of the year (390,584)       

Change in net position of governmental activities 1,326,683$   
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Business-type 
activities-

Enterprise fund

LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION Sewer fund

CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable 512,506$           
Accrued liabilities 173,881             
Interest payable 139,219             
Retainage payable 75,136               
Current portion of long-term debt 1,237,496          

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,138,238          

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES, net of current portion:
Due in more than one year 20,666,962        

TOTAL LIABILITIES 22,805,200        

NET POSITION:
Net investment in capital assets 30,925,575        
Restricted for:

Replacement 941,300             
Debt service 1,045,473          

Unrestricted 1,567,896          

TOTAL NET POSITION 34,480,244$      
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Business-type 
activities-

Enterprise fund

LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION Sewer fund

CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable 512,506$           
Accrued liabilities 173,881             
Interest payable 139,219             
Retainage payable 75,136               
Current portion of long-term debt 1,237,496          

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,138,238          

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES, net of current portion:
Due in more than one year 20,666,962        

TOTAL LIABILITIES 22,805,200        

NET POSITION:
Net investment in capital assets 30,925,575        
Restricted for:

Replacement 941,300             
Debt service 1,045,473          

Unrestricted 1,567,896          

TOTAL NET POSITION 34,480,244$      
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Business-type 
activities-

Enterprise fund

Sewer fund

OPERATING REVENUES:
Charges for services 5,061,459$        
Permits and fees 53,400               
Other operating revenue 156,063             

Total operating revenues 5,270,922          

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Costs of sales and services 3,569,203          
Depreciation 2,282,607          

 Total operating expenses 5,851,810          

Operating loss (580,888)            

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):
Interest and rentals 26,361               
Amortization of bond discount (30,858)              
Interest expense (464,282)            

Total non-operating revenues (expenses) (468,779)            

Change in net position (1,049,667)         

NET POSITION:
Beginning of year (as restated) 35,529,911        

End of year 34,480,244$      
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Business-type 
activities-

Enterprise fund

Sewer fund
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:

Cash flows from operating activities:
Cash received from customers 4,710,076$        
Cash payments to suppliers for goods and services (1,579,312)         
Cash payments to employees for services (1,333,884)         

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,796,880          

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Purchase of capital assets (5,459,997)         
Proceeds from bonds 5,293,462          
Interest payments (439,314)            
Principal payments (1,650,322)         

Net cash used by capital and 
related financing activities (2,256,171)         

Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from maturities of investments 198,355             
Interest and rental earnings 26,361               

Net cash used by investing activities 224,716             

NET  DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (234,575)            

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:
Beginning of year 1,625,481          

End of year 1,390,906$        
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Business-type 
activities-

Enterprise fund

Sewer fund
RECONCILIATION OF NET OPERATING REVENUES 

(EXPENSE) TO NET CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
PROVIDED (USED) BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Operating loss (580,888)$          
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash

provided (used) by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 2,282,607          
Loss on disposal of equipment 518,223             
(Increase) decrease in assets:

Special assessments receivable (11,833)              
Other receivables (549,013)            
Prepaid expenses 20,420               

Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Accounts payable 143,859             
Accrued expenses 16,987               
Retainage payable (43,482)              

Total adjustments 2,377,768          

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,796,880$        
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Other post 
employement 
benefit trust 

fund
Private 

Purpose Trust
Retireee health 

benefits Cemetery
ASSETS

ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents 1,121,230$      75,895$           14,385,040$    
Accounts receivable -                       -                       6,061               
Taxes receivable -                       -                       15,073,577      

TOTAL ASSETS 1,121,230        75,895             29,464,678      

LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION
 

LIABILITIES:
Due to other governments -                       -                       29,142,595      
Undistributed receipts -                       -                       322,083           

TOTAL LIABILITIES -                       -                       29,464,678      

NET POSITION:
Restricted - funds held in trust for individuals 1,121,230$     75,895$          -$                    

Agency funds
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Other post 
employement 
benefit trust 

fund
Private 

Purpose Trust
Retireee health 

benefits Cemetery

ADDITIONS:
Contributions 382,978$         -$                     
Investment - net 9                      -                       

Total additions 382,987           -                       

DEDUCTIONS:
Distributions 382,978           
Cemetery perpetual care -                       240                  

Total deductions 382,978           240                  

Change in net position 9                      (240)                 

NET POSITION:
  Beginning of year 1,121,221        76,135             

  End of year 1,121,230$      75,895$           
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
A. Description of Government wide Financial Statements 
 

The government wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of 
activities) report information on all of the non-fiduciary activities of the primary government and 
its component units.  Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes and 
intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a 
significant extent on fees and charges for support.  Likewise, the primary government is reported 
separately from its legally separate component units for which the primary government is 
financially accountable. 

 
B. Reporting Entity 

 
The Charter Township of Delhi (Township) is incorporated under the provisions of Act 359, P.A. 
1947 as amended (Charter Township Act) and is located in mid-Michigan.  The Township is 
governed by the Charter Township of Delhi Board of Trustees (the “Board”), which has 
responsibility and control over all activities related to the Township.  The Township provides the 
following services as authorized by its charter; public safety (police and fire), public 
improvements (sewers), planning and zoning, recreation and general administrative services. 
 
The accompanying financial statements present the government and its component units, entities 
for which the government is considered to be financially accountable.  Each discretely presented 
component units is reported in a separate column in the government wide financial statements 
(see note below for description) to emphasize that it is legally separate from the government.  
 
Discretely Presented Component Units 
 
The following is a description of the discretely presented component units.   

 
The Downtown Development Authority of Charter Township of Delhi is organized pursuant to 
Charter Township of Delhi Ordinance No. 80 and Act 197 of the Public Acts of 1975 of the State 
of Michigan, as amended.  The primary purpose of the Authority is to provide for the ongoing 
maintenance, promotion, security and continued operation of the downtown district.  A tax 
increment financing district was established to finance these activities.  The members of the 
Board of Directors of the Authority are appointed by the Township Board.  No separate audit 
report is issued for this Authority. 
 
The Delhi Township Brownfield Redevelopment Authority is organized pursuant to Section 13(1) 
of the State of Michigan’s Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act (Public Act 381 of 1996, as 
amended by Public Act 145 of 2000). The primary purpose of the Authority is to clean up 
environmentally challenged properties in the Township and prepare them for desirable and 
productive re-uses. Tax increment financing will be used to finance these activities. The members 
of the Board of Directors of the Authority are appointed by the Township Board. No separate 
audit report is issued for this Authority. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
B. Reporting Entity (Concluded) 
  
 The Downtown Development Authority and the Brownfield Redevelopment Authority are 

considered component units of Charter Township of Delhi because the Township appoints the 
Authorities’ Board members and has the ability to significantly influence the operations of the 
Authorities. 
 

C. Basis of Presentation - Government wide Financial Statements 
 

 While separate government wide and fund financial statements are presented, they are 
interrelated.  The governmental activities column incorporates data from the governmental funds, 
while business-type activities incorporate data from the government’s enterprise funds.  Separate 
financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds, 
even though the latter are excluded from the government wide financial statements.  

 
As discussed earlier, the Township has two discretely presented component units.  The 
Downtown Development Authority of the Charter Township of Delhi is considered to be a major 
component unit, while the Brownfield Redevelopment Authority is not, nevertheless they are 
shown in separate columns in the government wide financial statements. 
 
As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government wide 
financial statements.  Possible exceptions to this general rule are charges for services between the 
sewer fund and other functions of government.  Elimination of these charges would distort the 
direct costs and program revenues reported for the various functions concerned. 
 

D. Basis of Presentation - Fund Financial Statements 
 

The fund financial statements provide information about the Township’s funds, including its 
fiduciary funds.  Separate statements for each fund category - governmental, proprietary, and 
fiduciary - are presented.  The emphasis of fund financial statements is on major governmental 
and enterprise funds, each displayed in a separate column.  All remaining governmental are 
aggregated and reported as nonmajor funds.  Major individual governmental and enterprise funds 
are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements. 

 
The government reports the following major governmental funds: 

 
The general fund is the government’s primary operating fund.  It accounts for all 
financial resources of the general government, except those required to be accounted for 
in another fund. 
 
The fire fund is a special revenue fund established to provide for the safety of the citizens 
of the Township by reducing the impact of community emergencies through education, 
prevention and service. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
D. Basis of Presentation - Fund Financial Statements (Continued) 

 
The police fund is a special revenue fund established to provide for the safety and welfare 
of the residents of the Township through a contract with the Ingham County Sheriff’s 
Office. 

 
The government reports the following major proprietary funds: 

 
Sewer enterprise fund (Sewer Disposal System).  This fund accounts for the activities of 
the Township’s sewage disposal and sewage treatment systems that are financed 
primarily by user charges for those services. 

 
 Additionally, the government reports the following nonmajor fund types: 
 

Special revenue funds - The special revenue funds account for revenue sources that are 
legally restricted for specific purpose (not including expendable trusts or major capital 
projects).  The Township’s nonmajor special revenue funds include the water 
improvement and the fire equipment, training and apparatus funds. 
 
Internal service fund - The internal service fund consists of the brownfield local site 
remediation fund, which is a revolving fund that was set up to support the cleanup and 
redevelopment efforts of the Brownfield Redevelopment Authority.  The Brownfield 
Redevelopment Authority is a discretely presented component unit and is further 
described above.   

 
Fiduciary funds - Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties 
outside the government.  Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government wide financial 
statements because the resources of those funds are not available to support the Township’s own 
programs.  The accounting used for fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds. 

 
Additionally, the government reports as fiduciary funds, the post-employment benefit trust fund, 
the private purpose trust fund, and two agency funds. 
 

The other post-employment benefit trust fund accounts for the accumulated resources 
related to the health benefit payments to qualified retirees.  
 
The private purpose trust fund accounts for the principal received and related interest of 
the cemetery. 
 
The agency funds are the tax collection fund and the trust and agency fund.  The tax 
collection fund collects and distributes taxes to other governments and the trust and 
agency fund holds funds like escrows and retainage for others.  
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

D. Basis of Presentation - Fund Financial Statements (Concluded) 
 
During the course of operations the Township has activity between funds for various purposes.  
Any residual balances outstanding at year end are reported as due from/to other funds and 
advances to/from other funds.  While these balances are reported in fund financial statements, 
certain eliminations are made in the preparation of the government wide financial statements.  
Balances between the funds included in governmental activities are eliminated so that only the net 
amount is included as internal balances in the governmental activities column.  Similarly, 
balances between the funds included in business-type activities (i.e., the enterprise funds) are 
eliminated so that only the net amount is included as internal balances in the business-type 
activities column. 
 
Further, certain activity occurs during the year involving transfers of resources between funds.  In 
fund financial statements these amounts are reported at gross amounts as transfers in/out.  While 
reported in fund financial statements, certain eliminations are made in the preparation of the 
government wide financial statements.  Transfers between the funds included in governmental 
activities are eliminated so that only the net amount is included as transfers in the governmental 
activities column.   
 

E. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting  
 

The accounting and financial reporting treatment is determined by the applicable measurement 
focus and basis of accounting.  Measurement focus indicates the type of resources being 
measured such as current financial resources or economic resources.  The basis of accounting 
indicates the timing of transactions or events for recognition in the financial statements. 
 
The government wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources 
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund and fiduciary 
fund financial statements.  Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a 
liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  Property taxes are recognized 
as revenues in the year for which they are levied.  Grants and similar items are recognized as 
revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met. 
 
The governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recognized as 
soon as they are both measurable and available.  Revenues are considered to be available when 
they are collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the 
current period.  For this purpose, the government considers revenues to be available if they are 
collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period.  Expenditures generally are 
recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting.  However, debt service 
expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences and claims and judgments, 
are recorded only when payment is due.  General capital asset acquisitions are reported as 
expenditures in governmental funds.  Issuance of long-term debt and acquisitions under capital 
leases are reported as other financing sources. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

E. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting (Concluded) 
 
Franchise fees, licenses, and interest associated with the current fiscal period are all considered to 
be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal year.  Only 
the portion of special assessments receivable due within the current fiscal period is considered to 
be susceptible to accrual as revenue of the current period.  Expenditure-driven grants are 
recognized as revenue when the qualifying expenditures have been incurred and all other 
eligibility requirements have been met, and the amount is received during the period or within the 
availability period for this revenue source (within 60 days of year-end).  All other revenue items 
are considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received by the government. 
 
The proprietary and private-purpose trust funds are reported using the economic resources 
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.  The agency fund has no measurement 
focus but utilizes the accrual basis of accounting for reporting its assets and liabilities. 
 

F. Budgetary Information 
 

1. Budgetary basis of accounting 
 

Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting 
principles for the general fund and special revenue fund.  The capital projects fund is 
appropriated on a project-length basis.  Other funds do not have appropriated budgets. 

 
The appropriate budget is prepared by fund and department.  The Township’s manager 
may make transfers of appropriations within a department not to exceed $10,000.  
Amounts over $10,000 requires approval of the board.  Transfers of appropriations 
between departments require the approval of the Board.  The legal level of budgetary 
control (i.e., the level at which expenditures may not legally exceed appropriations) is the 
department level. 

 
Appropriations in all budgeted funds lapse at the end of the fiscal year even if they have 
related encumbrances.  Encumbrances are commitments related to unperformed 
(executory) contracts for goods or services (i.e., purchase orders, contracts, and 
commitments).  The Township does not utilize encumbrance accounting. 

 
The budget was amended during the year with supplemental appropriations.  The budget 
was approved prior to December 31, 2012.  The Township does not consider the 
amendments to be significant.  Violations, if any, are noted in the required supplementary 
information sections. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)  
 
G. Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows, and Net Position or Fund Balance  
 

1. Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments 
 

The Township’s cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits 
and short-term investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of 
acquisition.  In addition, the statement of cash flows includes both restricted and unrestricted cash 
and cash equivalents.  Investments include instruments allowed by state statute subsequently 
described.  Investments are carried at fair value. 
 
The Township utilizes various pooled cash accounts for approximately 10 funds.  The 
Township’s pool cash consists of a common checking account. 
 
The Township’s pooled cash accounts are utilized by the General Fund, Special Revenue Funds, 
the Sewer Fund, Trust and Agency Funds, and the component unit funds.  Each funds’ portion of 
these pooled accounts is included in the cash and cash equivalent caption in the applicable 
balance sheet/statement of net position. 
 
State statutes authorized the Township to invest in bonds, securities, and other direct and certain 
indirect obligations of the U.S. Treasury, which include securities issued or guaranteed by the 
Government National Mortgage Association; certificates of deposit, savings accounts, deposit 
accounts, or depository receipts of a bank, savings and loan association, or credit union, which is 
a member of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, Federal Savings and Loan Insurance 
Corporation, or National Credit Union Administration, respectively; and in commercial paper 
rated at the time of purchase within the three highest classifications established by not less than 
two standard rating services and which matures not more than 270 days after the date of purchase.  
The Township is also authorized to invest in U.S. government or federal agency obligation 
repurchase agreements, bankers' acceptances of U.S. banks, and mutual funds composed of 
investments as outlined above. 
 
Investments are stated at fair value.  Securities traded on a national or international exchange are 
value at the last reported sales price at current exchange rates.  Investments that do not have 
established market values are reported at estimated fair value.  Cash deposits are reported at cost. 

 
2. Receivables and Payables 

 
Activity between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at 
the end of the fiscal year are referred to as “due to/from other funds” and are all current.  Any 
residual balances outstanding between the governmental activities and business-type activities are 
reported in the government wide financial statements as “internal balances.” 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)  
 
G. Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows, and Net Position or Fund Balance  

(Continued) 
 
2. Receivables and Payables (Concluded) 

 
Accounts receivable in the proprietary funds do not have an allowance for uncollectibles.  
Delinquent amounts are ultimately added to the tax roll and become a lien on the property and as 
a consequence, no allowance is deemed necessary.  No other significant allowances are deemed 
necessary. 

 
3. Prepaids  

 
Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are 
recorded as prepaid items in both government wide and fund financial statements. 

 
4. Restricted Assets 

 
Certain proceeds of enterprise funds, as well as certain resources set aside for their repayment, are 
classified as restricted assets on the statement of net position because their use is limited by 
applicable bond covenants, Michigan law, or township ordinance.   

 
5. Capital Assets 

 
 Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure (sidewalks and usage 

rights), are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities columns in the 
government wide financial statements.  Capital assets are defined by the government as assets 
with an initial, individual cost of more than $5,000.  Such assets are recorded at historical cost or 
estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed. Donated capital assets are recorded at 
estimated fair market value at the date of donation. 

 
 The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially 

extend asset lives are not capitalized. 
 
 Major outlays for capital assets and improvement are capitalized as projects are constructed.  

Interest incurred during the construction phase of capital assets of business-type activities is 
included as part of the capitalized value of the assets constructed. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)  
 
G. Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows, and Net Position or Fund Balance  

(Continued) 
 

5. Capital Assets (Concluded) 
 

Property, plant and equipment of the primary government, as well as the component units, is 
depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful live: 
 

Assets Years

Sewage mains, outfall lines and infrastructure 40
Buildings 40
Building improvements 20
Land improvements 15
Machinery and equipment 5-10
Computer equipment 3-10
Furniture and office equipment 10
Vehicles 5-7  
 
6. Pension and Other Postemployment Benefit Costs 
 
The Township offers both pension and retiree healthcare benefits to retirees.  The Township 
receives an actuarial valuation to compute the annual required contribution (ARC) necessary to 
fund the obligation over the remaining amortization period.  In the governmental funds, pension 
and OPEB costs are recognized as contributions are made.  For the government wide statements 
and proprietary funds, the Township reports the full accrual cost equal to the current year required 
contribution, adjusted for interest and “adjustment to the ARC” on the beginning of year 
underpaid amount, if any. 
 
7. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 
 
In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section 
for deferred outflows of resources.  This separate financial element, deferred outflows of 
resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will 
not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then.  The Township has 
no items that qualify for reporting is this category. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
G. Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows, and Net Position or Fund Balance  

(Continued) 
 

7. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources (Concluded) 
 

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate 
section for deferred inflows of resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred 
inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and 
so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time.  The Township has 
three types of items, which arise only under a modified accrual basis of accounting that qualifies 
for reporting in this category.  The Township reports unavailable revenues from property taxes, 
special assessments, and ambulance fees.  These amounts are unavailable and recognized as an 
inflow of resources in the period that the amounts become available. 

 
8. Net Position Flow Assumption 
 
Sometimes the Township will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted (e.g., 
restricted bond or grant proceeds) and unrestricted resources.  In order to calculate the amounts to 
report as restricted - net position and unrestricted - net position in the government wide and 
proprietary fund financial statements, a flow assumption must be made about the order in which 
the resources are considered to be applied.  It is the Township’s policy to consider restricted - net 
position to have been depleted before unrestricted - net position is applied. 
 
9. Fund Balance Flow Assumptions 

 
Sometimes the Township will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted and 
unrestricted resources (the total of committed, assigned, and unassigned fund balance).  In order 
to calculate the amounts to report as restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned fund balance 
in the governmental fund financial statements a flow assumption must be made about the order in 
which the resources are considered to be applied.  It is the Township’s policy to consider 
restricted fund balance to have been depleted before using any of the components of unrestricted 
fund balance.  Further, when the components of unrestricted fund balance can be used for the 
same purpose, committed fund balance is depleted first, followed by assigned fund balance.  
Unassigned fund balance is applied last. 
 
10. Fund Balance Policies 

 
Fund balance of governmental funds is reported in various categories based on the nature of any 
limitations requiring the use of resources for specific purposes.  The Township itself can establish 
limitations on the use of resources through either a commitment (committed fund balance) or an 
assignment (assigned fund balance). 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
G. Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows, and Net Position or Fund Balance  

(Concluded) 
 

10. Fund Balance Policies (Concluded) 
 

The committed fund balance classification includes amounts that can be used only for the specific 
purposes determined by a formal action of the Township’s highest level of decision-making 
authority.  The board of trustees is the highest level of decision-making authority for the 
Township that can, by adoption of a board action prior to the end of the fiscal year, commit fund 
balance.  Once adopted, the limitation imposed by the board action remains in place until a 
similar action is taken (the adoption of another board action) to remove or revise the limitation. 
 
Amounts, if any, in the assigned fund balance classification are intended to be used by the 
Township for specific purposes but do not meet the criteria to be classified as committed.  The 
board of trustees may also assign fund balance as it does when appropriating fund balance to 
cover a gap between estimated revenue and appropriations in the subsequent year’s appropriated 
budget.  Unlike commitments, assignments generally only exist temporarily.  In other words, an 
additional action does not have to be taken for the removal of an assignment.  Conversely, as 
discussed above, an additional action is essential to either remove or revise a commitment. 
 
In the general fund, the goal of the Township Board shall be to maintain a minimum unassigned 
fund balance of no less than 15% of General Fund expenditures.  For purposes of this calculation, 
“expenditures” will be the annual budgeted expenditures amount less non-recurring capital 
expenditures.  If unassigned fund balance levels fall below 15% of expenditures, the General 
Fund budget for the following year will be adjusted to restore fund balance to the 15% level. 
 
11. Comparative Data/Reclassifications 

 
Comparative total data for the prior year have been presented only for certain individual funds in 
the fund financial statements in order to provide an understanding of the changes in the financial 
position and operations of these funds.  Also, certain amounts presented in the prior year data 
have been reclassified in order to be consistent with the current year’s presentation. 

 
12. Use of Estimates 
 
The process of preparing financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires the use of estimates and assumptions regarding 
certain types of assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenditures.  Such estimates are primarily 
related to unsettled transactions and events as of the date of the financial statements.  
Accordingly, upon settlement, actual results may differ from estimated amounts.  
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

H. Revenues and Expenditures/Expenses 
 

1. Program Revenues 
 

Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who 
purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function 
or segment and 2) operating grants and contributions and 3) capital grants and contributions, 
including special assessments.  All taxes, including those dedicated for specific purposes, and 
other internally dedicated resources are reported as general revenues rather than as program 
revenues. 
 
2. Property taxes 

 
Property taxes become an enforceable lien on the property as of December 1.  Taxes are levied on 
December 1 and are due in February of the following year.  The Township bills and collects its 
own property taxes and also taxes for the county, intermediate school district, community college 
and school districts.  All tax collections are accounted for in the tax collection fund, an agency 
fund.  Township tax revenues are recognized in the fiscal year following the December 1 levy 
date.  Property taxes levied for the ensuing year's revenue are included in taxes receivable and 
deferred inflow of resources.  
 
The Township is permitted by state statute to levy taxes up to $5.00 per $1,000 of taxable 
valuation for general government services other than the payment of principal and interest on 
long-term debt and in unlimited amounts for the payment of principal and interest on long-term 
debt.  In 2012, the Township levied $4.3094 per $1,000 for general governmental purposes and 
$0.5000 per $1,000 for fire equipment, and $1.5000 per $1,000 for Police services, and $1.5000 
per $1,000 for Fire and Emergency Medical Services on the December 1, 2011 levy (recognized 
as revenue in 2012) for a total of $7.8094 per $1,000. 

 
The Downtown Development and Brownfield Redevelopment Authorities, which are component 
units, also receive property tax revenue from the December 1 tax levy.  These tax revenues are 
recognized in the fiscal year following the December 1 levy date.         
 
3. Compensated Absences 

 
It is the Township's policy to permit employees to accumulate a limited amount of earned but 
unused vacation and sick leave, which will be paid to employees upon separation from the 
Township.  All vacation pay and partial sick leave is accrued when earned in the government 
wide and proprietary fund financial statements.  A liability for these amounts is reported in 
governmental funds only if they have matured, for example, as a result of employee resignations 
and retirements.  The liability for compensated absences for the proprietary fund financial 
statements is included in accrued liabilities and is considered current since it is anticipated the 
accumulated paid time off will be used during the subsequent year. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Concluded) 
 
H. Revenues and Expenditures/Expenses (Concluded) 
 

4. Long - term Obligations 
 

In the government wide financial statements, and proprietary fund types in the fund financial 
statements, long - term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the 
applicable governmental activities, business-type activities or proprietary fund type statement of 
net position.  Bond premiums and discounts, are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds 
using the straight-line method.  Bond issuance costs are reported as expenditures in the year in 
which they are incurred. 
 
In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and 
discounts, as well as bond issuance costs during the current period.  The face amount of debt 
issued is reported as other financing sources.  Premiums received on debt issuances are reported 
as other financing sources while discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses.  
Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as 
debt service expenditures. 

 
5. Proprietary Funds Operating and Nonoperating Revenues and Expenses 
 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items.  
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and 
delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations.  The 
principal operating revenues of the sewer fund is charges to customers for sales and services.  The 
fund also recognized as operating revenue the portion of tap fees intended to recover the cost of 
connecting new customers to the system.  Operating expenses for the enterprise fund include the 
cost of sales and services, administrative expenses and depreciation on capital assets.  All 
revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and 
expenses. 
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NOTE 2 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS 
 

As of December 31, 2012, the Township had the following investments. 
 

Investment Type Fair value

Weighted 
average 
maturity 
(years)

Standard & 
Poor's rating %

Stifel Nicholaus Money Market 264$           0.0027 N/A 0.0%
Federal National Mortgage Association 100,229      3.6909 AA+ 2.6%
Federal National Mortgage Association 120,625      3.9096 AA+ 3.2%
Federal National Mortgage Association 105,164      2.2977 AA+ 2.8%
PNC Bank Money Market 100,693      0.0027 N/A 2.7%
MBIA CLASS Pooled Investments 103,806      0.0027 N/A 2.7%
Comerica Securities - Clare Public Schools 120,336      2.3247 AA2 - Moody 3.2%
Dart Money Market 2,685,608   0.0027 N/A 71.0%
Citizens Bank Money Market 126,547      0.0027 N/A 3.3%
Govt Loan Trust Zero Cpn 107,741      0.2457 Aaa - Moody 2.8%
Comerica Securities - CD 101,836      0.4536 N/A 2.7%
Financing Corp CPN FICO Strips 55,670        0.8505 N/A 1.5%
Federal Nat'l Mtg Assn. Debtenture Zero Cpn 56,295        1.5147 Aaa - Moody 1.5%

Total fair value 3,784,814$ 100.0%

Portfolio weighted average maturity 0.7650

1 day maturity equals 0.0027, one year equals 1.00  
 

The Township voluntarily invests excess funds in pooled short term investment funds which 
included money market funds.  One of the pooled investment funds utilized by the Township is 
MBIA.  MBIA is an external pooled investment fund of “qualified” investments for Michigan 
townships.  MBIA is not regulated nor is it registered with the SEC.  MBIA reports as of 
December 31, 2012, the fair value of the Township’s investments is the same as the value of the 
pool shares. 

 
Interest rate risk.  In accordance with its investment policy, the Township will minimize interest 
rate risk, which is the risk that the market value of securities in the portfolio will fall due to 
changes in market interest rates, by; structuring the investment portfolio so that securities mature 
to meet cash requirements for ongoing operations, thereby avoiding the need to sell securities in 
the open market; and, investing operating funds primarily in shorter-term securities, liquid asset 
funds, money market mutual funds, or similar investment pools and limiting the average maturity 
in accordance with the Township’s cash requirements. 
 
Credit risk.  State law limits investments in commercial paper and corporate bonds to a prime or 
better rating issued by nationally recognized statistical rating organizations (NRSROs).   
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NOTE 2 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 
 
Concentration of credit risk.  The Township will minimize concentration of credit risk, which is 
the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of the Township’s investment in a single issuer, by 
diversifying the investment portfolio so that the impact of potential losses from any one type of 
security or issuer will be minimized.   
 
Custodial credit risk - deposits.  In the case of deposits, this is the risk that in the event of a 
bank failure, the Township’s deposits may not be returned to it.  As of December 31, 2012, 
$2,435,608 of the Township’s bank balance of $21,423,607 was exposed to custodial credit risk 
because it was uninsured.  Certificate of deposits and money market accounts are included in the 
above totals.  The book balance reported as deposits on the financial statements as of December 
31, 2012 was $20,119,990. 
 
Custodial credit risk - investments.  For an investment, this is the risk that, in the event of the 
failure of the counterparty, the Township will not be able to recover the value of its investments 
or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party.   
 
The Township will minimize custodial credit risk, which is the risk of loss due to the failure of 
the security issuer or backer, by; limiting investments to the types of securities allowed by law; 
and pre-qualifying the financial institutions, broker/dealers, intermediaries and advisors with 
which the Township will do business. 
 
Foreign currency risk.  The Township is not authorized to invest in investments which have this 
type of risk 
 
Summary of deposit and investments balances.  The following is a reconciliation of deposit and 

investment balances as of December 31, 2012: 
 

Deposits (including deposits in transit at year end) 20,119,990$    
Investments 3,784,814        
Cash on hand 1,400              

23,906,204$    

Cash and cash equivalents:
Township wide - unrestricted 4,900,812$      
Township wide - restricted 1,329,331        
Component units 1,463,984        
Cemetery fund (a private purpose trust) 75,895            
Agency funds (fiduciary funds) 14,385,040      

Investments:
Township wide - unrestricted 1,093,226        
Township wide - restricted 657,442          
Component units 474                 

23,906,204$    
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NOTE 2 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (Concluded) 
 

Pooling of cash.  The Township utilizes various pooled cash accounts for approximately 10 
funds.  The Township’s pooled cash accounts consist of a common checking account.  The 
Township’s financial statements reflect certain cash and cash equivalents with a negative balance.  
This amount does not represent actual bank overdraft, rather it merely reflects that this fund has 
disbursed amounts from the Township’s common check account in excess of the amount recorded 
as an asset.  In total, the bank account has a positive balance. 
 
Cash disbursed in excess of amounts recorded as assets as of December 31, 2012, are as follows: 
 

Fund
Negative 

pooled cash

Nonpooled 
cash and cash 
equivalents

Financial 
statements

Trust and Agency Fund (9,426)$           8,272$            (1,154)$           
 

 
 

NOTE 3 - RECEIVABLES 
 

Receivables at December 31, 2012 consist of the following: 
 

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities

General 415,233$     Service 945,229$     
Special Assessment 131,704       General 717,301       
Ambulance 39,515         Due from current tax 394,239       
Due from DDA 283,926       Special assessment 28,735         
Due from current tax 5,141,014    Other 4,204           
Other 2,234           

6,013,626$  2,089,708$  

Downtown Development Authority Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

Due from Township 2,718,774$  Due from Township 145,727$     
General 703              

2,719,477$  145,727$     
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NOTE 4 - CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
 The capital assets are as follows: 
 

Balance Restatement Balance
December 31, and December 31,

2011 Reclassifications Additions Deletions 2012

Primary government:
Governmental activities:

Capital assets, not being depreciated:
Land 1,995,991$   -$                      -$                -$              1,995,991$   
Monuments 15,000          -                        -                  -                15,000          
Construction in process 299,192        (136,900)           111,174      -                273,466        

Total capital assets, not being depreciated 2,310,183     (136,900)           111,174      -                2,284,457     

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements 7,377,325     136,900            261,083      -                7,775,308     
Land improvements and sidewalks 2,639,458     -                        -                  -                2,639,458     
Machinery and equipment 1,174,027     -                        47,782        50,353      1,171,456     
Furniture and office equipment 568,806        -                        -                  -                568,806        
Flowage rights 2,503,850     -                        101,250      -                2,605,100     
Infrastructure (road improvements) 1,959,083     -                        -                  -                1,959,083     
Computer equipment and programs 354,893        -                        -                  9,368        345,525        
Vehicles 2,160,866     -                        -                  -                2,160,866     

Total capital assets, being depreciated 18,738,308   136,900            410,115      59,721      19,225,602   

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and improvements 2,785,597     -                        185,528      -                2,971,125     
Land improvements and sidewalks 1,264,216     -                        153,483      -                1,417,699     
Machinery and equipment 777,980        -                        76,771        38,651      816,100        
Furniture and office equipment 532,830        -                        11,778        -                544,608        
Flowage rights 189,944        -                        68,370        -                258,314        
Infrastructure (road improvements) 1,145,418     -                        105,117      -                1,250,535     
Computer equipment and programs 308,567        -                        28,739        9,368        327,938        
Vehicles 1,571,339     -                        165,150      -                1,736,489     

Total accumulated depreciation 8,575,891     -                        794,936      48,019      9,322,808     

Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 10,162,417   136,900            (384,821)     11,702      9,902,794     

Total 12,472,600$ -$                      (273,647)$   11,702$    12,187,251$ 
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NOTE 4 - CAPITAL ASSETS (Continued) 
 

Balance Restatement Balance
December 31, and December 31,

2011 Reclassifications Additions Deletions 2012

Primary government:
Business-type activities:

Capital assets, not being depreciated:
Land 806,335$      -$                      -$                -$              806,335$      
Construction in process 3,332,400     -                        5,251,328   518,223    8,065,505     

Total capital assets, not being depreciated 4,138,735     -                        5,251,328   518,223    8,871,840     

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Sewage disposal plant and equipment 29,927,003   -                        201,884      -                30,128,887   
Sewer mains 42,068,659   -                        -                  -                42,068,659   
Outfall lines 1,141,390     -                        -                  -                1,141,390     
Land improvements 482,092        -                        -                  -                482,092        
Furniture and office equipment 127,055        -                        -                  -                127,055        
Computer equipment 359,619        -                        -                  6,576        353,043        
Vehicles 982,148        -                        -                  463           981,685        
Machinery and equipment 704,542        -                        6,785          -                711,327        
Maintenance facility 1,430,686     -                        -                  -                1,430,686     

Total capital assets, being depreciated 77,223,194   -                        208,669      7,039        77,424,824   

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Sewage disposal plant and equipment 12,443,436   -                        1,036,716   -                13,480,152   
Sewer mains 16,214,193   -                        1,027,939   -                17,242,132   
Outfall lines 389,049        -                        23,838        -                412,887        
Land improvements 74,061          -                        32,139        -                106,200        
Furniture and office equipment 110,706        -                        6,123          -                116,829        
Computer equipment 336,773        -                        11,933        6,576        342,130        
Vehicles 735,684        -                        64,215        463           799,436        
Machinery and equipment 530,995        -                        43,475        -                574,470        
Maintenance facility 356,166        -                        36,229        -                392,395        

Total accumulated depreciation 31,191,063   -                        2,282,607   7,039        33,466,631   

Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 46,032,131   -                        (2,073,938)  -                43,958,193   

Total 50,170,866$ -$                      3,177,390$ 518,223$  52,830,033$ 
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NOTE 4 - CAPITAL ASSETS (Concluded) 
 

Balance Restatement Balance
December 31, and December 31,

2011 Reclassifications Additions Deletions 2012

Component unit:
Downtown Development Authority:

Capital assets, not being depreciated:
Land 4,889,564$   -$                      -$                -$              4,889,564$   

Total capital assets, not being depreciated 4,889,564     -                        -                  -                4,889,564     

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Buildings 1,051,920     -                        -                  -                1,051,920     
Land improvements 6,447,926     -                        -                  -                6,447,926     
Infrastructure (road improvements) 1,294,495     -                        -                  -                1,294,495     
Computer 2,500            -                        -                  -                2,500            
Machinery and equipment 43,613          -                        11,298        -                54,911          
Furniture and office equipment 76,020          -                        -                  -                76,020          

Total capital assets, being depreciated 8,916,474     -                        11,298        -                8,927,772     

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings 190,053        -                        26,520        -                216,573        
Land improvements 1,615,793     -                        356,036      -                1,971,829     
Infrastructure (road improvements) 1,046,903     -                        86,755        -                1,133,658     
Computer 833               -                        833             -                1,666            
Machinery and equipment 31,982          -                        5,679          -                37,661          
Furniture and office equipment 55,839          -                        7,602          -                63,441          

Total accumulated depreciation 2,941,403     -                        483,425      -                3,424,828     

Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 5,975,071     -                        (472,127)     -                5,502,944     

Total 10,864,635$ -$                      (472,127)$   -$              10,392,508$  
 

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the primary government at December 31, 
2012 as follows: 
 

Governmental activities:
General government 170,569$            
Public safety 232,249
Public works 173,487
Community development 4,548
Recreation and culture 214,083

Total governmental activities 794,936$            

Business type activities:
Sewer 2,282,607$         

Component unit:
Downtown Development Authority 483,425$             
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NOTE 5 - INTERFUND RECEIVABLES, PAYABLE AND TRANSFERS 
 
 The composition of interfund transfers for the year ended December 31, 2012 is as follows: 

 

Fire Fund Police Fund
Total transfers 

out
Transfer out:

General Fund 476,802$         1,148,654$      1,625,456$      

Transfer in

 
 
Transfers are used to move funds for purchase of capital outlay and to move unrestricted general 

fund revenues to finance various programs that the government must account for in other funds in 
accordance with budgetary authorizations. 

 
 

NOTE 6 - LONG-TERM DEBT 
 
 General Obligation Bonds 
 

The government issues general obligation bonds to provide funds for the acquisition and 
construction of major capital facilities.  General obligation bonds have been issued for both governmental 
and business-type activities.   
 
 General obligation bonds are direct obligations and pledge the full faith and credit of the 
government.  These bonds generally are issued as 5 to 30 year serial bonds.  

 

653,514$       

$721,779, 2011 Refunding Bonds, due in annual installments of $59,107 to
$74,925 through 2022, interest at 1.35% to 3.65%. The Township issued
bonds totaling $4,335,000 of which 16.65% ($721,779) was for water
improvement (govermental activities) and 83.35% ($3,613,221) was for
sanitary sewer (business type activities).

 
 

 Other Long-term Debt 
  
 The government is assessed for drains at large by Ingham County.  The assessment cover the 
Township’s share of installation and flowage rights for drains.  General assessments outstanding at year 
end are as follows:  

 

Purpose Amount
Fiscal year obligations 

extend through Interest Rate

Governmental activities  $     1,961,961 2029 Imputed at 4%
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NOTE 6 - LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued) 
 

 Installment Purchase Agreement 
 
 The Township has entered into an installment purchase agreement to purchase property.  This 
obligation is summarized as follows:  
 

Purpose Amount Fiscal year Due Interest Rate

Governmental activities  $        233,500 2019 3.49%
 

 
Enterprise Fund  
 
 General Obligation Bonds Payable: 
 

 

1,780,000$    

3,271,487

819,639

5,871,126$    

$1,000,000, 2008 DDA general obligation bonds, due in annual installments
of $51,603 to $87,675 through 2024, interest at 3.50% to 4.125%. The
Township issued one bond issue for $9,980,000, of which $1,000,000 was
for sanitary sewer and $8,980,000 was for downtown development (DDA
component unit).

$3,613,221, 2011 Refunding Bonds (Sanitary Sewer general obligation
bonds), due in annual installments of $295,893 to $375,075 through 2022,
interest at 1.35% to 3.65%. The Township issued one bond issue for
$4,335,000 of which 83.35% ($3,613,221) was for sanitary sewer (business
type activities) and 16.65% ($721,779) was for water improvement
(governmental activities).

$2,500,000, 2003 Sanitary Sewer general obligation bonds, due in annual
installments of $110,000 to $195,000 through 2024, interest at 3.70% to
4.75%.
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NOTE 6 - LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued) 
 
 State Revolving Loan Fund Revenue Bonds 
 

8,125,000$    

7,908,332

16,033,332$  

$9,850,000, 2007 Sanitary Sewer revenue bonds, draws to December 31,
2011 of $9,850,000, interest payable at 1.625%. Interest payments due semi-
annually. Principal payments ranging from $450,000 to $570,000 due
annually through 2028.

$8,400,000, 2010 Sanitary Sewer revenue bonds, draws to December 31,
2012, interest paid semi-annually at 2.5%. Principal payments ranging from
$330,000 to $525,000 due starting in 2013, payable through 2032.

 
 
Downtown Development Authority (Component Unit) 
 
 The long-term debt balance of the Downtown Development Authority consists of the following:  

 

460,000$       

1,545,000      

7,360,360      

9,365,360$    

$8,980,000, 2008 DDA general obligation bonds, due in annual installments
for $463,397 to $787,325 through 2024, interest at 3.500% to 4.125%. The
Township issued one bond issue for $9,980,000, of which $1,000,000 was
for sanitary sewer and $8,980,000 was for downtown development (DDA
component unit).

$990,000, 2003 general obligation bonds to finance Downtown Development
Authority costs of constructing a building, due in annual installments of
$70,0000 to $85,000 through 2018, interest at 3.90% to 4.50%.

$2,540,000, 2010 Downtown Development refunding bonds for the purpose
of refunding 1997 general obligations bonds, due in annual installments of
$505,000 to $525,000  through 2015, interest at 1.30% to 2.05%.

 
 
Land Contract 

 

164,584$       
$225,000, Land contract due in semi-annual installments of $23,446 through 
2016, interest at 6%.
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NOTE 6 - LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued) 
 
 The following is a summary of changes in long-term debt during the year ended December 31, 
2012: 
 

Beginning Ending Due within
balance Additions Reductions balance one year

Governmental activities:
General obligation bonds 711,789$        -$                 58,275$      653,514$      59,107$        
General assessment payable 1,987,532       101,250       126,821      1,961,961     126,821        
Installment purchase agreement 266,834          -                   33,334        233,500        33,334          

OPEB payable 5,710              4,099           -                  9,809            9,809            
Compensated absences 401,796          -                   11,212        390,584        120,000        

3,373,661$     105,349$     229,642$    3,249,368$   349,071$      

Business-type activities:
General obligation bonds 6,316,448$     -$                 445,322$    5,871,126$   457,496$      
Revenue bonds 11,179,870     5,293,462    440,000      16,033,332   780,000        
Notes payable 765,000          -                   765,000      -                    -                   

18,261,318$   5,293,462$  1,650,322$ 21,904,458$ 1,237,496$   

Component unit:
General obligation bonds 10,366,763$   -$                 1,001,403$ 9,365,360$   1,038,397$   
Land  contract 200,000          -                   35,416        164,584        37,572          
Compensated absences 21,093            -                   11,604        9,489            4,000            

10,587,856$   -$                 1,048,423$ 9,539,433$   1,079,969$   

32,222,835$   5,398,811$  2,928,387$ 34,693,259$ 2,666,536$   
 

 
 The annual requirements to amortize all long-term debt outstanding, exclusive of compensated 
absences and OPEB payable as of December 31, 2012, are as follows: 
 
 

Year ending
December 31 Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest

2013 219,262$        126,363$      1,237,496$       512,838$       1,075,969$       342,597$      
2014 220,927          117,800        1,263,336        492,501        1,110,752        314,086        
2015 221,759          109,063        1,300,008        465,088        1,150,675        281,265        
2016 222,593          100,158        1,327,683        435,916        664,743           251,130        
2017 223,424          91,081          1,359,355        404,942        642,375           224,107        

2018 - 2022 1,047,260       315,963        7,346,906        1,487,195     3,346,774        725,623        
2023 - 2027 506,621          123,327        5,486,343        602,234        1,538,656        95,947          
2028 - 2032 187,129          14,316          2,583,331        113,637        -                       -                    

2,848,975$     998,071$      21,904,458$     4,514,351$    9,529,944$       2,234,755$   

Governmental activities Business-type activities Component Units
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NOTE 6 - LONG-TERM DEBT (Concluded) 
 

Advance refunding 
 

In prior years the Township defeased certain bonds by placing the proceeds of new bonds in 
irrevocable trusts for the purpose of generating resources for all future debt service payments on 
the refunded debt.  As a result, the refunded bonds are considered to be defeased and the trust 
fund assets and related liabilities have been removed from the statement of net position.  During 
the year ended December 31, 2012, $5,590,000 of bonds outstanding from a prior advance 
refunding was considered defeased. 
 
 

NOTE 7 - CONTRIBUTED CAPITAL  
 
 Contributed capital currently exists only in the enterprise fund.  This capital has been used along 
with other Township resources to purchase or construct the sewer system currently in use or still in 
construction within the Township.  There were no contributions for 2012 from customers, sub-dividers 
and component units.  Currently, accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America call for capital contributions to be recorded as revenue.   

 
 

NOTE 8 - PENSION PLANS 
 

The Township provides pension benefits for all of its full-time employees through a defined 
contribution plan called the Defined Contribution Pension Plan for Governmental Employees.  The Plan 
is administered by an outside party.  In a defined contribution plan, benefits depend solely on amounts 
contributed to the plan plus investment earnings.  Employees are eligible to participate upon completion 
of three months of service.  The Township contributes an amount equal to 10% of the employee’s base 
annual compensation. 

 
The Township’s contribution for each employee (and interest attributable to these contributions) 

is fully vested after two years’ service.  Township contributions and attributable interest forfeited by 
employees who leave employment prior to full vesting are used to reduce the Township’s current period 
contribution requirements. 

 
Plan provisions and contribution requirements are established and may be amended by the 

Township Board. 
 
The Township’s total payroll in 2012 was $4,133,419.  Contributions were calculated using the 

base salary amount of $3,065,835.  The Township made the required 10% contribution total $306,584. 
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NOTE 9 - DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLANS 
 

The Township offers two deferred compensation plans created in accordance with Internal 
Revenue Code Section 457; one designed for full-time employees, and the second available only to part-
time employees.  The plans permit employees to defer a portion of their salary until future years.  For the 
Plan covering part-time employees, the Township contributes 3% of gross pay to the plan on behalf of all 
participating employees.  The Township made contributions to the plans totaling $6,131.  The deferred 
compensation is only available to the employees upon retirement, termination, becoming permanently 
disabled, or death.  
 
 
NOTE 10 - OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 
 

In addition to benefits described in Note 8 and 9, the Township provides both health and life 
insurance benefits for retired employees (the “Plan”).  The Plan provides other post-employment benefits 
(OPEB) for all of its full time employees through a single-employer defined benefit plan.  Based on the 
plan, the Township is required to have an actuarial calculation every three years.  The information 
provided is the results of the most resent actuarial valuation with a measurement date of August 31, 2010. 

 
Plan Description.  The purpose of the Plan is to provide health and life insurance benefits to all 

employees who retire from the Township with a minimum ten years of service based on the schedule of 
shared participation rates.  The Plan is maintained as a trust fund in the Charter Township of Delhi’s 
financial statements.  The Township Board of Trustees has the authority to establish and amend benefit 
provisions. 

 
Funding Policy.  The contribution requirements of plan members and the Township are 

established and may be amended by the Township.  Retirees receiving benefits contribute to the cost of 
the premiums based on the number of years of service.  The Township’s share of costs ranges from 75% 
to 100% of the monthly premiums, based on years of service.  The Township will provide 100% of life 
insurance.  The Township is also required to contribute at a rate that is based on an actuarial valuation that 
is prepared in accordance within certain parameters, in addition to a pay-as-you-go basis for retiree health 
care cost.  The Township contributed $101,218 for their portion of shared costs with retiree’s premiums.  
At August 31, 2010, the date of the latest actuarial valuation, participants in the Plan consisted of: 

 
Retirees and beneficiaries receiving benefits 15
Active employees 61

     Total 76
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NOTE 10 - OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 
 
Funding progress.  For the year ended December 31, 2012 the Township has estimated the cost of 

providing retiree health care benefits through an actuarial valuation as of August 31, 2010.  The valuation 
computes an annual required contribution, which represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing 
basis, is projected to cover normal cost each year and amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities over a 
period not to exceed 30 years.  Based on that valuation, the Township contributed $382,978 in the year 
ended December 31, 2012 which represents 98.9 % of the annual required contribution.  No amounts 
were contributed on behalf of the Downtown Development Authority.  The value of the Plan’s assets at 
the end of December 31, 2012 was $1,121,230. 

 
Annual required contribution (recommended) 387,077$    

Amounts contributed:
  Payments of current expenses (382,978)     

Increase in net OPEB obligation 4,099          

OPEB obligation:
  Beginning of year 5,710          
  End of year 9,809$        

 
 
 The outstanding balance is recorded as long-term liabilities due within one year. 
 
The annual OPEB costs, the percentage contributed to the Plan, and the net OPEB obligation for 

the current and preceding two years is as follows: 
 

Percentage of 
Year ending Annual OPEB annual OPEB Net OPEB

December 31, cost cost contributed obligation

2010 364,802$           98.4% 5,710$               
2011 394,290             100.0% 5,710                 
2012 387,077             98.9% 9,809                  

 
The funding progress of the Plan as of the most recent valuation date of August 31, 2010, is as 

follows: 
 
Actuarial accrued liability (AAL) 3,647,677$        
Actuarial value of plan assets - 8/31/2010 532,747             

Unfunded actuarial accrued liability (UAAL) 3,114,930$        

Funded ratio (actuarial value of plan assets/AAL) 14.6%

Covered payroll (active plan members) 4,030,000$        

UAAL as a percentage of covered payroll 77.3%
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NOTE 10 - OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (Concluded) 
 
Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and 

assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future.  Examples include 
assumptions about future employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost trend.  Amounts determined 
regarding the funded status of the plan and the annual required contributions of the employer are subject 
to continual revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made 
about the future. 

 
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions.  Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are 

based on the substantive plan (the plan as understood by the employer and plan members) and include the 
types of benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of benefit cost 
between the employer and plan members to that point.  The actuarial methods and assumptions used 
include techniques that are designed to reduce short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the 
actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long-term perspective of the calculations. 
 
 In the August 31, 2010, actuarial valuation, the entry age actuarial cost method was used.  The 
actuarial assumptions include an 8 percent investment rate of return and an annual healthcare cost trend 
rate of 9 percent initially, reduced by decrements to an ultimate rate of 4.5 percent after ten years.  Both 
rates include a 4.5 percent inflation assumption.  The actuarial value of the assets was determined using 
the fair market value at the time of measurement.  The unfunded actuarial accrued liability is being 
amortized as a level percentage of projected payroll on a closed basis.  The remaining amortization period 
at August 31, 2010 was thirty years. 
 

 
NOTE 11 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 

The Township and its component units are exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft 
of, damage to and destruction of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters.  
The Township and its component units carry commercial insurance to cover any losses that may result 
from the above described activities.  No settlements have incurred in excess of coverage in 2012 or any of 
the prior three years. 
 

There are various claims and legal actions pending against the Township, many of which are 
either partially or fully covered by insurance.  The Township is defending against these actions.  In the 
opinion of Township management, the ultimate amount of loss, if any, resulting from these claims and 
legal actions will not be material to the financial position of the Township. 

 
Amounts received or receivable from grantor agencies are subject to audit and potential 

adjustment by federal and state grantor agencies.  Any disallowed claims, including amounts already 
collected, may constitute a liability of the applicable funds.  The amount, if any, of expenditures which 
may be disallowed by the grantor cannot be determined at this time although the government expects such 
amounts, if any, to be immaterial.  
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NOTE 12 - NATURE AND PURPOSE OF RESTRICTIONS OF NET POSITION 
 

Restrictions in the enterprise fund represent amounts set aside for debt retirement and capital 
improvement.  The amount of the restriction is based on the excess of restricted investments over related 
liabilities. 
 
 
NOTE 13 - BUILDING DEPARTMENT 
 
 The Township records the results of building department operations in the general fund.  In 
accordance with Michigan Public Act 245 of 1999, the Township is required to maintain an accounting 
system that separately accumulates revenues and expenditures related to the building department function.  
For the year ended December 31, 2012 building department revenues were $137,311 and expenditures 
were $263,521. 
 
 
NOTE 14 - SEGMENT INFORMATION - ENTERPRISE FUNDS 
 
 The government issued bonds and notes payable to finance certain improvements to its sewer 
system.  Because the Sewer Fund, which accounts entirely for the government’s sewer activities, is a 
segment and is reported as a major fund in the fund financial statements, segment disclosures herein are 
not required.  
 
 
NOTE 15 - NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 
 
 For the year end December 31, 2012 the Township implemented the following new 
pronouncements: 
 
GASB Statement 62 - Codification of Accounting and Financial Reporting Guidance Contained in Pre-
November 30, 1989 FASB and AICPA Pronouncements.  
 
Summary: 
 

The objective of this Statement is to incorporate into the GASB's authoritative literature certain 
accounting and financial reporting guidance that is included in the following pronouncements issued on or 
before November 30, 1989, which does not conflict with or contradict GASB pronouncements:  
 

1. Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statements and Interpretations  
2. Accounting Principles Board Opinions  
3. Accounting Research Bulletins of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants 

AICPA) Committee on Accounting Procedure 
 
GASB Statements 63 - Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflows of 
Resources, and Net Position and 65 Items previously reported as Assets and Liabilities 
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NOTE 15 - NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Concluded)  
 
Summary: 
 

These Statements provides financial reporting guidance for deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources.  Concepts Statement No. 4, Elements of Financial Statements, introduced 
and defined those elements as a consumption of net assets by the government that is applicable to a future 
reporting period, and an acquisition of net assets by the government that is applicable to a future reporting 
period, respectively.  Previous financial reporting standards do not include guidance for reporting those 
financial statement elements, which are distinct from assets and liabilities. 

 
Concepts Statement No. 4 also identifies net position as the residual of all other elements 

presented in a statement of financial position.  This Statement amends the net asset reporting requirements 
in Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements - and Management's Discussion and Analysis - for State 
and Local Governments, and other pronouncements by incorporating deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources into the definitions of the required components of the residual measure and 
by renaming that measure as net position, rather than net assets. 

 
 GASB Statement 65 also states that bond issuance costs should be expensed in the year which 
they are incurred.  As a result, the remaining unamortized bond issuance costs were written off as of 
January 1, 2012.  The restatement of the beginning net positions are as follows: 
 

Governmental Sewer
activities fund Total

Net position as previously stated, December 31, 2011 13,874,580$ 35,567,056$ 49,441,636$ 
Adoption of GASB 65 (7,218)           (37,145)         (44,363)         

Net position as restated, December 31, 2011 13,867,362$ 35,529,911$ 49,397,273$ 
 

 
 
NOTE 16 - SUBSEQUENT EVENT 
 
 In April, subsequent to year end the Township issued $1,200,000 in capital improvements bonds 
for the purpose of funding the north trail connector project.  
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NOTE 17 - UPCOMING ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENT 
 
 GASB statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions, was issued by the 
GASB in June 2012 and will be effective for the Township’s 2015 fiscal year.  The Statement requires 
governments that participate in defined benefit pension plans to report in their statement of net position a 
net pension liability.  The net pension liability is the difference between the total pension liability (the 
present value of projected benefit payments to employees based on their past service) and the assets 
(mostly investments reported at fair value) set aside in a trust and restricted to paying benefits to current 
employees, retirees, and their beneficiaries.  Statement 68 requires cost-sharing employers to record a 
liability and expense equal to their proportionate share of the collective net pension liability and expense 
for the cost-sharing plan.  The Statement also will improve the comparability and consistency of how 
governments calculate the pension liabilities and expense. 
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Original 
budget Final budget Actual

Variance 
with final 

budget
REVENUES:

Taxes 2,660,300$   2,644,080$   2,638,206$   (5,874)$         
Special assessments 331,000        355,130        353,961        (1,169)           
Intergovernmental 1,804,160 2,211,020 2,286,342     75,322          
Licenses and permits 168,500        175,320        181,376        6,056            
Charges for services 1,802,840     1,855,060     1,896,094     41,034          
Interest 20,000          4,000            8,421            4,421            
Other 477,650        479,390        481,970        2,580            

Total revenues 7,264,450     7,724,000     7,846,370     122,370        

EXPENDITURES:
Current:

General government:
Legislative - Board of Trustees 101,360        101,530        98,899          2,631            
Manager 312,030        315,430        314,568        862               
Accounting 197,300        157,670        146,475        11,195          
Clerk 237,740        234,890        232,416        2,474            
Information technology 293,180        288,340        261,615        26,725          
Treasurer 246,860        237,230        229,778        7,452            
Assessing 278,920        311,720        301,808        9,912            
Elections 84,220          88,580          87,559          1,021            
Building and grounds 282,810        265,460        246,246        19,214          
Cemetery 108,210        108,730        103,318        5,412            

Total general government 2,142,630     2,109,580     2,022,682     86,898          
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Original 
budget Final budget Actual

Variance 
with final 

budget
EXPENDITURES (Concluded):

Current (Concluded):
Recreation and culture:

Parks administration 176,960$      166,040$      162,963$      3,077$          
Parks 384,720        417,940 405,744 12,196          
Recreation 186,135        188,880 177,710 11,170          

Total recreation and culture 747,815        772,860 746,417 26,443          

Public works 884,180        923,680        682,325        241,355        

Community and economic development 614,870 638,880 553,021        85,859          

Other 357,720        457,820        386,527        71,293          

Debt service:
Principal 33,340          33,340          125,490        (92,150)         
Interest 8,730            8,730            8,725            5                   

Debt service 42,070          42,070          134,215        (92,145)         

Capital outlay 227,810        401,030        289,385        111,645        

Total expenditures 5,017,095     5,345,920     4,814,572     531,348        

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF
REVENUES OVER
(UNDER) EXPENDITURES 2,247,355     2,378,080     3,031,798     653,718        

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Proceeds from sale of capital asset 68,850 -                -                -                
Transfers in (out) (1,696,690)    (1,707,940)    (1,625,456)    82,484          

Total other financing sources (uses) (1,627,840)    (1,707,940)    (1,625,456)    82,484          

Net change in fund balance 619,515        670,140        1,406,342     736,202        

FUND BALANCE:
  Beginning of year 3,977,168     3,977,168     3,977,168     -                

  End of year 4,596,683$   4,647,308$   5,383,510$   736,202$      
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Original 
budget Final budget Actual

Variance 
with final 

budget
REVENUES:

Taxes 1,081,550$    1,065,660$    1,069,684$   4,024$         
Intergovernmental -                     70,500           85,776          15,276         
Other revenue 178,580         184,680         193,182        8,502           

Total revenues 1,260,130      1,320,840      1,348,642     27,802         

EXPENDITURES:
Current:

Public safety 1,828,750      1,866,720      1,825,444     41,276         

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF 
REVENUES OVER (UNDER)
EXPENDITURES (568,620)        (545,880)        (476,802)       69,078         

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Transfers in 568,620         545,880         476,802        (69,078)        

Net change in fund balance -                     -                     -                    -                   

FUND BALANCE:
Beginning of year -                     -                     -                    -                   

End of year -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                
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Original 
budget Final budget Actual

Variance 
with final 

budget
REVENUES:

Taxes 1,081,550$    1,065,660$    1,069,684$   4,024$          
Charges for services 54,780           31,680           31,689          9                   
Other revenue 51,000           56,000           58,814          2,814            

Total revenues 1,187,330      1,153,340      1,160,187     6,847            

EXPENDITURES:
Current:

Public safety 2,315,400      2,315,400      2,308,841     6,559            

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF
REVENUES OVER (UNDER)
EXPENDITURES (1,128,070)     (1,162,060)     (1,148,654)    13,406          

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Transfers in 1,128,070      1,162,060      1,148,654     (13,406)        

Net change in fund balance -                     -                     -                    -                   

FUND BALANCE:
  Beginning of year -                     -                     -                    -                   

End of year -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                
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The historical information required to be disclosed, beginning as of March 31, 2008, is as follows: 
 

(1)              (2)                 (3)                   (4)           (5)                 

Actuarial 
valuation 

date

Actuarial 
value of 
assets

Actuarial 
accrued 
liability 
(AAL)

Unfunded 
AAL (UAAL)  

(2) - (1)

Funded 
ratio 

(1)/(2)

Annual 
covered 
payroll

UAAL as a % 
of payroll [(2)-

(1)]/(5)

3/31/08 -$              3,627,845$  3,627,845$    0.0% 4,019,000$  90.3%
8/31/10 532,747    3,647,677    3,114,930      14.6% 4,030,000    77.3%  

 
 Schedule of employer contributions 
 

Year ended 
Actual valuation 

date

Annual 
required 

contribution
Actual 

contribution
Percentage 
contributed

Net OPEB 
obligation 

(asset)

12/31/2010 March 31, 2008 364,802$       359,092$   98.4% 5,710$        
12/31/2011 August 31, 2010 394,290         394,290     100.0% 5,710          
12/31/2012 August 31, 2010 387,077         382,978     98.9% 9,809           

 
 The information presented above was determined as part of the actuarial valuations at the dates 
indicated.  Additional information as of August 31, 2010 the latest actuarial valuation follows: 
 
Actuarial cost method Individual entry age

Amortization method Level percent open

Amortization period (perpetual) 30 years

Asset valuation method Market value

Actuarial assumptions:
Investment rate of return 8.0%
Projected salary increases 4.5%
Valuation health care cost trend rate 9% in 2011, grading to 4.5% in 2018  
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2012 2011
ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents 150,992$        349,835$    500,827$      494,147$      
Investments 203,321          -                  203,321        202,246        
Accounts receivable -                      4                 4                   8                   
Taxes receivable 13,397            334,043      347,440        368,911        
Special assessments receivable 19,416            -                  19,416          28,194          
Prepaids -                      1,500          1,500            -                    

TOTAL ASSETS 387,126$       685,382$   1,072,508$  1,093,506$   

LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable -$                    10,470$      10,470$        3,410$          

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES:
Unavailable revenue - property taxes -                      343,240 343,240        362,864        
Unavailable revenue - special assessments 19,416 -                  19,416          28,194          

TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS
OF RESOURCES 19,416            343,240      362,656        391,058        

FUND BALANCES:
Nonspendable: 

Prepaids -                      1,500          1,500            -                    
Restricted: 

Fire equipment, training and apparatus -                      330,172      330,172        281,401        
Committed:

For debt service 307,040 -                  307,040        383,106        
For water improvement 60,670 -                  60,670          34,531          

TOTAL FUND BALANCES 367,710          331,672      699,382        699,038        

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED
INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,  
AND FUND BALANCES 387,126$       685,382$   1,072,508$  1,093,506$   

Water 
improvement 

fund

Fire 
equipment, 

training and 
apparatus 

fund

Totals
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2012 2011
REVENUES:

Taxes -$                   353,999$     353,999$   375,939$  
Special assessments 14,699          -                  14,699       15,308      
Charges for services 14,750          -                  14,750       27,800      
Interest 1,067            206             1,273         1,484        
Intergovernmental -                    500             500            71,547      
Other revenue -                    -                  -                 360           

Total revenues 30,516            354,705        385,221     492,438     

EXPENDITURES:
Current:

Public safety -                      304,434        304,434     265,748     
Public works 4,295              -                    4,295         5,569         

Debt service:
Principal 58,275            -                    58,275       56,611       
Interest 17,873            -                    17,873       55,804       

Capital outlay -                      -                    -                 131,341     

Total expenditures 80,443            304,434        384,877     515,073     

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER (UNDER) EXPENSES (49,927)          50,271          344            (22,635)     

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Bond proceeds -                      -                    -                 721,779     
Payment to escrow agent -                      -                    -                 (687,645)   

Total other financing sources (uses) -                      -                    -                 34,134       

Net change in fund balances (49,927)          50,271          344            11,499       

FUND BALANCES:
Beginning of year 417,637          281,401        699,038     687,539     

End of year 367,710$       331,672$     699,382$   699,038$  

Totals
Water 

improvement 
fund

Fire 
equipment, 

training and 
apparatus 

fund
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Final budget Actual

Variance 
with final 

budget
Final 

budget Actual

Variance 
with final 

budget
REVENUES:

Taxes -$                 -$                 -$               354,370 353,999$     (371)$         
Special assessments 14,200         14,699         499            -                 -                   -                 
Charges for services 12,500         14,750         2,250         -                 -                   -                 
Interest 800              1,067           267            200 206              6                
Intergovernmental -                   -                   -                 500 500              -                 

Total revenues 27,500         30,516         3,016         355,070     354,705       (365)           

EXPENDITURES:
Current:

Public safety -                   -                   -                 317,830 304,434       13,396       
Public works 5,050           4,295           755            -                 -                   -                 

Debt service:
Principal 58,280         58,275         5                -                 -                   -                 
Interest 18,300         17,873         427            -                 -                   -                 

Total expenditures 81,630         80,443         1,187         317,830     304,434       13,396       

Water Improvement Fund
Fire Equipment, Training and Apparatus 

Fund
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Final budget Actual

Variance 
with final 

budget
Final 

budget Actual

Variance 
with final 

budget

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF
REVENUES OVER (UNDER)
EXPENDITURES (54,130)$      (49,927)$      4,203$       37,240$     50,271$       13,031$     

FUND BALANCES:
  Beginning of year 417,637       417,637       -                 281,401     281,401       -                 

  End of year 363,507$     367,710$     4,203$       318,641$   331,672$     13,031$     

Water Improvement Fund
Fire Equipment, Training and Apparatus 

Fund
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Tax
Trust and collection
Agency fund 2012 2011

ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents (1,154)$        14,386,194$   14,385,040$  15,947,154$   
Accounts receivable 6,061           -                      6,061             154                 
Taxes receivable 317,176       14,756,401     15,073,577    14,880,951     

TOTAL ASSETS 322,083$     29,142,595$   29,464,678$  30,828,259$   

LIABILITIES:
Due to other governments -$                 29,142,595$   29,142,595$  30,488,940     
Undistributed receipts 322,083       -                      322,083         339,319          

TOTAL LIABILITIES 322,083$     29,142,595$   29,464,678$  30,828,259$   

Totals
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Balance Balance
January 1, December  31, 

2012 Additions Deletions 2012

Trust and Agency
Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 51,381$            2,139,656$     2,192,191$    (1,154)$             
Accounts receivable 154                   326,302          320,395         6,061                 
Taxes receivable  287,784            159,822          130,430         317,176             

339,319$          2,625,780$     2,643,016$    322,083$           

Liabilities:
Undistributed receipts 339,319$          2,627,304$     2,644,540$    322,083$           

Current Tax
Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 15,895,773$     36,570,618$   38,080,197$  14,386,194$      
Taxes receivable  14,593,167       38,315,613     38,152,379    14,756,401        

 30,488,940$     74,886,231$   76,232,576$  29,142,595$      

Liabilities:
Due to other governments 30,488,940$     43,196,554$   44,542,899$  29,142,595$      

Totals
Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 15,947,154$     38,710,274$   40,272,388$  14,385,040$      
Accounts receivable 154                   326,302          320,395         6,061                 
Taxes receivable  14,880,951       38,475,435     38,282,809    15,073,577        

 30,828,259$     77,512,011$   78,875,592$  29,464,678$      

Liabilities:
Undistributed receipts 339,319$          2,627,304$     2,644,540$    322,083$           
Due to other governments 30,488,940 43,196,554     44,542,899    29,142,595

30,828,259$     45,823,858$   47,187,439$  29,464,678$      
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Internal service 
fund

Local site 
remediation fund

Governmental 
fund balance 

sheet Adjustments
Statement of net 

position
Statement of net 

position

ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents 10,451$              -$                       10,451$              -$                             
Taxes receivable 8,902                  -                         8,902                  136,825                   

Total assets 19,353$              -                         19,353                136,825                   

LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable 30$                     -                         30                       -                               

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES:
Unavailable revenue - property taxes 8,816                  -                         8,816                  136,825                   

FUND BALANCES:
Unassigned 10,507                (10,507)              -                         -                               

Total liabilities, deferred inflows
of resources, and fund balances 19,353$              

NET POSITION:
Unrestricted 10,507                10,507                -                               

Total net position 10,507$              10,507$              -$                             

Brownfield redevelopment authority
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Internal service 
fund

Local site 
remediation fund

Adjustments
Statement of 

activities
Statement of 

activities

REVENUES:
Property taxes 177,588$                       -$                      177,588$          -$                          

EXPENDITURES/EXPENSES:
Community and economic development 202,411                         -                        202,411            -                            

Changes in fund balances / net position (24,823)                          -                        (24,823)            -                            

FUND BALANCES/NET POSITION:
Beginning of year 35,330                           -                        35,330              -                            

End of year 10,507$                         -$                      10,507$            -$                          

Governmental fund 
statement of revenues, 

expenditures and changes 
in fund balance

Brownfield redevelopment authority
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Downtown
Development 2008 2010 Statement

General Bond Debt Refunding of Net
Operating Retirement Bonds Total Adjustments Position

ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents 1,453,533$     -$                -$               1,453,533$   -$                    1,453,533$     
Investments 474                 -                  -                 474               -                      474                 
Taxes receivable 2,718,774       -                  -                 2,718,774     -                      2,718,774       
Other receivables 703                 -                  -                 703               -                      703                 
Prepaids 1,763              -                  -                 1,763            29,088            30,851            
Capital assets not being depreciated -                      -                  -                 -                    4,889,564       4,889,564       
Capital assets being depreciated -                      -                  -                 -                    5,502,944       5,502,944       

TOTAL ASSETS 4,175,247$    -$               -$               4,175,247$  10,421,596   14,596,843   

LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable 104,542$        -$                -$               104,542$      -                      104,542          
Accrued liabilities 6,483              -                  -                 6,483            -                      6,483              
Interest payable -                      -                  -                 -                    54,615            54,615            
Due to other governments 1,222,861       -                  -                 1,222,861     -                      1,222,861       
Due to primary government 283,926          -                  -                 283,926        -                      283,926          
Long-term liabilities:

Due within one year -                      -                  -                 -                    1,079,969       1,079,969       
Due in more than one year -                      -                  -                 -                    8,459,464       8,459,464       

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,617,812       -                  -                 1,617,812     9,594,048       11,211,860     

Governmental funds balance sheet
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Downtown
Development 2008 2010 Statement

General Bond Debt Refunding of Net
Operating Retirement Bonds Total Adjustments Position

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES:
Unavailable revenue - property taxes 1,630,229$     -$                -$               1,630,229$   -$                    1,630,229$     

FUND BALANCES:
Nonspendable:

Prepaids 1,763              -                  -                 1,763            (1,763)             -                      
Unassigned 925,443          -                  -                 925,443        (925,443)         -                      

TOTAL FUND BALANCES 927,206          -                  -                 927,206        (927,206)         -                      

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED
 INFLOWS OF RESOURCES, AND
 FUND BALANCES 4,175,247$    -$               -$               4,175,247$  

NET POSITION:
Net investments in capital assets 862,564          862,564          
Unrestricted 892,190          892,190          

Total net position 1,754,754$    1,754,754$    

Governmental funds balance sheet
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Downtown
Development 2008 2010

General Bond Debt Refunding Statement
Operating Retirement Bonds Total Adjustments of Activities

REVENUES:
Property taxes 2,226,781$    -$               -$               2,226,781$   -$                   2,226,781$   
Other 20,931           -                 6,187          27,118          -                     27,118          
Interest and rents 26,427           -                 -                 26,427          -                     26,427          

Total revenues 2,274,139      -                 6,187          2,280,326     -                     2,280,326     

EXPENDITURES/EXPENSES:
Current:

Community and economic development 985,280         -                 -                 985,280        483,425 1,468,705     
Debt service:

Principal 100,416         436,403      500,000      1,036,819     (1,036,819)     -                   
Interest 33,527           307,585      28,435        369,547        (27,992)          341,555        

Capital outlay 11,298           -                 -                 11,298          (11,298)          -                   

Total expenditures/expenses 1,130,521      743,988      528,435      2,402,944     (592,684)        1,810,260     

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF
REVENUES OVER (UNDER)
EXPENDITURES/EXPENSES 1,143,618      (743,988)    (522,248)    (122,618)      592,684         470,066        

Governmental funds revenues, expenditures 
and changes in fund balances



 
 
 
 
 

91 

Downtown
Development 2008 2010

General Bond Debt Refunding Statement
Operating Retirement Bonds Total Adjustments of Activities

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Transfers in -$                   743,988$    522,248$    1,266,236$   (1,266,236)$   -$                 
Transfers out (1,266,236)     -                 -                 (1,266,236)   1,266,236      -                   

Total other financing sources (uses) (1,266,236)     743,988      522,248      -                   -                     -                   

Net change in fund balances/net position (122,618)        -                 -                 (122,618)      592,684         470,066        

FUND BALANCES/NET POSITION:
Beginning of year 1,049,824      -                 -                 1,049,824     234,864         1,284,688     

End of year 927,206$       -$               -$               927,206$      827,548$       1,754,754$   

Governmental funds revenues, expenditures
and changes in fund balances
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2012 2011
ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents 4,189,364$       2,894,505$       
Investments 663,104            659,162            
Receivables:

Taxes 2,789,318         2,923,376         
Special assessments 113,288            62,386              
Other 447,728            398,929            

Due from component unit 283,926            309,536            
Property held for resale 60,542              -                    
Prepaids 46,431              52,906              

          TOTAL ASSETS 8,593,701$       7,300,800$       

LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable 470,294$          302,808$          
Accrued liabilities 81,794              73,051              
Unearned revenue 790 66,795

          TOTAL LIABILITIES 552,878            442,654            

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES:
Unavailable revenue - property taxes 2,504,510 2,635,672
Unavailable revenue - ambulance fees 39,515 182,920
Unavailable revenue - special assessments 113,288 62,386

TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 2,657,313         2,880,978         

FUND BALANCE:
Nonspendable: 

Property held for sale 60,542              -                    
Prepaids 46,431              52,906              

Restricted:
For neighborhood stabilization plan 40,045              40,045              

Committed: 
Disaster contingency fund 10,000              10,000              

Unassigned 5,226,492         3,874,217         

          TOTAL FUND BALANCE 5,383,510         3,977,168         

          TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF 
          RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCE 8,593,701$       7,300,800$       
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 2012 2011
REVENUES:

Taxes 2,638,206$        2,763,858$        
Special assessments 353,961             342,283             
Intergovernmental 2,286,342          2,166,758          
Licenses and permits 181,376             226,356             
Charges for services 1,896,094          1,885,919          
Interest 8,421                 15,267               
Other 481,970             504,378             

Total revenues 7,846,370          7,904,819          

EXPENDITURES:
Current:

General government:
Legislative - Board of Trustees 98,899               97,806               
Manager 314,568             326,919             
Accounting 146,475             193,754             
Clerk 232,416             229,238             
Information technology 261,615             236,205             
Treasurer 229,778             225,555             
Assessing 301,808             256,048             
Elections 87,559               14,288               
Building and grounds 246,246             277,827             
Cemetery 103,318             101,521             

Total general government 2,022,682          1,959,161          
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STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES  
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 2012 2011
EXPENDITURES (Concluded):

Current (Concluded):
Public works 682,325$           491,153$           

Community and economic development 553,021             608,433             

Recreation and culture 746,417 712,694

Other 386,527 321,261             

Debt service 134,215 164,980

Capital outlay 289,385             178,718             

Total expenditures 4,814,572          4,436,400          

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES 3,031,798          3,468,419          

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Proceeds from sale of capital asset -                         100,089             
Transfers out (1,625,456)         (1,388,301)         

Total other financing sources (uses) (1,625,456)         (1,288,212)         

Net change in fund balance 1,406,342          2,180,207          

FUND BALANCE:
  Beginning of year 3,977,168          1,796,961          

  End of year 5,383,510$        3,977,168$        
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2012 2011
ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents 61,575$         147,958$       
Investments 226,801         428,972         
Special assessments receivable 422,974         411,141         
Other receivables 1,666,734      1,117,721      
Prepaids 35,177           55,597           

          TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 2,413,261      2,161,389      

NONCURRENT ASSETS:
Restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments:

Debt service cash and cash equivalents 1,045,473      648,034         
Replacement cash and cash equivalents 283,858         829,489         
Replacement investments 657,442         653,626         

Unamortized bond discounts 55,377 86,235
Property, plant and equipment not being depreciated 8,871,840      4,138,735      
Property, plant and equipment net of accumulated depreciation 43,958,193    46,032,131    

          TOTAL NONCURRENT ASSETS 54,872,183    52,388,250    

          TOTAL ASSETS 57,285,444    54,549,639    
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LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION 2012 2011

CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable 512,506$       368,647$       
Accrued liabilities 173,881         156,894         
Interest payable 139,219         114,251         
Retainage payable 75,136           118,618         
Current portion of long-term debt 1,237,496      1,650,322      

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,138,238      2,408,732      

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES, net of current portion:
Due in more than one year 20,666,962    16,610,996    

TOTAL LIABILITIES 22,805,200    19,019,728    

NET POSITION:
Net investment in capital assets 30,925,575    31,909,548    
Restricted for:

Replacement 941,300         1,483,115      
Debt service 1,045,473      648,034         

Unrestricted 1,567,896      1,489,214      

TOTAL NET POSITION 34,480,244$  35,529,911$  

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION 57,285,444$  54,549,639$  
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2012 2011
OPERATING REVENUES:

Charges for services 5,061,459$      4,963,327$      
Permits and fees 53,400             143,221           
Other operating revenue 156,063           62,288             

          Total operating revenues 5,270,922        5,168,836        

OPERATING EXPENSES:
  Costs of sales and services 3,569,203        3,256,447        
  Depreciation 2,282,607        2,298,326        

          Total operating expenses 5,851,810        5,554,773        

          Operating loss (580,888)          (385,937)          

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):
Interest and rentals 26,361             36,820             
Amortization of bond discount (30,858)            (71,540)            
Interest expense (464,282)          (534,713)          

          Total non-operating revenues - net (468,779)          (569,433)          

          Net loss before capital contributions and transfers (1,049,667)       (955,370)          

CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS -                       31,475

Change in net position (1,049,667)       (923,895)          

NET POSITION:
  Beginning of year (as restated) 35,529,911      36,453,806      

  End of year 34,480,244$    35,529,911$    
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2012 2011
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH 

EQUIVALENTS:
Cash flows from operating activities:

Cash received from customers 4,710,076$     5,014,812$      
Cash payments to suppliers for goods and services (1,579,312)     (1,651,560)       
Cash payments to employees for services (1,333,884)     (1,292,441)       

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,796,880      2,070,811        

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Purchase of capital assets (5,459,997)     (2,072,976)       
Proceeds from bonds 5,293,462      5,143,172        
Interest payments (439,314)        (638,335)         
Principal payments (1,650,322)     (5,221,144)       

Net cash used by capital and related financing activities (2,256,171)     (2,789,283)       

Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds (purchases) from maturities of investments 198,355         (106,556)         
Interest and rental earnings 26,361 36,820            

Net cash provided (used) by investing activities 224,716         (69,736)           

NET INCREASE (DECREASE)  IN CASH 
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (234,575)        (788,208)         

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:
Beginning of year 1,625,481      2,413,689        

End of year 1,390,906$     1,625,481$      

Statement of net position classification of cash 
and cash equivalents:

Cash and cash equivalents 61,575$          147,958$        
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 1,329,331 1,477,523

1,390,906$     1,625,481$      

Noncash activities:
Noncash capital contributions -$                     31,475$          
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2012 2011

RECONCILIATION OF NET OPERATING REVENUES
(EXPENSE) TO NET CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
PROVIDED (USED) BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Operating loss (580,888)$       (385,937)$       
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash provided

(used) by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 2,282,607      2,298,326        
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 518,223         4,494              
(Increase) decrease in assets:

Special assessments receivable (11,833)          27,897            
Other receivables (549,013)        (181,921)         
Prepaid expenses 20,420           (39,355)           

Other assets -                      (16,692)           
Increase (decrease) in liabilities:

Accounts payable 143,859         226,805          
Accrued expenses 16,987           19,076            
Retainage payable (43,482)          118,618          
Deposits payable -                  (500)                

Total adjustments 2,377,768      2,456,748        

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,796,880$     2,070,811$      
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Federal Current
Federal grantor/pass-through grantor/ CFDA Pass through year 

program title number grantor's number expenditures

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency:
Passed though Michigan DEQ

State Revolving Fund Grants
Clean Water Revolving Fund 66.458 5403-01 568,956$    

U.S. Department of Homeland Security:
Assistance to Firefighters Grant: 97.044

FY 2010 AFG EMW-2010-FO-04517 500             
FY 2010 SAFER EMW-2010-FF-00079 85,776        

Total Passed through U.S. Department of 
Homeland Security 86,276        

TOTAL FEDERAL AWARDS 655,232$    
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1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

Sewer fund 568,956$       
Fire fund 85,776           
Other nonmajor governmental funds 500                

655,232$       

Federal expenditures are reported as revenue in the following governmental funds and an increase to
bonded debt in the enterprise funds in the financial statements:

Basis of presentation - The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards includes the
grant activity of the Charter Township of Delhi and is presented on the modified accrual basis of
accounting. The information in this schedule is presented in accordance with OMB Circular A-133
and reconciles with the amounts presented in the preparation of the financial statements.

State Revolving Fund Grant (CFDA 66.458) was audited as major programs representing 87% of
federal awards.

The threshold for distinguishing Type A and Type B programs was $300,000.

Expenditures on the schedule have been reconciled financial reports submitted to the grantors listed
on the schedule of expenditures of federal awards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL  
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER  

MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED 
IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
 
To the Board of Trustees  
Charter Township of Delhi 
 
 
 We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental 
activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major 
fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Charter Township of Delhi, as of and for the year 
ended December 31, 2012, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise 
Charter Township of Delhi’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated April 
15, 2013.   
 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
 In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Charter 
Township of Delhi’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the 
financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Charter 
Township of Delhi’s internal control over financial reporting.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion 
on the effectiveness of Charter Township of Delhi’s internal control. 
 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a 
timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance.   

 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph 

of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or, significant deficiencies.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we considered to be material weaknesses.  However, material 
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.  
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Compliance and Other Matters 
 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Charter Township of Delhi’s financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a 
direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts.  However, providing an 
opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do 
not express such an opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other 
matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.  

 
Purpose of this Report 
 
 The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance.  
Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.   

 
  
 
 
 
April 15, 2013 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH 
MAJOR PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE  

REQUIRED BY OMB CIRCULAR A-133 
 
 
To the Board of Trustees 
Charter Township of Delhi 
 
 
Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 
 

We have audited Charter Township of Delhi’s compliance with the types of compliance 
requirements described in the OMB Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and 
material effect on each of Charter Township of Delhi’s major federal programs for the year ended 
December 31, 2012.  Charter Township of Delhi’s major federal programs are identified in the summary 
of auditor’s results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.   

 
Management’s Responsibility 
 
 Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts 
and grants applicable to its federal programs. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of Charter Township of 
Delhi’s major federal programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to 
above.  We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 
in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and OMB Circular A-133, 
Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations.  Those standards and OMB Circular 
A-133 require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and 
material effect on a major federal program occurred.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, 
evidence about Charter Township of Delhi’s compliance with those requirements and performing such 
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.   

 
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each 

major federal program.  However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of Charter Township 
of Delhi’s compliance. 
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Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 
 

In our opinion, Charter Township of Delhi complied, in all material respects, with the types of 
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its 
major federal programs for the year ended December 31, 2012. 
 
Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 
 

Management of Charter Township of Delhi is responsible for establishing and maintaining 
effective internal control over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above.  
In planning and performing our audit of compliance, we considered Charter Township of Delhi’s internal 
control over compliance with the types of requirements that could have a direct and material effect on a 
major federal program to determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance for each major federal program and to test and report 
on internal control over compliance in accordance with OMB Circular A-133, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance.  Accordingly, we do not 
express an opinion on the effectiveness of Charter Township of Delhi’s internal control over compliance. 

 
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control 

over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their 
assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program on a timely basis.  A material weakness in internal control over 
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such 
that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement 
of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  A significant 
deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe 
than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by 
those charged with governance.   

 
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in 

the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance that might be deficiencies, significant deficiencies, or material weaknesses.  We did not 
identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses.  
However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 
 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of 
our testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of 
OMB Circular A-133.  Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 
 
 
 
 

April 15, 2013 
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Internal control over financial reporting:
 Material weakness(es) identified ?   Yes X   No

 Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are not 
considered to be material weakness(es) ?   Yes X   None reported

  Yes X   No

 Material weakness(es) identified:   Yes X   No

 Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are not 
considered to be material weakness(es) ?   Yes X   None reported

 

  Yes X   No

CFDA Number(s)

66.458

  Yes X   No

None

Federal Awards

Section II - Financial Statement Findings

Section III - Federal Award Findings and Question Costs

 $  300,000 

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?

Internal control over major programs:

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for major 
programs:

State Revolving Fund Grant

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported 
in accordance with Sections 510(a) of Circular A-133?

Name of Federal Program or Cluster

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type A and type 
B programs:

None

Unqualified

Identification of major programs:

Section I - Summary of Auditor's Results

Financial Statements

Type of auditor's report issued: Unqualified

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted?
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There were no prior audit findings required to be reported on this schedule for the year ended December 
31, 2011. 
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 This part of Delhi Township’s financial statements presents detailed information as a context for 
understanding what the information in the financial statements, note disclosures, and required 
supplementary information says about the Township’s overall financial health. 
 
 The statistical section is organized into the following main categories: 
 
Financial Trends 
 

These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how the Township’s 
financial performance and well-being have changed over time. 
 

Revenue Capacity 
 

These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the Township’s most significant 
local revenue source, the property tax. 
 

Debt Capacity 
 

These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the affordability of the Township’s 
current levels of outstanding debt, and the Township’s ability to issue additional debt in the 
future. 

 
Demographic and Economic Information 
 

These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader understand the 
environment within which the Township’s financial activities take place. 

 
Operating Information 
 

These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader understand how the 
information in the Township’s financial report relates to the services the Township provides. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Sources:  Unless otherwise noted, the information in these schedules is derived from the Report on the 
Financial Statements for the relevant year.  The Township implemented GASB 34 in 2003.  Schedules 
presenting government wide information include information beginning in that year. 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF DELHI 
NET POSITION BY COMPONENT 

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS 
(ACCRUAL BASIS OF ACCOUNTING) 

Schedule 1  
Unaudited 
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2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012*

Governmental activities:
Net investment in capital assets 4,097,858$       2,747,773$       2,904,787$       4,180,266$       4,298,842$       5,141,128$       8,580,733$       9,359,465$       9,506,445$       9,338,276$       
Restricted 934,921            1,340,368         1,676,748         1,586,782         1,845,176         82,188              59,126              5,624                321,446            360,521            
Unrestricted 4,626,633         4,428,042         4,136,777         3,404,342         3,388,481         4,039,122         2,655,541         2,590,604         4,046,689         5,495,248         

Total governmental activities net assets 9,659,412$       8,516,183$       8,718,312$       9,171,390$       9,532,499$       9,262,438$       11,295,400$     11,955,693$     13,874,580$     15,194,045$     

Business-type activities:
Net investment in capital assets 22,554,025$     27,311,338$     30,568,426$     30,873,207$     32,052,918$     33,175,333$     32,927,591$     32,029,945$     31,909,548$     30,925,575$     
Restricted 2,341,490         3,440,595         3,275,154         3,244,209         3,439,345         2,618,428         2,841,822         2,001,776         2,131,149         1,986,773         
Unrestricted 8,498,052         4,750,275         3,865,016         4,322,440         3,376,243         2,799,900         1,824,266         2,459,230         1,526,359         1,567,896         

Total business-type activities net assets 33,393,567$     35,502,208$     37,708,596$     38,439,856$     38,868,506$     38,593,661$     37,593,679$     36,490,951$     35,567,056$     34,480,244$     

Primary government:
Net investment in capital assets 26,651,883$     30,059,111$     33,473,213$     35,053,473$     36,351,760$     38,316,461$     41,508,324$     41,389,410$     41,415,993$     40,263,851$     
Restricted 3,276,411         4,780,963         4,951,902         4,830,991         5,284,521         2,700,616         2,900,948         2,007,400         2,452,595         2,347,294         
Unrestricted 13,124,685       9,178,317         8,001,793         7,726,782         6,764,724         6,839,022         4,479,807         5,049,834         5,573,048         7,063,144         

Total primary government net assets 43,052,979$     44,018,391$     46,426,908$     47,611,246$     48,401,005$     47,856,099$     48,889,079$     48,446,644$     49,441,636$     49,674,289$     

* The Governmental beginning net position was decreased by $7,218 and the business-type beginning net position was reduced by $37,145 due to implementation of GASB 65, which removed bond issuance costs from the 
amortization schedules.

Fiscal Year Ended
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2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Expenses
Governmental activities:

General governmental 2,348,086$      2,028,273$     1,887,124$      1,984,846$      2,310,105$      2,327,244$      2,162,616$      2,286,907$     2,087,161$      2,219,150$      
Public safety 3,796,061        3,743,943       3,629,755        3,890,919        4,083,262        4,346,453        4,503,054        4,309,039       4,430,295        4,667,246        
Public works 905,791           567,311          420,645           488,254           467,234           797,885           1,214,437        633,727          702,533           816,169           
Community development -                       341,779          -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       652,920          613,856           557,885           
Recreation & culture 614,243           670,705          741,668           770,980           823,026           847,934           918,737           952,510          935,756           944,672           
Other governmental activities -                       218,691          209,611           237,858           16,410             -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       
Interest on long-term debt 219,529           171,866          139,856           115,218           103,955           91,009             76,276             60,120            44,561             27,004             

Total governmental activities 7,883,710        7,742,568       7,028,659        7,488,075        7,803,992        8,410,525        8,875,120        8,895,223       8,814,162        9,232,126        

Business-type activities:
Sewer 4,444,272        5,124,559       5,304,487        5,423,789        5,493,927        5,700,904        6,114,406        6,209,025       6,161,026        6,346,950        
Community development -                       -                      545,424           599,503           698,192           686,645           661,871           -                      -                       -                       

Total business-type activities 4,444,272        5,124,559       5,849,911        6,023,292        6,192,119        6,387,549        6,776,277        6,209,025       6,161,026        6,346,950        
Total primary government expenses 12,327,982$    12,867,127$  12,878,570$   13,511,367$   13,996,111$   14,798,074$   15,651,397$   15,104,248$  14,975,188$   15,579,076$   

Program revenues
Charges for services:

General government 377,398$         596,127$        617,892$         711,788$         813,504$         892,589$         902,289$         907,325$        946,334$         929,505$         
Public safety 580,478           945,328          504,341           546,463           590,840           677,948           648,678           739,988          800,662           867,842           
Public works 635,989           -                      -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       345,410          346,808           333,912           
Community development -                       29,880            -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       351,602          380,862           322,069           
Recreation and culture 109,214           108,695          127,318           115,240           152,570           134,870           133,835           109,304          103,555           128,332           

Operating grants and contributions 59,833             506,673          459,807           608,514           217,929           155,846           97,136             168,765          422,216           478,110           
Capital grants and contributions -                       306,076          (3,396)              114,693           258,803           421,038           3,396,484        271,422          109,207           217,544           

Total governmental activities program revenues 1,762,912        2,492,779       1,705,962        2,096,698        2,033,646        2,282,291        5,178,422        2,893,816       3,109,644        3,277,314        

Business-type activities:
Charges for services:

Sewer 5,335,388        5,401,343       5,678,173        5,404,117        5,010,784        4,802,468        4,866,048        5,042,106       5,116,198        5,282,019        
Community development -                       -                      601,664           460,926           412,815           280,151           322,203           -                      -                       -                       

Operating grants and contributions -                       161,079          250,731           388,458           493,867           389,390           309,131           30,109            10,069             -                       
Capital grants and contributions 253,957           901,587          1,550,284        253,243           322,539           401,403           145,768           46,604            31,475             -                       

Total business-type activities program revenues 5,589,345        6,464,009       8,080,852        6,506,744        6,240,005        5,873,412        5,643,150        5,118,819       5,157,742        5,282,019        
Total primary government program revenues 7,352,257$     8,956,788$    9,786,814$     8,603,442$     8,273,651$      8,155,703$     10,821,572$   8,012,635$    8,267,386$     8,559,333$     

Net (Expense)/Revenue
Governmental activities (6,120,798)$     (5,249,789)$    (5,322,697)$     (5,391,377)$     (5,770,346)$     (6,128,234)$     (3,696,698)$     (6,001,407)$    (5,704,518)$     (5,954,812)$     
Business-type activities 1,145,073        1,339,450       2,230,941        483,452           47,886             (514,137)          (1,133,127)       (1,090,206)      (1,003,284)       (1,064,931)       

Total primary government net expense (4,975,725)$     (3,910,339)$   (3,091,756)$    (4,907,925)$    (5,722,460)$    (6,642,371)$    (4,829,825)$    (7,091,613)$   (6,707,802)$    (7,019,743)$    
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General Revenues and Other Changes in Net Position
Governmental activities:

Property taxes 3,034,627$      2,837,256$     3,083,557$      3,325,504$      3,482,728$      3,631,229$      3,726,355$      3,642,755$     5,393,489$      5,131,573$      
State shared revenues 1,956,061        1,846,592       1,845,018        1,798,179        1,765,856        1,762,721        1,553,811        1,474,950       1,888,513        1,913,989        
Grants & contributions not restricted to specific programs 546,427           564,271          313,785           311,693           536,536           545,943           505,290           558,432          324,964           226,239           
Unrestricted investment earnings 100,474           114,606          147,015           273,927           306,428           179,694           77,351             36,518            16,439             9,694               
Gain (loss) on sale of capital assets 6,160               331,980          110,928           10,945             162,393           (26,128)            -                       -                      -                       -                       
Intra-entity transfer 383,529           -                      -                       (5,017)              (122,486)          (235,286)          (133,145)          49,224            -                       -                       
Transfers 443,172          -                    -                     -                     -                      -                     -                     -                    -                     -                      

Total governmental activities 6,470,450       5,694,705     5,500,303      5,715,231      6,131,455       5,858,173      5,729,662      5,761,879     7,623,405      7,281,495      

Business-type activities:
Investment earnings 198,152           -                      -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      24,339             15,264             
Other 261,823           -                      -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       
Intra-entity transfer -                       -                      -                       5,017               122,486           235,286           133,145           (49,224)           -                       -                       
Transfers (443,172)          -                      -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       
Grants and contributions not restricted to specific programs -                      -                    -                     242,789         258,278          4,006             -                     36,702          55,050           -                      

Total business-type activities 16,803            -                    -                     247,806         380,764          239,292         133,145         (12,522)         79,389           15,264           
Total primary government 6,487,253$     5,694,705$    5,500,303$     5,963,037$     6,512,219$      6,097,465$     5,862,807$     5,749,357$    7,702,794$     7,296,759$     

Change in Net Position
Governmental activities 349,652$         444,916$        177,606$         323,854$         361,109$         (270,061)$        2,032,964$      (239,528)$       1,918,887$      1,326,683$      
Business-type activities 1,161,876        1,339,450       2,230,941        731,258           428,650           (274,845)          (999,982)          (1,102,728)      (923,895)          (1,049,667)       

Total primary government 1,511,528$     1,784,366$    2,408,547$     1,055,112$     789,759$         (544,906)$       1,032,982$     (1,342,256)$   994,992$        277,016$        

The Community Development activity became an enterprise fund in 2005 and was reclassified back to the General Fund in 2010.  
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2003 2004* 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011** 2012
General Fund:

Reserved 665,254$    22,249$      17,181$      16,879$      131,422$    43,263$      118,449$    29,070$      -$                -$                
Unreserved 3,336,559   3,594,274   3,478,017   2,810,035   2,757,433   2,542,428   1,949,051   1,767,891   -                  -                  
Nonspendable -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  52,906        106,973      
Restricted -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  40,045        30,349        
Committed -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  10,000        10,000        
Unassigned -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  3,874,217   5,236,188   

Total general fund 4,001,813$ 3,616,523$ 3,495,198$ 2,826,914$ 2,888,855$ 2,585,691$ 2,067,500$ 1,796,961$ 3,977,168$ 5,383,510$ 

All other Governmental Funds:
Reserved 391,894$    2,702$        2,322$        1,697$        26,276$      4,672$        14,603$      50$             -$                -$                
Unreserved, report in:

Special revenue funds 1,322,000   620,877      1,047,526   1,423,826   1,693,348   981,313      734,765      687,489      -                  -                  
Debt service funds -                  716,789      626,900      161,259      125,552      82,187        59,126        5,624          -                  -                  

Nonspendable in special revenue funds -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  39,266        33,247        
Restricted in special revenue funds -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  281,401      330,172      
Committed in special revenue funds -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  417,637      367,710      
Unassigned in special revenue funds -                 -                -                -                -                 -                 -                -                (39,266)     (31,747)     

Total all other governmental funds 1,713,894$ 1,340,368$ 1,676,748$ 1,586,782$ 1,845,176$ 1,068,172$ 808,494$    693,163$    699,038$    699,382$    

 

* Beginning fund balance was decreased by $46,084 due to a restatement.
** New fund balance categories  
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2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
Revenues:

Taxes 2,949,759$      2,837,256$      3,083,557$      3,325,504$      3,482,728$      3,631,229$      3,726,355$      3,642,755$      5,393,489$      5,131,573$     
Special assessments 99,388             332,282           283,497           302,707           309,267           413,635           345,481           353,122           357,591           368,660          
Intergovernmental 2,009,211        2,233,400        1,948,687        1,896,685        2,054,131        2,034,967        1,832,749        1,939,042        2,275,689        2,372,618       
Licenses and permits 635,989           470,630           16,262             17,215             16,969             15,965             16,526             206,255           226,356           181,376          
Charges for services 1,021,182        1,209,400        1,233,289        1,387,884        1,612,695        1,656,817        1,644,706        1,852,940        1,936,354        1,942,533       
Interest 85,582             123,919           196,732           354,870           395,285           227,839           89,122             39,751             16,751             9,694              
Other 996,282          933,347         876,789         880,588         651,883          771,323         699,737         715,166         739,263         733,966        

Total revenues 7,797,393       8,140,234      7,638,813      8,165,453      8,522,958       8,751,775      8,354,676      8,749,031      10,945,493    10,740,420   

Expenditures:
General government 1,837,345        2,089,764        1,959,882        2,098,720        2,145,159        2,157,101        2,018,484        2,104,089        1,959,161        2,022,682       
Public safety 3,626,658        3,521,507        3,479,152        3,679,179        3,881,356        4,102,659        4,191,856        3,951,764        4,165,152        4,438,719       
Engineering 130,891           141,751           60,529             -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      
Public works 763,795           415,552           350,107           488,254           467,234           787,877           542,762           536,245           496,722           686,620          
Community development -                       339,990           -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       588,014           608,433           553,021          
Recreation and culture 546,032           615,878           622,949           630,761           694,297           706,826           767,951           725,571           712,694           746,417          
Other 205,754           218,691           209,611           230,413           204,589           333,332           323,535           348,663           321,261           386,527          
Debt service:

Principal 358,486           406,210           498,208           500,462           504,763           521,389           553,967           705,239           241,897           183,765          
Interest 223,270           187,401           134,391           113,902           100,592           87,808             73,415             57,262             66,755             26,598            

Capital outlay 619,059          1,690,847      219,857         1,201,701      255,292          902,863         531,272         167,278         321,559         289,385        
Total expenditures 8,311,290       9,627,591      7,534,686      8,943,392      8,253,282       9,599,855      9,003,242      9,184,125      8,893,634      9,333,734     

Excess of revenues over (under) expenditures (513,897)         (1,487,357)     104,127         (777,939)        269,676          (848,080)        (648,566)        (435,094)        2,051,859      1,406,686     

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Proceeds from long-term debt -                       500,000           -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      
Issuance of refunding debt -                       2,365,000        -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       721,779           -                      
Payment to refunded bond escrow agent -                       (2,353,080)       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       (687,645)          -                      
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 8,178               250,476           110,928           24,710             173,145           3,200               3,840               -                       100,089           -                      
Bond premium -                       12,229             -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      
Inter-entity transfers in 383,529           -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      
Transfers in 504,540           604,397           621,903           794,517           592,477           595,388           692,348           84,243             1,388,301        1,625,456       
Transfers out (504,540)         (604,397)        (621,903)        (799,534)        (714,963)         (830,674)        (825,493)        (35,019)          (1,388,301)     (1,625,456)    

Total other financing sources (uses) 391,707          774,625         110,928         19,693           50,659            (232,086)        (129,305)        49,224           134,223         -                     

Net change in fund balances (122,190)$       (712,732)$       215,055$        (758,246)$       320,335$         (1,080,166)$    (777,871)$       (385,870)$       2,186,082$     1,406,686$    

Debt service as a percentage of noncapital expenditures 7.6% 7.5% 8.6% 7.9% 7.6% 7.0% 7.4% 8.5% 10.8% 2.3%
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Fiscal Taxable
Year Value as a 

Ended Agricultural Commercial Industrial Residential Developmental Personal Total Taxable Total Direct Assessed Percentage of
December 31 Property Property Property Property Property Property Value Tax Rate Value Assessed Value

2003 2,318,418$   86,532,326$   13,766,815$   442,823,750$     -$                   40,306,800$            585,748,109$       5.5253          678,378,800$       86.35%
2004 2,331,465     99,636,533     14,109,294     481,682,386       -                     40,517,100              638,276,778         5.3370          740,946,400         86.14%
2005 2,590,787     111,556,779   15,460,638     525,702,625       -                     45,210,400              700,521,229         5.3262          811,331,950         86.34%
2006 2,218,367     114,964,632   15,051,118     572,239,358       -                     46,827,750              751,301,225         5.3282          867,761,750         86.58%
2007 2,468,072     121,108,641   14,121,340     606,104,452       -                     46,577,255              790,379,760         5.3064          890,124,785         88.79%
2008 2,514,938     126,663,528   16,032,179     615,416,841       -                     52,132,300              812,759,786         5.3455          903,051,000         90.00%
2009 2,575,559     129,201,749   15,211,328     592,190,424       -                     45,226,200              784,405,260         5.4039          835,843,650         93.85%
2010 2,504,049     123,516,681   13,641,928     549,152,400       -                     48,597,700              737,412,758         7.8094          771,940,775         95.53%
2011 2,525,723     118,189,772   22,133,866     531,477,428       -                     39,901,800              714,228,589         7.8094          739,999,851         96.52%
2012 2,573,066     118,370,473   24,493,165     497,480,929       -                     49,847,700              692,765,333         7.8094          713,338,371         97.12%

Personal Property by Category

Commercial Industrial Utility
2003 n/a n/a n/a
2004 n/a n/a n/a
2005 34,880,700         910,100                   9,419,600             
2006 36,125,750         916,950                   9,785,050             
2007 36,017,505         715,400                   9,844,350             
2008 25,205,100         16,380,500              10,546,700           
2009 23,557,300         11,015,500              10,653,400           
2010 22,660,900         14,787,900              11,148,900           
2011 20,533,200         11,240,900              8,127,700             
2012 21,060,600         17,414,800              11,372,300           

Source:  Township Assessing Department
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Ingham Ingham Lansing Total
Fiscal Fire Equip Debt Total County Intermediate Community State Debt Total Direct &

Year Ended Operating Fire/EMS Police & Training Service Township Operating School College Education Operating Service School Overlapping
December 31 Millage Millage Millage Millage Millage Millage Millage Millage Millage Tax Millage Millage Millage Rates

2003 4.3940 0.0000 0.0000 0.4942 0.6371 5.5253 12.2489 6.0553 3.8544 5.0000 0.0000 10.0000 10.0000 42.6839
2004 4.3403 0.0000 0.0000 0.4881 0.5086 5.3370 12.2038 6.0291 3.8375 6.0000 0.0000 10.0000 10.0000 43.4074
2005 4.3094 0.0000 0.0000 0.4846 0.5322 5.3262 12.2566 5.9911 3.8112 6.0000 0.0000 10.0000 10.0000 43.3851
2006 4.3094 0.0000 0.0000 0.4846 0.5342 5.3282 13.1731 5.9881 3.8072 6.0000 0.0000 10.0000 10.0000 44.2966
2007 4.3094 0.0000 0.0000 0.4846 0.5124 5.3064 13.1538 5.9881 3.8072 6.0000 0.0000 10.0000 10.0000 44.2555
2008 4.3094 0.0000 0.0000 0.4846 0.5515 5.3455 14.1009 5.9881 3.8072 6.0000 0.0000 10.0000 10.0000 45.2417
2009 4.3094 0.0000 0.0000 0.5000 0.5945 5.4039 14.0811 5.9881 3.8072 6.0000 0.0000 10.0000 10.0000 45.2803
2010 4.3094 1.5000 1.5000 0.5000 0.0000 7.8094 14.0739 5.9881 3.8072 6.0000 0.0000 10.0000 10.0000 47.6786
2011 4.3094 1.5000 1.5000 0.5000 0.0000 7.8094 14.1133 5.9881 3.8072 6.0000 0.0000 10.0000 10.0000 47.7180
2012 4.3094 1.5000 1.5000 0.5000 0.0000 7.8094 14.7533 5.9881 3.8072 6.0000 0.0000 10.0000 10.0000 48.3580

Non-homestead school operating millage
2003 17.4674
2004 17.3171
2005 17.3171
2006 17.3171
2007 17.3171
2008 17.3171
2009 17.3171
2010 17.3171
2011 17.3171
2012 17.3171

Source:  Township Assessing Department

Delhi Charter Township Holt School District
Overlapping Rates
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Percentage Percentage
of Total Twp. of Total Twp.

Taxable Taxable Taxable Taxable
Taxpayer Value Rank Value Value Rank Value

RSDC of Michigan, LLC 12,031,300$    1 1.7% 32,427,300$    1 5.1%
Consumers Energy 11,172,519      2 1.6% 8,421,021        3 1.3%
Dart Container Corp of MI 7,867,420        3 1.1% 4,105,104        6 0.7%
Woodland Lakes Investment Group 6,160,600        4 0.9%
Parker Hannifin Corp 5,472,300        5 0.8% 5,159,300        4 0.8%
DTN Enterprises LLC 4,038,067        6 0.6%
Bondarenko Ltd LLC 3,697,524        7 0.5% 4,386,346        5 0.7%
Theroux Development Co. 3,680,271        8 0.5% 3,058,972        9 0.5%
Comcast of Michigan, LLC 3,176,180        9 0.5%
Aspen Lakes Estates II LLC 2,475,500        10 0.4% 0.0%
Stealth Engineering 3,127,100        8 0.5%
Tailor Steel 11,425,500      2 1.8%
Magna Interior Systems 3,236,300        7 0.5%
CPSM Holding Corp 2,595,706        10 0.4%

Source:  Township Assessing Department

2012 2003
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Fiscal Year Total Tax Collections in
Ended Levy Subsequent

December 31 Fiscal Year Amount
Percentage of 

Levy  Years Amount
 Percentage of 

Levy

2003 3,039,438$        2,986,631$        98.3% 51,339$             3,037,969$        99.95%
2004 3,360,749          3,340,283          99.4% 16,250               3,356,533          99.87%
2005 3,539,253          3,520,466          99.5% 17,695               3,538,161          99.97%
2006 3,843,446          3,829,154          99.6% 11,663               3,840,817          99.93%
2007 4,308,253          4,297,110          99.7% 9,720                 4,306,830          99.97%
2008 4,436,174          4,422,146          99.7% 9,405                 4,431,552          99.90%
2009 4,336,310          4,325,485          99.8% 5,741                 4,331,226          99.88%
2010 5,872,671          5,852,639          99.7% 8,058                 5,860,697          99.80%
2011 5,663,616          5,643,714          99.6% 6,690                 5,650,403          99.77%
2012 5,614,077          5,594,097          99.6% -                         5,594,097          99.64%

Ingham County reimburses the Township for all delinquent real property tax.

Source:  Township Tax and Delinquent Personal Property Tax programs

Collected with the
Total Collections to DateFiscal Year of the Levy
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General Special General Installment General Special Total Percentage
Fiscal Obligation Assessment Assessment Purchase Obligation Assessment Revenue Notes Primary of Personal Per
Year Bonds Bonds Payable Agreement Bonds Bonds Bonds Payable Government Income Capita*

2003 3,572,325$   409,143$   378,823$    -$              8,172,675$   1,268,857$   -$                  5,932,374$   19,734,197$   3.30% 829$         
2004 3,339,025     317,750     357,306      500,000    7,940,975     1,031,250     -                    5,248,259     18,734,565     2.93% 750           
2005 2,984,060     229,357     335,789      466,667    7,620,940     793,643        -                    4,535,000     16,965,456     2.56% 671           
2006 2,597,430     160,964     194,410      433,379    7,287,570     596,036        -                    3,985,000     15,254,789     2.22% 593           
2007 2,178,303     120,771     182,265      400,088    6,931,697     435,229        1,280,410     3,405,000     14,933,763     2.11% 576           
2008 1,732,511     90,578       170,108      366,834    7,557,490     314,422        7,687,569     2,800,000     20,719,512     2.95% 795           
2009 1,254,220     60,386       157,959      333,501    7,123,696     209,614        9,305,624     2,160,000     20,605,000     2.85% 790           
2010 734,266        30,193       2,109,291   300,168    6,669,563     104,807        10,084,919   1,480,000     21,513,207     3.00% 834           
2011 711,789        -                 1,987,532   266,834    6,316,448     -                    11,179,870   765,000        21,227,473     3.08% 829           
2012 653,514        -                 1,961,961   233,500    5,871,128     -                    16,033,333   -                    24,753,436     3.36% 959           

* Based on population estimates.

See Schedule 14 for Demographic and Economic Statistics for personal income and population data.  

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities
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Total Bonded Total Governmental
General Special General Special Total Debt as a Activities Per

Fiscal Obligation Assessment Obligation Revenue Assessment Primary Percentage of G.O. Debt Capita

Year Bonds Bonds Bonds Bonds Bonds Government Taxable Value1 Per Capita2 Income

2003 3,572,325$      409,143$      8,172,675$      -$                         1,268,857$      13,423,000$      2.29% 150$                            25,101$             
2004 3,339,025        317,750        7,940,975        -                         1,031,250      12,629,000       1.98% 133.68                       25,640             
2005 2,984,060        229,357        7,620,940        -                         793,643         11,628,000       1.66% 118.05                       26,179             
2006 2,597,430        160,964        7,287,570        -                         596,036         10,642,000       1.42% 100.90                       26,717             
2007 2,178,303        120,771        6,931,698        1,280,410           435,229         10,946,411       1.38% 84.02                         27,256             
2008 1,732,511        90,578          7,557,490        7,687,569           314,421         17,382,569       2.14% 66.46                         26,935             
2009 1,254,221        60,385          7,123,696        9,305,624           209,614         17,953,540       2.29% 48.09                         27,768             
2010 734,266           30,193          6,669,564        10,084,919         104,807         17,623,749       2.39% 28.38                         27,768             
2011 711,789           -                   6,316,448        11,179,870         -                     18,208,107       2.55% 27.79                         26,912             
2012 653,514           -                   5,871,128        16,033,333         -                     22,557,975       3.26% 25.31                         28,540             

General Bonded General
General Special Debt as a Bonded

Fiscal Obligation Assessment Percentage of Debt

Year Bonds Bonds Total Taxable Value1 Per Capita2

2003 3,572,325$      409,143$      3,981,468$      0.68% 167$                
2004 3,339,025        317,750        3,656,775        0.57% 146.41           
2005 2,984,060        229,357        3,213,417        0.46% 127.12           
2006 2,597,430        160,964        2,758,394        0.37% 107.15           
2007 2,178,303        120,771        2,299,074        0.29% 88.68             
2008 1,732,511        90,578          1,823,089        0.22% 69.93             
2009 1,254,221        60,385          1,314,606        0.17% 50.41             
2010 734,266           30,193          764,459           0.10% 29.54             
2011 711,789           -                   711,789           0.10% 27.79             
2012 653,514           -                   653,514           0.09% 25.31             

Note:  Details regarding the township's outstanding debt can be found in the notes to the financial statements.

1 See Schedule 6, the Schedule of Assessed Value and Taxable Value of Property for property value data.
2 See Schedule 14, the Schedule of Demographic and Economic Statistics for population data.

GENERAL BONDED DEBT

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES
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Net
General Percent Amount

Bonded Debt Applicable Applicable
Jurisdiction Outstanding to Delhi to Delhi

Holt School District 91,176,722$         83.33% 75,977,562$   
Mason School District 19,385,000           10.06% 1,950,131
Lansing School District 52,200,000           0.04% 20,880
Eaton Rapids School District 44,140,122           1.24% 547,338
Ingham County 47,600,203           9.91% 4,717,180
Ingham Intermediate School District 2,334,000             8.29% 193,489
Eaton Intermediate School District 1,130,000             0.24% 2,712
Lansing Community College 49,865,000           6.82% 3,400,793
Subtotal, overlapping debt 86,810,085     

Delhi Charter Township direct debt 653,514                100.00% 653,514          

Total direct and overlapping debt 87,463,599$   

Source:  Municipal Advisory Council of Michigan (MAC)

The MAC obtains the taxable values of properties within the various taxing jurisdictions from the State
of Michigan. The percentage applicable to Delhi Township is calculated by dividing the taxable value
of Delhi Township taxpayers in that jurisdiction by the total taxable value of the jurisdiction.

Note: Overlapping governments are those that coincide, at least in part, with the geographic boundaries
of the Township. This schedule estimates the portion of the outstanding debt of those overlapping
governments that is borne by the residents and businesses of Delhi Charter Township. This process
recognizes that, when considering the government's ability to issue and repay long-term debt, the entire
debt burden borne by the residents and businesses should be taken into account. However, this does not
imply that every taxpayer is a resident, and therefore responsible for repaying the debt, of each
overlapping government.
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2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Debt limit 67,837,880$     74,094,640$ 81,133,195$ 86,776,175$ 89,012,479$ 90,305,100$ 83,584,365$     77,184,731$ 75,707,465$ 71,302,823$ 

Total net debt applicable 
to limit 23,948,262       22,510,710   20,498,349   18,772,865   17,079,653   25,284,342   22,991,615       22,629,459   20,614,366   18,250,046   

Legal debt margin 43,889,618$     51,583,930$ 60,634,846$ 68,003,310$ 71,932,826$ 65,020,758$ 60,592,750$     54,555,272$ 55,093,099$ 53,052,777$ 

Total net debt applicable 
to the limit as a percentage
of debt limit 35.30% 30.38% 25.27% 21.63% 19.19% 28.00% 27.51% 29.32% 27.23% 25.60%

Legal Debt Margin Calculation for Fiscal Year 2012

2012 State Equalized Valuation (SEV) 713,028,230$   
x            10%

Legal Debt Limit (10% of SEV) 71,302,823       

Direct General Obligation Debt 34,283,379$ 
Less:

Revenue Bonds (16,033,333)  

Net Direct Debt 18,250,046       

Debt Limit Margin 53,052,777$     

Fiscal Year
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Estimated Total
Personal Income

for Township Per
Residents Capita

Fiscal Population (amounts expressed Personal Median School Unemployment

Year (estimated)1 in thousands) Income1 Age1 Enrollment2 Rate3

2003 23,817       597,831$                  25,101$      n/a 5,705         3.6%
2004 24,977       640,410                    25,640        n/a 5,866         4.0%
2005 25,279       661,779                    26,179        n/a 5,947         4.1%
2006 25,743       687,776                    26,717        36.7 6,005         4.0%
2007 25,925       706,612                    27,256        36.7 5,998         3.9%
2008 26,070       702,195                    26,935        36.7 5,973         4.5%
2009 26,078       724,134                    27,768        38.5 5,862         7.3%
2010 25,877       718,553                    27,768        n/a 5,862         7.0%
2011 25,610       689,216                    26,912        37.7 5,892         5.7%
2012 25,817       736,817                    28,540        38.2 5,781         4.8%

Data Sources:  
1 U.S. Census Bureau and estimated by current trends
2 Holt Public Schools
3 State of Michigan: Department of Energy, Labor, and Economic Growth
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Approx. No. % of Total Approx. No. % of Total Approx. No. % of Total
Employer Employed Rank Employment Employed Rank Employment Employed Rank Employment
Holt Public Schools 830 1 n/a 850 1 n/a 850 1 n/a
Dakkota Integrated Interiors 293 2 n/a 361 2 n/a 261 2 n/a
RSDC of Michigan, LLC 200 3 n/a 175 4 n/a 171 4 n/a
Orchid Stealth 190 4 n/a 153 5 n/a 117 8 n/a
Granger Construction 152 5 n/a 197 3 n/a 172 3 n/a
Kroger 145 6 n/a 130 7 n/a 130 5 n/a
Magna Powertrain (MPT) 135 7 n/a 150 6 n/a 125 6 n/a
Holt Senior Care 123 8 n/a 123 8 n/a 120 7 n/a
Lansing Christian School 100 9 n/a 100 9 n/a 100 9 n/a
Block Imaging 80 10 n/a
Delhi Charter Township 79 10 n/a 73 10 n/a

Approx. No. % of Total Approx. No. % of Total Approx. No. % of Total
Employed Rank Employment Employed Rank Employment Employed Rank Employment

Holt Public Schools 850 1 n/a 850 1 n/a 855 1 n/a
Dakkota Integrated Interiors 249 2 n/a 537 2 n/a 167 4 n/a
RSDC of Michigan, LLC 164 4 n/a 300 2 n/a
Orchid Stealth 115 5 n/a 153 4 n/a 150 5 n/a
Granger Construction 170 3 n/a 170 3 n/a 271 3 n/a
Kroger 105 7 n/a 100 8 n/a
Holt Senior Care 110 6 n/a
Lansing Christian School 100 8 n/a 80 8 n/a
Delhi Charter Township 84 10 n/a 134 5 n/a 104 6 n/a
Davenport Masonry 97 9 n/a 65 10 n/a
Shiffer Mason Contractors 125 6 n/a
Martin Luther Holt Home 108 7 n/a
Parker Hannifin Corp 90 9 n/a 97 7 n/a
Molded Plastics 65 9 n/a
Dart Container 43 10 n/a
Holt Products

Approx. No. % of Total
Employed Rank Employment

Holt Public Schools 625 1 n/a
Dakkota Integrated Interiors 180 4 n/a
RSDC of Michigan, LLC 272 2 n/a
Orchid Stealth 115 5 n/a
Granger Construction 250 3 n/a
Lansing Christian School 100 8 n/a
Delhi Charter Township 101 7 n/a
Parker Hannifin Corp 109 6 n/a
Dart Container 43 10 n/a
Holt Products 44 9 n/a

2009 2008 2007

2006

2012 2011 2010
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Function 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

General government: 20.50      20.50      20.63      20.10      19.94      19.32      17.82      17.82      18.17      16.17      
Public Safety:

Police:
Officers * 21.00      21.00      21.00      21.00      21.00      21.00      21.00      18.00      19.00      19.00      
Civilians * 1.50        1.50        1.50        1.50        1.50        1.50        1.50        1.50        1.50        1.50        

Fire:
Firefighters and officers 17.30      17.20      17.41      17.66      17.66      18.31      18.81      17.96      17.96      19.00      
Civilians 1.50        1.50        1.50        1.50        1.50        1.80        1.80        1.80        1.80        1.00        

Public Works 24.50      25.50      27.25      28.84      29.60      26.60      26.30      22.55      23.80      25.10      
Engineering 1.50        1.50        -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         
Community Development 6.00        6.00        7.00        7.50        7.50        7.85        6.80        6.80        6.00        6.00        
Recreation and Culture 5.00        5.50        5.00        5.50        5.80        5.80        5.80        5.80        9.43        9.32        

Total 98.80      100.20    101.29    103.60    104.50    102.18    99.83      92.23      97.66      97.09      

Source:  Townships Budget Documents and Human Resources
* These positions are employees of Ingham County.  The Township contracts with Ingham County for police protection.
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2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
Function

Fire:
Number of Calls 1,850                 1,818               2,063               2,065               2,122               2,287                2,182               2,324               2,410               2,577               
Inspections 858                    907                  1,138               836                  1,004               1,000                375                  1,129               826                  800                  
Burning/Recreational Permits 1,331                 1,964               1,901               2,171               2,069               1,288                356                  317                  271                  220                  

Police:
Number of Traffic Accidents 890                    779                  872                  741                  969                  842                   669                  507                  288                  455                  
Number of Written Complaints 4,673                 4,644               4,525               4,683               4,729               4,621                4,667               4,125               4,044               2,535               
Number of Miles Driven 198,475             174,376           163,754           187,916           153,791           150,075             146,832           115,671           113,913           117,023           
Vehicle Stops 8,013                 7,011               5,609               5,429               7,849               8,041                8,754               5,869               5,867               5,512               

Accounting:
Number of W-2's processed 369                    345                  293                  356                  314                  362                   300                  303                  225                  273                  
Number of payroll checks processed n/a 2,933               2,456               2,614               2,346               2,353                1,932               1,459               1,189               1,442               
Number of payroll direct deposits n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 1,463                1,685               2,063               2,085               2,038               
Number of purchase orders processed n/a 1,314               1,061               873                  795                  734                   593                  458                  432                  444                  
Number of accounts payable checks processed 2,992                 3,571               2,753               2,830               2,881               2,767                2,585               2,156               2,283               2,376               
Number of accounts payable ACHs sent 39                     40                    224                  513                  482                  

Assessing:
Number of Field Inspections 1,438                 2,226               1,242               2,485               899                  1,381                364                  679                  1,188               464                  

Clerk's Office:
Number of FOIA requests 56                     122                  77                    56                    65                    37                     29                    37                    26                    85                    
Number of pages scanned/microfilmed 64,000               113,708           73,166             21,452             19,985             26,754               35,962             39,369             4,962               8,072               

Elections:
Number of Registered Voters 15,734               16,578             16,804             16,723             17,016             17,929               17,542             17,425             17,891             18,572             
Number of Permanent Absentee Voters 1,251                 1,251               1,815               1,766               2,010               2,294                2,206               2,584               2,490               2,819               

Treasurer's Office:
Monthly Average No. of Sewer Bills mailed 6,435                 6,852                 7,000                 7,150                 7,157                 7,195                 7,257                 7,225                 7,087                 7,043                 
Monthly Average No. of Sewer Bills Emailed -                     -                   -                   -                   -                   -                    -                   -                   116                  208                  
Number of Tax Bills-Two billings/year beg, 2003 18,187               18,534             19,154             19,875             20,110             20,278               20,382             20,494             20,412             20,743             

Recreation and Culture:
Number of Athletic Teams 247                    242                  253                  290                  231                  259                   254                  248                  282                  293                  
Number of Sr. Citizens Trips 8                       8                      8                      8                      9                      8                       8                      11                    11                    10                    
Tennis Lessons 204                    201                  196                  200                  165                  195                   204                  155                  -                   -                   

Wastewater:
Average daily sewage treatment 2.12                   2.87                 2.23                 3.00                 2.45                 2.54                  2.68                 2.15                 2.35                 2.10                 
(millions of gallons per day)

Community Development:
Permits Issued 2,287                 2,136               1,858               1,526               1,629               986                   1,194               1,229               1,207               1,180               

Code Enforcement Complaints 1,718                 547                    677                    592                    585                    530                    563                    583                    579                    422                    

Source:  Various Township Departments
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2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
Function

Public Safety:
Fire Stations 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2

Recreation and Culture:
Parks Acreage 95 110 110 110 120 120 120 120 120 120
Parks 7 8 8 9 9 9 9 9 9 9
Senior Center 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Buildings 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Tennis Courts 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8

Sewer:
Sanitary Sewers (miles) n/a n/a 122.05 122.63 124.44 124.43 124.54 124.54 124.54 125.62
Maximum daily treatment capacity 2.5 2.5 4 4 4 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5

(millions of gallons)

General Government:
Cemeteries 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Community Service Center 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1  
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2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Taxable Value 156,389,893$   171,974,913$   187,329,054$   208,725,517$   224,269,239$   238,602,015$   227,057,132$   214,579,630$   221,574,763$   206,199,563$   
Base Value 48,663,625       48,572,525       48,572,525       48,603,975       48,663,625       48,650,975       48,650,975       48,650,975       48,650,975       48,650,975       

Captured Value 107,726,268$   123,402,388$   138,756,529$   160,121,542$   175,605,614$   189,951,040$   178,406,157$   165,928,655$   172,923,788$   157,548,588$   

*Revenue shared with Township n/a n/a 124,135            136,746            154,344            168,833            176,761            169,826            316,446            304,938            
*Revenue shared with other entities n/a n/a 458,791            507,179            608,850            665,869            735,201            705,432            1,079,582         1,270,429         

Revenues:
Tax Revenue 2,609,319$       2,917,116$       2,967,098$       2,940,331$       3,481,027$       3,401,772$       3,624,633$       3,440,887$       2,433,722$       2,226,781$       
Other 87,124              99,558              120,795            208,910            332,307            269,444            108,921            45,128              232,818            47,358              

Total Revenue 2,696,443         3,016,674         3,087,893         3,149,241         3,813,334         3,671,216         3,733,554         3,486,015         2,666,540         2,274,139         

Expenditures:
Community & Economic Development 319,122            695,503            891,648            926,712            1,884,356         3,986,582         1,576,478         4,297,057         1,216,214         985,280            
Debt Service 1,635,130         651,377            425,423            118,064            116,551            120,039            118,388            107,236            89,325              133,943            
Capital Outlay 1,199,973         498,320            730,254            595,350            821,227            11,367,077       1,964,396         14,150              -                        11,298              

Total Expenditures 3,154,225         1,845,200         2,047,325         1,640,126         2,822,134         15,473,698       3,659,262         4,418,443         1,305,539         1,130,521         

Other Financing Sources (uses):
Sale of Capital Assets -                        148,245            -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        
Bond Proceeds 977,625            -                        -                        -                        -                        8,995,149         -                        2,540,000         -                        -                        
Transfers Out to Debt Service Funds (383,529)           (782,251)           (329,496)           (366,248)           (333,386)           (448,709)           (1,084,832)        (1,034,238)        (1,254,338)        (1,266,236)        

Total other financing sources (uses) 594,096            (634,006)           (329,496)           (366,248)           (333,386)           8,546,440         (1,084,832)        1,505,762         (1,254,338)        (1,266,236)        

Change in net position 136,314            537,468            711,072            1,142,867         657,814            (3,256,042)        (1,010,540)        573,334            106,663            (122,618)           

Fund Balance:
Beginning of the year 1,875,915         1,587,187         2,124,655         2,835,728         3,978,595         4,636,409         1,380,367         369,827            943,161            1,049,824         

End of the year 2,012,229$       2,124,655$       2,835,727$       3,978,595$       4,636,409$       1,380,367$       369,827$          943,161$          1,049,824$       927,206$          

*DDA Revenue Sharing Agreement:  DDA returns a percentage of captured revenue as follows -  2005 - 2010 = 20%; 2011 - 2015 = 40%; 2016 - 2020 = 60%; 2021 - 2024 = 75%  
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MEMORANDUM 
 

 
 
TO:  Delhi Township Board Members 
 
FROM: John B. Elsinga, Township Manager 
 
DATE: May 1, 2013 
 
RE:  Publicly Owned Treatment Works (POTW) Laboratory Supply and  

Equipment Order 
 
 
Enclosed for your review and approval is an annual laboratory supply order along 
with some equipment and operating supplies for the POTW. 
 
Purchasing these items through the bidding process, with three vendors, 
provides a savings to the Township in supply costs and staff time. 
 
Therefore, I recommend the Board accept the lowest responsive bid from Fisher 
Scientific Company in the total amount of $27,087.80. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED MOTION: 
 
To approve the Publicly Owned Treatment Works (POTW) 
expenditure for laboratory supplies from Fisher Scientific 
Company in the amount of $27,087.80. 

Amy
Text Box
ATTACHMENT VIII




 

U:\Tricia\Board Agendas\2013 Agenda Packets\5-7\2013 laboratory supplies.doc 

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 

TO:
FROM:  SANDRA DIORKA, DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC SERVICES 

  JOHN ELSINGA, TOWNSHIP MANAGER 

SUBJECT: POTW – LABORATORY SUPPLIES 
DATE:  MAY 1, 2013 
COPY TO:

As has been the tradition since 1999, the POTW has taken proposals for a large 
order of laboratory supplies.  These items represent a one-year supply of anticipated 
routine use.  Proposals were solicited from the only major suppliers of laboratory 
operating supplies; Fisher Scientific (Fisher), VWR International, and North Central 
Labs (NCL).  This will result in a substantial savings on the actual cost of the supplies 
and additional savings on shipping costs, as well as administrative and laboratory staff 
time.   

 JEFF RANES, FILE 

 
A summary of the supplies and costs from each of the vendors is attached 

hereto.  Fisher had the lowest responsive bid and included free shipping. 
 

Laboratory supplies, sample tubing, gloves, and surface/storm water sampling 
are budgeted items and funds are available in the Department of Public Services 
Laboratory Supplies Account Number 590-558.00-742.000, Other Operating Expenses 
Account Number 590-558.00-741.000, Safety Equipment Supplies Account Number 
590-558.00-775.003, and Stormwater Laboratory Supplies Account Number 101-
281.00-742.000. 
 

I respectfully request that you recommend to the Board a motion to approve an 
expenditure of $19,205.81 for laboratory supplies, $2,802.71 from other operating 
expenses, $4,053.36 for safety equipment and supplies, and stormwater laboratory 
supplies, $1,025.92 from Fisher Scientific; for a total purchase price of $27,087.80. 

 



2013 LABORATORY SUPPLIES ORDER
Delhi Charter Township POTW

Fisher
Quantity Unit Catalog number Description Bid  Extended Bid  Extended Bid  Extended

1 case A61-100 Acid, Ascorbic,100g 6/cs 233.08$        233.08$            79.93$          479.58$            290.40$        290.40$             
1 case A300-S212 Acid, Sulfuric, 2.5L, 6/case 145.48$        145.48$            377.28$        377.28$            230.00$        230.00$             
1 each A674-500 Ammonium Molybdate Tetrahydrate, 500g 162.29$        162.29$            167.85$        167.85$            190.20$        190.20$             
1 case 02-555-25A Beakers, Pyrex 150ml 285.46$        285.46$            286.54$        286.54$            145.10$        145.10$             
1 case 02-591-10D Beakers, 250ml, Nalgene (1201-1000)6/pk,6pk/cs 173.67$        173.67$            211.32$        211.32$            185.00$        185.00$             
1 case 02-591-10G Beakers, 1000ml, Nalgene (1201-1000) 3/pk, 4pk/cs 100.71$        100.71$            164.51$        164.51$            135.00$        270.00$             
1 roll 14-127-50 Bench Liner 30"X 50' Polyethylene foam 244.84$        244.84$            355.60$        355.60$            176.50$        353.00$             
4 pack NC9574781 BOD Nutrient powder pillows Hach No. 2436466 37.59$          150.36$            31.75$          127.00$            33.75$          135.00$             
1 case 02-926-8 Bottles, BOD, 300 ml, Wheaton #22749701G, 24/case 214.68$        214.68$            348.80$        348.80$            216.00$        216.00$             
1 each 03-439-75D Bottle Carrier, HDPE, 8 Compartment 233.08$        233.08$            281.12$        281.12$            324.00$        324.00$             
1 pack 02-893-4F Bottle, LDPE, 1 oz, wide mouth, 12/pack 15.80$          15.80$              47.33$          47.33$              34.00$          34.00$               
1 pack 02-924-6D Bottle, LDPE, 8 oz, narrow mouth,  12/pack 30.62$          30.62$              56.06$          56.06$              44.75$          44.75$               
1 case 02-893-5E Bottle, LDPE, 16 oz, wide mouth, 12/pack, 4pk/cs 127.33$        127.33$            211.53$        443.06$            168.00$        336.00$             
2 case 02-893-5F Bottle, LDPE, 32 oz, wide mouth, 6/pack, 4pk/cs 112.71$        225.42$            202.13$        404.26$            148.00$        444.00$             
2 case 02-912-313 Bottles, Glass, Fisherbrand, 32oz 58.33$          116.66$            73.58$          147.16$            265.00$        530.00$             
1 pack 03-541-5 Brush, heavy-duty, wooden handle, 16" length, 12/pk 32.09$          32.09$              147.70$        147.70$            106.00$        106.00$             
3 each 1501-1 Buffer, pH-4, 4 liter 26.38$          79.14$              128.15$        384.45$            29.00$          116.00$             
3 each 1551-1 Buffer, pH-7, 4 liter bottle 26.37$          79.11$              128.15$        384.45$            29.00$          116.00$             
1 each 1601-1 Buffer,pH10, 4 liter 26.20$          26.20$              125.98$        125.98$            29.00$          116.00$             
3 case 02-961-10A Carboy w/o spigot 9L 6/cs 273.71$        821.13$            426.09$        1,278.27$         329.00$        1,316.00$          
1 case 02-963BB Carboy, w/spigot, Nalgene, 20L w/Spiggot (2318-0050) 4/case 377.03$        377.03$            636.88$        636.88$            455.00$        1,365.00$          
1 each 02-963AA Carboy, w/spigot, Nalgene, 4L (2318-0010) 4/case 73.00$          73.00$              187.44$        187.44$            398.00$        796.00$             
1 each 15-459-20 Clear Bath, Algae Inhibitor 108.19$        108.19$            95.64$          95.64$              61.00$          61.00$               

12 pack 22-026-339 COD Digestion vials, 3 - 150 mg/L, 150/Pk 30.17$          362.04$            207.00$        2,484.00$         148.50$        297.00$             
4 each NC9774223 Core Pro Sr. sampler 15ft, USA Blue Book # 71475 129.35$        517.40$            No Bid 181.50$        726.00$             
1 pack 14-385-904C Cell, Quartz, Fisherbrand, w/PTFE cover, 10mm, 3ml 377.46$        377.46$            264.64$        1,058.56$         855.00$        855.00$             
1 case 14-955-114A Containers, Multipurpose, Specimrn storage, w/lid 4oz, 300/cs  82.59$          82.59$              116.11$        116.11$            82.50$          165.00$             
1 pack 12-548C Cover glass Fisherfinest 125/pk 9.21$            9.21$                22.45$          22.45$              43.00$          43.00$               
1 case 08-572-5C Cylinder, graduated, plastic, 50mL, 12/Cs 302.99$        302.99$            350.84$        350.84$            194.50$        583.50$             
1 case 08-572-5D Cylinder, graduated, plastic, 100mL, 12/Cs 180.00$        180.00$            261.77$        261.77$            198.00$        396.00$             
5 each 14-242-10 Dipper, Polyethelyne, Fisherbrand 500ml 60.85$          304.25$            133.17$        665.85$            110.00$        660.00$             

14 pack 09-720-501 Dishes, petrie, plastic w/pad, 47mm, sterilized, 150/pack 48.34$          676.76$            49.06$          1,324.62$         52.00$          936.00$             
1 case 08-690C Dish, evaporating porcelain, Coors #60198, 80 ml, 24/case 321.83$        321.83$            236.45$        236.45$            191.00$        573.00$             
4 pack 08-594-14A Desicant, Disposable, Cartridges, 6/pack 45.22$          180.88$            57.19$          228.76$            47.50$          190.00$             
1 each Ac21906-0020 Drierite, without indicator, 10-20 mesh, 2kg 158.20$        158.20$            177.58$        177.58$            5.50$            11.00$               
4 each 13-299-81 Membrane Electrolyte Module 60.20$          240.80$            77.15$          308.60$            63.00$          252.00$             
2 pack 14-660-103 Membrane kit, for YSI model 550A DO probe 46.80$          93.60$              59.30$          118.60$            47.00$          94.00$               
1 each 13-642-263 Electrode, ammonia, Orion # 9512BN, w/BNC 531.23$        531.23$            671.28$        671.28$            556.00$        556.00$             
2 each 13-642-274 Electrode, chlorine, Orion # 9770BN 515.77$        1,031.54$         642.90$        1,285.80$         535.00$        1,070.00$          
1 each 13-642-560 Electrode, pH, Orion # 9206BN 130.68$        130.68$            125.09$        125.09$            100.00$        300.00$             
1 each 13-620-AP56 Electrode, Accumet, Submersible, pH 99.46$          99.46$              176.82$        176.82$            150.00$        150.00$             

35 pack 09-873BB Filter (Whatman 1827-032), 100/pack 24.42$          854.70$            32.98$          1,154.30$         26.50$          927.50$             
9 pack 09-805-G Filter, paper,Whatman,15cm 100/pk 16.70$          150.30$            21.77$          195.93$            17.25$          207.00$             
8 pack 09-805-H Filter, paper,Whatman,18.5cm 100/pk 23.27$          186.16$            30.28$          242.24$            24.05$          192.40$             
4 pack 09-719-555 Filter, membrane, 0.45 micron, 600/pack 182.19$        728.76$            No Bid 221.00$        884.00$             
1 pack 10-090B Flask, erlenmeyer, 250 ml, Pyrex, heavy duty, wide mouth, 12/pack 53.66$          53.66$              76.75$          76.75$              54.00$          162.00$             
3 each 10-310-91 Flask Kimax 100ml square volumetric, 34.65$          103.95$            49.18$          147.54$            37.00$          222.00$             

Fisher VWR NCL
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1 case 10-210B Flask, Volumetric, 50ml, 6/pk, 2pk/cs 267.96$        267.96$            330.80$        330.80$            320.00$        960.00$             
1 case 10-181F Flask, Filtering, tubulation 1000ml 6/pk 564.75$        564.75$            763.80$        763.80$            235.00$        235.00$             
1 each NC9166412 Gasket, Door, Market Forge Autoclave, Model STME 53.82$          53.82$              118.50$        118.50$             
6 case 19-120-2415D Gloves Best N-Dex 6005PFLG  100/pk, 20pk/cs 244.58$        1,467.48$         477.89$        2,867.34$         275.00$        1,650.00$          
6 case 19-120-2415E Gloves Best N-Dex 6005PFXLG  100/pk, 20pk/cs 244.58$        1,467.48$         477.89$        2,867.34$         275.00$        1,650.00$          
8 case 19-130-3714D Gloves, latex, powder free, Ultra 1, 50/pack, XL, 1000/case 139.80$        1,118.40$         269.73$        5,394.60$         155.00$        1,550.00$          
3 each 04-334-1 Labsolutions, Liquid Detergent, 1gal 107.32$        321.96$            111.94$        335.82$            106.00$        318.00$             
3 each 04-334-2 Labsolutions, Neutral Acid Rinse, 34oz 19.97$          59.91$              22.50$          67.50$              19.50$          58.50$               
2 pack 12-550-A3 Microscope slides, Fisherbrand, 75X25mm 17.11$          34.22$              40.47$          80.94$              6.00$            12.00$               

39 pack MHA000P2F MFC Fecal Coli, 2ml, PL, AMP, 50/pack (released 3 pk/month) 56.95$          2,221.05$         44.12$          4,323.76$         64.60$          2,519.40$          
1 pack 04-345-20 Nacromix,Reagent, 10/pk 94.57$          94.57$              196.06$        196.06$            NO BID NO BID
1 each NC9115485 Nitrification Inhibitor, Hach brand, 500g 148.00$        148.00$            154.00$        154.00$            140.00$        140.00$             
1 each 5625-16 Phenophthalein, Indicator 1% W/V in 50% V/V 21.89$          21.89$              22.09$          22.09$              15.00$          15.00$               
1 case 13-650-2C Pipet, class A, volumetric, 2ml, 12/case 61.29$          61.29$              138.10$        138.10$            109.00$        109.00$             
1 case 13-650-2F Pipet, class A, volumetric, 5ml, 12/case 60.68$          60.68$              137.93$        137.93$            112.00$        112.00$             
1 case 13-650-2M Pipet, Pyrex, class A, volumetric, 15ml, 12/case 127.72$        127.72$            296.25$        296.25$            168.00$        168.00$             
1 case 13-650-2n Pipet, Pyrex, class A, volumetric,20ml, 12/case 130.11$        130.11$            298.88$        298.88$            176.00$        176.00$             
1 case 13-650-2P Pipet, Pyrex, class A, volumetric,25ml, 12/case 171.34$        171.34$            302.10$        302.10$            193.00$        386.00$             
1 case 13-671-108C Pipet,fisher, serological,wide, 5mL Lg tip, 12/case 104.43$        104.43$            202.37$        202.37$            145.00$        145.00$             
1 case 13-671-108D Pipet,fisher, serological,wide, 10mL Lg tip, 12/case 104.57$        104.57$            394.10$        394.10$            149.00$        149.00$             
1 case 13-711-7M Pipet, fisher brand, disposable, 7.7ml, 500/cs 262.01$        262.01$            64.19$          64.19$              33.00$          33.00$               

20 each 13-681-51 Pipet bulbs 9.92$            198.40$            18.78$          375.60$            15.00$          300.00$             
1 case P281-500 Potassium Persulfate,Crystaline Powder, 500g 83.09$          83.09$              44.40$          266.40$            309.00$        309.00$             
8 each 13-641-854 Reagent, acid, chlorine test, Orion #977011, 475 ml 72.11$          576.88$            82.25$          658.00$            67.60$          540.80$             

15 each 13-641-823 Reagent, iodide, chlorine test, Orion #977010, 250 ml total, 5/box 83.07$          1,246.05$         96.94$          1,454.10$         79.00$          1,185.00$          
2 each 15-443-30 Settlometer, Mallory, Pyrex 218.58$        437.16$            209.87$        419.74$            205.00$        820.00$             
1 case S318-1 Sodium Hydroxide, Pellets, 1kg 458.84$        458.84$            20.25$          121.50$            31.20$          31.20$               
1 each S474-500 Sodium Thiosulfate, Crystaline 500g 74.53$          74.53$              79.43$          79.43$              28.60$          28.60$               
3 each 13-641-824 Standard, Residual chlorine, 475ml 69.43$          208.29$            89.27$          267.81$            67.90$          203.70$             
3 each 13-641-924C Standard, Ammonia,1000ppm, 475ml 61.62$          184.86$            77.56$          232.68$            60.00$          180.00$             

20 each 14-513-98 Stir Bars, Fisherbrand, micro 1/8" x 1/2" 2.32$            46.40$              10.49$          209.80$            5.00$            100.00$             
10 each 14-512-126 Stir bars, 1", Fisher 2.34$            23.40$              6.35$            63.50$              4.70$            47.00$               
10 each 14-512-127 Stir bars, magnetic, 3/8" x 2 1/2" 2.96$            29.60$              400.24$        400.24$            7.75$            77.50$               
1 each 11-675-924Q Stirrer, Magnetic, Single Position 7" X 7" 767.97$        767.97$            910.39$        910.39$            725.00$        725.00$             
1 each 8450-16 Thymolphthalein, 0.05% in ethanol, 500 ml, poly bottle 20.68$          20.68$              34.10$          34.10$              22.90$          22.90$               
3 each 15-186 Tongs, stainless steel 14.35$          43.05$              49.80$          149.40$            16.00$          48.00$               

10 pack 14-169-15G Tubing, AXH00017 PTFE .375OD X .250 ID X 50ft (VWR # 63014-915) 161.17$        1,611.70$         356.67$        3,566.70$         250.00$        7,500.00$          
1 pack 01-812-5B Whirl Pack, Nasco, 18oz plain, 500/pk 64.67$          64.67$              152.39$        152.39$            55.70$          111.40$             

12 case 19-014-865 WypAll, Kimberly-Clark, X80 towels 50/bx, 4bx/cs 30.78$          369.36$            46.01$          552.12$            33.00$          495.00$             
2 each 15-177-25 Zobell ORP Calibration Solution 29.34$          58.68$              31.92$          63.84$              27.55$          55.10$               

Shipping 300.00$             
Hazardous material charge 22.50$              
Integrity packaging fee 12.00$              
Fuel surcharge 6.05$                
Total 27,087.80$       47,837.75$       41,756.45$        

No Bid
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